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About This Form 10-K

Throughout this Form 18, unless otherwise specified:
A ANasdaqg, o0 fiwe, 0 fAusd and fAouro refer to The NASDAQ OM

A AiThe NASDAQ St ockSMaQdkertedf earndt diNt he registered nati on:;
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC.

A AOMX ABO refers to OMX AB (publ), as that entity oper

A AOMX0 refers to OMX thAebus(ngssidorhbjnatisnuwithsNasgage nt t o

A ANasdag Nordicodo refers to collectively, NASDAQ OMX CI
Copenhagen A/S, NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd, and NASDAQ OMX Iceland hf.

A ANasdaqg Baltico NABOA® ONX Talbinn ASo NASRAQIOMX RidayAS, and NASDAQ OMX
Vilnius AB.

A ANasdag Nordic Clearingdo refers to collectively, the
Commodities.

A ASEKO or fASwedish KromeydfSwebdner s to the |l awful curre

* k k k k%

The following is a norexclusive list of registered trademarks, registered service marks, or trademarks or service marks of
Nasdaq or its subsidiaries, in the United States and/or other countries or jurisdictions:

ACES®, AGGRESATION, TRANSPARENCY, CONTROL®, ATTRADE®, AUTO WORKUP®, AXE®, BWISE®, BX
VENTURE MARKET®, CCBN®, CONDICO®, DATAXPRESS®, DIRECTORS DESK®, DIRECTORSDESK®, DREAM IT. DO
IT. ®, DX®, E (design)®, E SPEED (design)®, E SPEED (stylized)®, ESPEEBSPEED®, ESPEB (stylized) ®, ESPEED
ELITE®, E-SPEED FILING®, EVI®, FINQLOUD®, FTEN®, FTEN 'globe’ logo®, GENIUM®, GLOBE NEWSWIRE®, GX®,
INET®, ITCH®, KLEOS®, LIQUIDITYXPRESS®, MARKET INTELLIGENCE DESK®, MARKETSITE®, MYMEDIAINFO®,
NASDAQ®, NASDAQ - FINANCIAL®, NASDAQ - FINANCIAL INDEX®, NASDAQ BIOTECHNOLOGY INDEX®, NASDAQ
CAPITAL MARKET®, NASDAQ COMPOSITE®, NASDAQ COMPOSITE INDEX®, NASDAQ COMPUTER INDEX®,
NASDAQ FINANCIAL-100 INDEX®, NASDAQ GLOBAL MARKET®, NASDAQ GLOBAL SELECT MARKET®, NASDAQ
INDUSTRIAL INDEX®, NASDAQ INTERACT®, NASDAQ INTERNET INDEX®, NASDAQ MARKET ANALYTIX®,

NASDAQ MARKET CENTER®, NASDAQ MARKET FORCES®, NASDAQ MARKET VELOCITY®, NASDAQ
MARKETSITE®, NASDAQ MAX®, NASDAQ MAX MARKET ANALYTIX®, NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET®, NASDAQ
OMX®, NASDAQ OMX ADVANTAGE®, NASDAQ OMX ALPHA INDEXES®, NASDAQ OMX BX®, NASDAQ OMX
FUTURES EXCHANGE (& design) ® NASDAQ OMX GREEN ECONOMY INDEX®, NASDAQ OMX GROUP®, NASDAQ
OMX NORDIC®, NASDAQ PRIVATE MARKET® NASDAQ Q50 INDEX®, NASDAQ TELECOMMUNICATIONS INDEX®,
NASDAQ TOTALVIEW®, NASDAQ TRADER®, NASDAQ TRANSPORTATION INDEX®, NASDAQ US ALL MARKET®,
NASDAQ VOLATILITY GUARD®, NASDAQ WORKSTATION 11®, NASDAQ-100®, NASDAQ100 EUROPEAN

TRACKER®, NASDAQ100 INDEX®, NASDAQ100 INDEX TRACKING STOCK®, NDX®, NFX WORLD CURRENCY
FUTURES®, NFX XL®, OMXS80®, PHILADELPHIA STOCK EXCHANGE®, PHLX®, PHLX XL®, PIXL®, PORTAL
ALLIANCE®, QQQ®, QTARGET®, QVIEW®, RETHINK®, RISKXPOSURE®, RX®, SIDECAR®, SIGNALXPRESS®,
STRUCTURED LIQUIDITY PROGRAM®, SX®, THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET®, THE STOCK MARKET FOR THE NEXT
100 YEARS®, TOTAL EQUITY SOLUTION®, TRADE REPORTING DATA STORAGE®, TRADEXAMINER®, TRDS®, TX®,
ULTRAFEED®, UNITED CURRENCY OPTIONS MARKET®, VX PROXY®, XDE®

To the extent a name, logo or design does not appear on the above list, such lack of appearance dstéated ea@iver of
any intellectual property rights that Nasdaq has established in its product or service names or logos, or in prod.ati@unfigur
designs, all of which rights are expressly reserved.

FINRA® and TRADE REPORTING FACILITY®are registeed trademarks of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, or
FINRA.

All other trademarks and servicemarks used herein are the property of their respective owners.

* kk ok kK

This Annual Report on Form 1K includes market share and industry data tve obtained from industry publications and
surveys, reports of governmental agencies and internal company surveys. Industry publications and surveys generaliyestate tha
information they contain has been obtained from sources believed to besrdiatblve cannot assure you that this information is
accurate or complete. We have not independently verified any of the data fromattirédources nor have we ascertained the
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underlying economic assumptions relied upon therein. Statements as to our market position are based on the most currently availal
market data. For market comparison purposes, The NASDAQ Stock Market data in this Annual Report ork-foniriifial public
offerings, or IPOs, is based on data generated internally by us, which includes best efforts underwritings asdclosdsd;

therefore, the data may not be comparable to other pulalicitable IPO data. Data in this Annual Report on ForAKX6r new

listings of equity securities on The NASDAQ Stock Market is based on data generated internally by us, which includessbest effor
underwritings, issuers that switched from other listing venues, ckrsgdunds and exchange traded funds, or ETFs. Datasin thi

Annual Report on Form 1R for IPOs and new listings of equities securities on the Nasdaq Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic exchanges als
is based on data generated internally by us. IPOs and new listings data is presented as of period end. While we aref aotyawar
misstatements regarding industry data presented herein, our estimates involve risks and uncertainties and are suipebtsedhan

on various factors, including those discuss&«d in Altem 1A.
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Forward-Looking Statements

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, encourages companies to disclostotikiwgriaformation so that
investors can better understand a companyds future prmospec
10Kcont ains these types of statements. Words such as #fAmay, 0

Aprojects, o0 fAintends, 6 Aplans, 0 fibelievesd and wordéturer t e
exXpectations as to industry and regulatory developments or business initiatives and strategies, future operating reanltgabr fin
performance identify forwartboking statements. These include, among others, statements relating to:

A our 2015 outlook;

A the scope, nature or impact of acquisitions, divestitures, investments or other transactional activities;
A the integration of acquired businesses, including accounting decisions relating thereto;
A

the effective dates for, and expected benefits ghing initiatives, including strategic, technology;légeraging and
capital return initiatives;

our products and services;
the impact of pricing changes;
tax matters;

o 3o Do P>

the cost and availability of liquidity; and
A any litigation and/or government investigation or action to which we are or could become a party.
Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those contemplated by the fomddooking statements include, among others, the following:
A our operating results may be lower than expected:;
loss of significant trading and clearing volume, market share, listed companies or other customers;

economic, political and market conigins and fluctuations, including interest rate and foreign currency risk, inherent in
U.S. and international operations;

government and industry regulation;
our ability to keep up with rapid technological advances and adequately address secusity risk
the performance and reliability of our technology and technology of third parties;

o 3o Do B> Do P>

our ability to successfully integrate acquired businesses, including the fact that such integration may be more difficult,
time consuming or costly than expected, andability to realize synergies from business combinations and acquisitions;

)

our ability to continue to generate cash and manageindebtedness; and

P

adverse changes that may occur in the securities markets generally.

Most of these factors audifficult to predict accurately and are generally beyond our control. You should consider the
uncertainty and any risk related toforwatdo o ki ng st at ements that we make. These r
1A. Ri s k F a ortual Repart@n Form 1&. Wou are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forwaking
statements, which speak only as of the date of this report. You should carefully read this entire Annual Report o#KForm 10
including Alte FcuManageameant Asal ysis of Financi al Condi ti
financial statements and the related notes. Except as required by the federal securities laws, we undertake no ohifgdteratroy
forward-looking statemetnrelease publicly any revisions to any forwdodking statements or report the occurrence of unanticipated
events. For any forwartboking statements contained in any document, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for-forward
looking statements otained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
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Part |
Iltem 1. Business

Overview

We are a leading provider of trading, clearing, exchange technology, regulatory, securities listing, information and public
company services across six tinants. Our global offerings are diverse and include trading and clearing across multiple asset classe
access servicedata products, financial indexes, capital formation solutions, corporate solutions and market technology products an
services. Ourdgchnology powers markets across the globe, supporting derivatives trading, clearing and settlement, cash equity tradi
fixed income trading and many other functions.

History

Nasdag was founded in 1971 as a whollyned subsidiary of FINRA (then known as the National Association of Securities
Dealers, Inc.). Beginning in 2000, FINRA restructured and broadened ownership in Nasdaq by selling shares to FINRA members,
investment cmpanies and issuers listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market.

In connection with this restructuring, Nasdaq applied to the SEC to register The NASDAQ Stock Market as a national securiti
exchange. FINRA fully divested its ownership of Nasdag in 2006, and TIEDXR® Stock Market became fully operational as an
independent registered national securities exchange in 2007. In 2006, Nasdaq also reorganized its operations int@apaiging c
structure. As a result, most of our businesses are operated by our sigssidia

On Februar27, 2008, Nasdaqg and OMX AB combined their businesses and Nasdag was renamed The NASDAQ OMX Grouy
Inc. This transformational combination resulted in the expansion of our business froribasé& exchange operator to a global
exchangeompany offering technology that powers our own exchanges and markets as well as many other marketplaces around th
world.

Also in 2008, we expanded our business through the acquisitions of the Philadelphia Stock Exchange, Inc. and the Boston St
Exchamge, Incorporated. These acquisitions allowed us to extend our presence in the U.S. derivatives markets and we currently
operate three separate U.S. options markets. In addition, we have used the licenses acquired in these acquisitiomgto launch
additional U.S. cash equity markets.

We also have expanded into the business of trading and clearing commodities products in recent years. In 2008, weeacquirec
clearing, international derivatives and consulting subsidiaries of Nord Pool ASA, or Nord Paalegd\dt of this acquisition, we
launched Nasdag Commaodities, which offers energy and carbon derivatives priod2@1€, we acquired a derivatives trading
market through the purchase of the remaining businesses of Nord Pool. In July 2012, we acbi@ieéating ASA, or NOS
Clearing, a leading Norwalyased clearinghouse primarily for ox@e-counter, or OTC, traded derivatives for the freight market and
seafood derivatives market.

In August 2010, we acquired SMARTS Group Holdings Pty Ltd, or SMARiTI8ading technology provider of surveillance
solutions to exchanges, regulators and brokers. In two separate transactions in 2012 and 2014, we acquired 100% @sestrship int
BWise Beheer B.V. and its subsidiaries, or BWise, a Netherbasksd servie provider that offers enterprise governance, risk
management and compliance software and services to help companies track, measure and manage key organizational risks. Thes
acquisitions have expanded our Market Technology business.

In recent years, wealve significantly grown our Corporate Solutions business, which provides customer support services,
products and programs to companies including companies listed on our exchanges, through organic growth and numerous
acquisitions. Most recently, in 2013, wequired the Investor Relations, Public Relations and Multimedia Solutions businesses of
Thomson Reuters, or the TR Corporate businesses.

In 2013, we further expanded our Market Services and Information Services businesses by acquiring from BGQrfeartners,
and certain of its affiliates, or BGC, certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of the eSpeed business, or e8pepthancl
eSpeed brand name and various assets compri sing trdgesdafaandl y
co-location service businesses.

OnJanuary 30, 2015 completed the acquisition of Dorsey, Wright & Associates, LLC, or DWA, a market leader in data
analytics, passive indexing and smart beta strategies. DWA is part of our InformatimeSbuosiness.
Products and Services

Since Januarg, 2013, we manage, operate and provide our products and services in four business segments: Market Service
Listing Services, Information Services and Technology Solutions. Prior to January 1, 2013, we managed, operated aralprovided
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products and services in three business segments: Market Services, Issuer Services and Market Tédhpotygyeriod segment
disclosures have been recast to reflect our change in reportable segments. Certain other prior year amounts havefbegoreclass
conform to the current year presentation.

Of our 2014 total revenues less transacbased expenses of $2,067 million, 39.4% was from our Market Services segment,
11.5% was from our Listing Services segment, 22.9% was from our Information Seegeesnt and 26.2% was from our
Technology Solutions segment. Of our 2013 total revenues less trandzadioh expenses of $1,895 million, 41.0% was from our
Market Services segment, 12.0% was from our Listing Services segment, 23.0% was from our orfd@anaices segment and
24.0% was from our Technology Solutions segm@hbur 2012 total revenues less transactiased expenses of $1,674 million,
45.4% was from our Market Services segment, 13.4% was from our Listing Services segment, 23.9% wad fiformation
Services segment and 17.3% was from our Technology Solutions segment.

See Note 19, ABusi ness Segments, 0 to the consolidated fi
reportable segments and geographic data.

Market Services

Our Market Services segment includes our equity derivative trading and clearing, cash equity trading, fixed income, currency
and commodities trading and clearing, and access and broker services businesses. We operate multiple exchanges and other
marketplace facilities across several asset classes, including derivatives, commaodities, cash equity, debt, structisratgroduc
ETFs. In addition, in some countries where we operate exchanges, we also provide broker services, clearing, setttenteadt and
depository services. Our transactioased platforms provide market participants with the ability to access, process, display and
integrate orders and quotes. The platforms allow the routing and execution of buy and sell orders as well asnip@frepor
transactions, providing felgased revenues.

Equity Derivative Trading and Clearing

In the U.S., we operate three options exchanges, The NASDAQ Options Market, Nasdaq PHLX and Nasdaq BX Options, for
the trading of equity options, ETF options, indmtions and foreign currency options. During the year ended Dec&hb2014, our
options markets had an average combined market share of approxi2@®@slyin the U.S. equity options market, consisting of
approximatelyl6.0% at Nasdaq PHLX10.0%at Thre NASDAQ Options Market an@.9% at Nasdaq BX Options. Together, our
combined market share represented the largest share of the U.S. equity and ETF options market. Our options tradirgy @édrms
trading opportunities to both retail investors, altforiic trading firms and market makers, who tend to prefer electronic trading, and
institutional investors, who typically pursue more complex trading strategies and often trade on the floor.

In Europe, Nasdag Stockholm offers trading in derivatives, ssistoak options and futures, index options and futures and
fixed-income options and futureNasdaq Nordic Clearing offers clearing services for fikembme options and futures, stock options
and futures, index options and futures, and interest rate swa@sving as the central counterparty, or CCP. Nasdaq Nordic Clearing
also operates a clearing service for the resale and repurchase agreement market.

Cash Equity Trading

In the U.S., we operate three cash equity exchanges, The NASDAQ Stock Market) BXsdnd Nasdaq PSX. The NASDAQ
Stock Market is the largest single pool of liquidity for trading UisSed cash equities, matching an average of approximafelyo
of all U.S. cash equity volume for 2014. In 2014, Nasdaq BX matched an average ofrapt@ie»2.96 and Nasdaq PSX matched
an average of approximatddy6%of all U.S. cash equity volume.

Our U.S. cash equity exchanges offer trading of both NASBIS®d and norNASDAQ-listed securities. Market participants
include market makers, brokdeders, alternative trading systems, or ATSs, and registered securities exchanges.

In Europe, Nasdag Nordic operates exchanges in Stockholm (Sweden), Copenhagen (Denmark), Helsinki (Finland), and
Iceland. The Nordic exchanges offer trading in Nordic securities such as cash equities and depository receipts, weaeriblescon
rights,fund units and ETFs. Our platform allows the exchanges to share the same trading system, which enables effib@oliecross
trading and settlement, cross membership and a single source for Nordic data products. Settlement and registratiantgf cash eq
trading takes place in Sweden, Finland, Denmark and Iceland via the local central securities depositories.

Nasdaq Baltic operates exchanges in Tallinn (Estonia), Riga (Latvia) and Vilnius (Lithuania). Nasdaq owns Nasdaq Tallinn an
has a majority ownerghin Nasdaq Vilnius and Nasdaq Riga. In addition, Nasdaq Tallinn owns the central securities depository in
Estonia, Nasdaq Riga owns the central securities depository in Latvia, and Nasdaq Helsinki and Nasdaq Vilnius jointly own the
central securities degitory in Lithuania. We also operate Nasdaq Armenia.

Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities Trading and Clearing

Fixed Income and Currency Trading and Cleari@yr fixed income and currency trading and clearing business includes fixed
income activitiesn the Nordic region, our eSpeed business and Nasdaqg NLX.
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Nasdaq Nordic provides a wide range of products and services, such as listing, trading, and clearing, for fixed incame produc
in Sweden, Denmark, Finland and IcelaNdsdaqg Stockholm is the last bond listing venue in the Nordics, with more than 3,000
listed retail and institutional bonds. In addition, Nasdaq Nordic facilitates the trading and clearing of Nordic fixeddedeatiees
in a uniqgue market structure. Buyers and sellers agreades in fixed income derivatives through bilateral negotiations and then
report those trades to Nasdagdés derivatives mar ket stobdothr CC
the buyer and seller.

In June 2013, we acquiteeSpeed, an electronic platform for trading U.S. Treasuries. The electronic trading platform provides
reakttime institutional trading of benchmark U.S. Treasury securities, one the of largest and most liqtiltcfixeel cash markets in
the world. ThrougleSpeed, we provide trading access to the U.S. Treasury securities market with an array of trading instruments to
meet various investment goals across the fixed income spectrum.

Nasdag NLX is a Londebhased multilateral trading venue that launche20ih3. Nasdaqg NLX offers a range of both sterm
interest rate and loAgrm interest rate ewand sterlingbased listed derivative products.

Commodities Trading and Clearing Nasdaq Commodities is the brand wame fo
related products and services. The Nasdaq Commodities offerings include power, natural gas and carbon emission maggets, tanke
dry cargo freight, fuel oil, seafood derivatives, iron ore, electricity certificates and clearing services. NASDAQ OMSEMslo
which is authorized by the Norwegian Ministry of Finance and supervised by the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Autherity, is
commodity derivatives exchange for Nasdag Commaodities. In addition, all trades with Nasdaq Commaodities are subjaaj to cle
with Nasdag Nordic Clearing, which is authorized to conduct clearing operations in Norway by the Norwegian Ministry ef Financ
Nasdaq Commodities has over 400 members across a wide range of energy producers and consumers, as well as fitimmsial instit

Access and Broker Services

Access Service®V/e provide market participants with a wide variety of alternatives for connecting to and accessing our market:
for a fee. Shifting connectivity from proprietary networks to tipedty networks has sidigantly reduced technology and network
costs and increased our systemsd scalability while maintai

Our marketplaces may be accessed via a number of different protocols used for quoting, order entry, trade reporting, DROP
functionality and connectivity to various data feeds. We also offer the NASDAQ Workstation, a bpaaséy fronend interface
that allows market participants to view data and enter orders, quotes and trade reports. In addition, we offer a ddr@ty of a
compliance tools to help firms comply with regulatory requirements.

We provide cedocation services to market participants, whereby firms may lease cabinet space and power to house their own
equipment and servers within our data center. These pantisipee charged monthly fees for cabinet space, connectivity and support.
Additionally, we offer a number of wireless connectivity routes between select data centers using millimeter wave andemicrowa
technology. We also earn revenues from annual andhtyoechange membership and registration fees.

Broker ServiceOur broker services operations offer technology and customized securities administration solutions to financia
participants in the Nordic market. Broker services provides services throagtsiered securities company that is regulated by the
Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority, or SFSA. Services primarily consist of flexibleotfféazk systems, which allow customers
to entirely or part]l y-oficefustmnsr ce t heir companyés back

We offer customer and account registration, business registration, clearing and settlement, corporate action handling for
reconciliations and reporting to authorities. Available services also include direct settlement with the Nordic ceritied secur
depositories, regime updating and communication via the Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunication to deposit
banks.

Listing Services

We operate a variety of listing platforms around the world to provide multiple global capitad) isadiions for private and
public companies. Companies listed on our markets represent a diverse array of industries including, among others, health car
consumer products, telecommunication services, information technology, financial services, Iadugtrémergy. Our main listing
markets are The NASDAQ Stock Market and the Nasdaq Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic exchanges.



Table Of Contents

Companies seeking to list securities on The NASDAQ Stock Market must meet minimum listing requirements, including
specified financial athcorporate governance criteria. Once listed, companies must meet continued listing standards. The NASDAQ
Stock Market currently has three listing tiers: The NASDAQ Global Select Market, The NASDAQ Global Market and The NASDAQ
Capital Market. All three m&et tiers maintain rigorous listing and corporate governance standards (both initial and ongoing).

As of DecembeB1, 2014, a total of 2,782 companies listed securities on The NASDAQ Stock Market, with 1,549 listings on
The NASDAQ Global Select Market, 82n The NASDAQ Global Market and 606 on The NASDAQ Capital Market.

We aggressively pursue new listings from companies, including those undergoing IPOs as well as companies seeking to swit
from alternative exchanges. In 2014, The NASDAQ Stock Matetcted327 newlistings. Included in these listings were 189 IPOs,
61% of U.S. IPOs in 2014. The new listings were comprised of the following:

Switches from the New York Stock Exchange, ¢

NYSE, and NYSE MKT........cccccoiiiiiiieeiiieennn, 17
IPOS. .. 189
Upgrades from OTC.........ooeeviiiiiiiieeiieee e 58

ETFs, Structured Products and Other Listings... 63

In 2014, a total of 17 NYSEor NYSE MKT-listed companies switched to The NASDAQ Stock Market, representing
approximately5 billion in market capitalization, including Office Dep In addition, Walgreens, which was previously dually listed
on NYSE and The NASDAQ Stock Market, delisted from the NYSE, bringing its approximately $52 billion in market capitalization
exclusively to Nasdadrinally, in January2015, Advanced Micro Dewies, representing approximatel® iillion in market
capitalization, switcéd its listingto The NASDAQ Stock Market.

We also offer listings on the exchanges that comprise Nasdaqg Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic. For smaller companies and growth
companies, we offeaccess to the financial markets through the Nasdaq First North alternative marketplaces. As of CBdcember
2014, a total of 792 companies listed securities on our Nordic and Baltic exchanges and Nasdaq First North.

Our European listing customers includompanies, funds and governments. Customers issue securities in the form of cash
equities, depository receipts, warrants, ETFs, convertibles, rights, options, bonds-tmdomeé related products. In 2014, a total of
72 new companies listed on our Nmrdnd Baltic exchanges and Nasdaq First North.

Our listing services business also includes The NASDAQ Private Market, LLC, or NPM, a marketplace for private growth
companies. We own a majority interest in NPM, which is a joint venture with Sharesiost,In or Shar esPost, co
resources, mar ket and oper easedplatforenxNPK tainchedan Maiicht 2814.Sh ar es Post 6

Information Services
Our Information Services segment includes our Data Products and our Index Licensimgwicesdusinesses.

Data Products

Our data products enhance transparency and provide critical information to professional-prafessional investors. We
collect, process and create information and earn revenues as a distributor of our own, aseleel, dkirdparty content. We provide
varying levels of quote and trade information to market participants and to data distributors, who in turn provide snbgorigtis
information. Our systems enable distributors to gain direct access to owtmepth, index values, mutual fund valuation, order
imbalances, market sentiment and other analytical data. Revenues from data products are subasggtamd are generated
primarily based on the number of data subscribers and distributors of our data

We distribute this proprietary market information to both market participants andanticipants through a number of
proprietary products, including NASDAQ TotalView, our flagship market depth quote product. TotalView shows subscribers quotes
ordersand total anonymous interest at every price level in The NASDAQ Stock Market for NASiBt&@Q securities and critical
data for the Opening, Closing, Halt and IPO Crosses. We also offer TotalView products for our Nasdag BX and Nasdaq BSX marke
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We operate several other proprietary services and data products to provide market information, including NASDAQ Basic,
low cost Level 1 feed and Ultrafeed, a normalized high speed feed of North American equity, options, futures, indexesland mut
fund dataln addition,eSpeed delivers U.S. Treasury data.

Our data products business also includes revenues from U.S. tape plans. The NASDAQ Stock Market acts as the administrat
for the Joint SelRegulatory Organization Plan Governing the Collection, Coraitidid, and Dissemination of Quotation and
Transaction Information for NASDAQisted Securities Traded on Exchanges on an Unlisted Trading Privileges Basis, or the UTP
Plan. In this role, NASDAQ sells quotation and last sale information for all transaictiNASSDAQ-listed securities, whether traded
on The NASDAQ Stock Market or other exchangesnarket participants and to data distributors, who then provide the information
to subscribers. After deducting costs, as permitted under the revenue sharisigpaithe UTP Plan, we distribute the tape
revenues to the respective UTP Plan participants, including The NASDAQ Stock Market, Nasdaq BX and Nasdaqg PSX, based on ¢
formula required by Regulation NMS that takes into account both trading and quotiity.dctiaddition, all quotes and trades in
NYSE- and NYSE MKTlisted securities are reported and disseminated intie®d, and as such, we share in the tape revenues for
information on NYSEand NYSE MKTlisted securities.

The Nasdaq Nordic and NasdBgltic exchanges, as well as Nasdaq Commodities, also offer data products and services. Thes
data products and services provide critical market transparency to professional qundfessional investors who participate in
European marketplaces and, & #ame time, give investors greater insight into these markets.

European data products and services are based on trading information from the Nasdaq Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic exchange:
well as Nasdaq Commodities, for the following classes of assstsecpiities, bonds, derivatives and commodities. We provide
varying levels of quote and trade information to market participants and to data distributors, who in turn provide snbdoriftis
information.

Significant European data products includeréc Equity TotalView, Nordic Derivative TotalView ITCH, and Nordic Fixed
Income Level 2.

Finally, we provide index data products based on Nasdaq indexes. Index data products include our Global Index Data Service
which delivers reatime index values tloughout the trading day, and Global Index Watch, which delivers weightings and components
data, corporate actions and a breadth of additional data.

Index Licensing and Services

Our Index Licensing and Services business is a leading index providertbidpmeand licenses Nasdaq branded indexes,
associated derivatives and financial products. We also provide custom calculation services parthicients. License fees for our
trademark licenses vary by product based on a percentage of underlytsgaaita value of a product issuance, number of products
or number of contracts traded. We also license-sasited options, futures and options on futures on our indexes.

Nasdaq indexes are now the basis for 166 exchange traded products with dvilidB9it assets under management. Our
flagship index, the NASDAEL00 Index, includes the top 100 nBinancial securities listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market.

We also operate the NASDAQ Global Index Family, which includes approximately 39,000 indexBRASDAQ Global
Index Family represents more than 98% of the global equity investable marketplace. The family consists of global se&erities b
down by market segment, region, country, size and sector. The NASDAQ Global Index Family covers 45 codrré30a
securities.

OnJanuary 30, 2015 completed the acquisition of DWA, a market leader in data analytics, passive indexing and smart beta
strategi es. DWA adds t o Nasda glinsed stratdgiessand anatysiseosupihefinandiabadvisar, b
community, and further strengthens Nasdaqgqds position as a
Technology Solutions

Our Technology Solutions segment includes our Corporate Solutions and Market Technology businesses.

Corporate Solutions

Our Corporate Solutions business serves corporate clients, including companies listed on our exchanges. We help organizati
manage the twavay flow of information with their key constituents, including their board members and inyestdraith clients
and the public through our suite of advanced technology, analytics, and consultative services.

In 2013, we acquired the TR Corporate businesses which were integrated into our Corporate Solutions business.
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We provide Corporate Solutiopsoducts and services in the following key areas:

A Investor RelationsWe offer investor relations content, analytics, advisory services and communications tools. Our
solutions make it easier for companies to interact and communicate with analysts and investors while meeting corporate
governance and disclosure requirements.

A Public RelationsWe offer solutions to help clients identify, reach, monitor and measure their public relations program.
We provide traditional and social media contacts data, backed by over 100 research analysts. Our press release
distribution, webcsting and media players allow clients to reach global audiencesftestively. Our suite of
technology solutions and expert analysts help clients monitor key news media for their brand, reputation, products, as w
as industry competitors, and measilre success of their communications programs.

A Multimedia SolutionsWe offer a range of services to reach internal and external audiences, including webcasting,
webinars, media player, and investor relations websites. Our global scale provides regienslecand local language
support as well as proprietary distribution channels and access to our network of publishing partners.

A GovernanceWe offer a secure collaboration platform for boards of directors or any team collaborating on confidential
initiatives. Our solutions protect sensitive data and facilitate productive collaboration, so board members and teams can
work faster and more effectively. We also provide enterprise governance, risk and compliance software solutions that
harness disparate iness processes and content to promote efficiency, transparency and control.

We currently have approximately 10,000 Corporate Solutions clients.

Market Technology

Powering more than 70 marketplaces in 50 countries, our Market Technology business is a leading global technology solutior
provider and partner to exchanges, clearing organizations, central securities depositories, regulators, banks, brogeratand co
businesses. Our Market Technology business is the sales channel for our complete global offering to other marketplaces.

Market Technology provides technology solutions for trading, clearing, settlement, surveillance and information dissemination
to markes with wideranging requirements, from the leading markets in the U.S., Europe and Asia to emerging markets in the Middls
East, Latin American and Africa. Our marketplace solutions can handle a wide array of assets, including cash equities, equity
derivatves, currencies, various interdstaring securities, commaodities and energy products.

Our trading and data solutions are utilized by exchanges, altertiatilieg venues, banks and securities brokers with
marketplace offerings of their own. In the ptrstde stage, we offer integrated systems solutions for clearing (risk management) and
settlement (settlement and delivery) of both cash equities and derivatives to clearing organizations around the world.

Nasdagds mar ket t ec h rothdrsptheyAustraian Securities Exehdngey NCAP, Bolseode Yalores de
Colombia, The Egyptian Exchange, Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing, SIX Swiss Exchange, Singapore Exchanges, Tokyo
Commodity Exchange, Japan Exchange Gr&uwrsa Malaysiand SBI Japanxé

A central part of many projects is facility management and systems integration. Through our integration services, we can
assume responsibility for projects involving migration to a new system and the establishment of entirely new marketpddses. We
offer operation and support for the applications, systems platforms, networks and other components includeiey enfarmation
technology solution, as well aslvisory services.

We also offer broker services throu§MARTS. SMARTS Broker is a maneg service designed for brokers and other market
participants to assist them in complying with market rules, regulations and internal market surveillance policies.

Finally, through BWise, we offer enterprise governance, risk management and complianaessarfid services to help
companies track, measure and manage key organizational risks.

Technology

Technology plays a key role in ensuring the growth, reliability and regulation of financial markets. In 2014, Nasddugestablis
a technology risk prograno ttonsider the resiliency of critical systems. This program is focused on identifying areas for improvement
in systems and implementing changes and upgrades to technology and processes to minimize future risk.

The foundation f or NaNsEdla q 6Tsh ec o rNeE Tt et cehcrhonlod goygyi si s used ac
markets. INET is also a key building block of our Market Technology offerings, Genium INET-atxdat INET. Genium INET
and X-stream INET both combine innovative functionality with adular approach to manage change and create new advantages for
existing and new customers

We continuously improve our core technology with a focusmproving capacity, reliability, resiliency and market integrity
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Intellectual Property

We own or have licensed rights to trade names, trademarks, domain names and service marks that we use in conjunction wit
our operations and services. We have registered many of our most important trademarks in the United States and imfaesgn cou
For exampl e, our primary ANASDAQO mark is a registered tract¢

To support our business objectives and benefit from our investments in research and development, we actively seek protectic
for our innovations by filing patent applications to protect inventions arising from investments in products, systems, saftware a
services. We believe that our patents and patent applications are important for maintaining the competitive differeatiation o
products, systems, software and services, enhancing our ability to access technology of third parties and maximizingpaur retu
research and development investments.

Over time, we have accumulated a robust portfolio of issued patents in the Wwdpe Bnd in other parts of the world. We
currently hold rights to patents relating to certain aspects of products, systems, software and services, but we fyriometiilg re
innovative skills, technical competence and marketing abilities of our petsblamee, no single patent is in itself essential to us as a
whole or any of our principal business areas.

We also maintain copyright protection in our Nasttagnded materials.
Competition

Market Services

Equity Derivative Trading and Clearingn deiivatives trading and clearing, competition comes in the form of trading and
clearing that takes place OTC, usually through banks and brokerage firms, or through trading and clearing competitien with ot
exchanges.

Our principal competitors for tradingptions in the U.S. include the Chicago Board Options Exchange, Inc., or CBOE, the
International Securities Exchange Holdings, Inc., or ISE, NYSE ARCA, NYSE Amex, BATS Options, MIAX Options, C2 Options
Exchange, the BOX Options Exchange Group, LLC and I8Ei@Gi. Competition is focused on providing market participants with
greater functionality, trading system stability, customer service, efficient pricing and speed of execution. The intestg@ndorp
exchange traded options results in the need taraanisly review our technology offerings and pricing.

Exchange based competition for trading in European derivatives continues to occur mainly where there is competitign in tradi
for the underlying equities and our primary competitors for options oopean equities are EUREX Group, or EUREX, ICE Futures
Europe, Turquoise and, to a limited extent, the U.S. options exchanges. Such competition is limited to options on abemafl num
equity securities although these securities tend to be among thactiest In addition to exchange based competition in derivatives,
we continue to face competition from OTC derivative markets.

The competitive significance in Europe of varied alternative trading venues is likely to increase in the future, withatogyreg
environment in Europe becoming more favorable to alternative trading venues as a result of the reforms required bytthe update
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive, or MiFID I, and a broader effort to increase competition in financiabséwitading
in Europe evolves, competition for trading volumes in derivatives will likely increase. Both current and potential conmpgtitie
us to constantly reassess our pricing and product offerings in order to remain competitive.

Regulations sth as MiFID I, theMarkets in Financialnstruments Regulation, &iFIR, and theEuropean Infrastructure
Regulation, or EMIR, are altering competition in the clearing business in EMdpI® Il and MiFIR both will affect our trading
business as they are implemented over the next several years. The EMIR requirements are changing the way we structiiee and opt
our clearing business today as implementation is ongoing and will contiiou20ih5.

Cash Equity TradingThe cash equity securities markets are intensely competitive. As a result of the conditions in the U.S. and
Europe, we experience competition in our core trading activities such as execution services, quoting and trhtitiescapa
reporting services. In late 2013, IntercontinentalExchange, or ICE, acquired NYSE Euronext, followed byffao$iinronext in
2014 via an IPO. In addition, BATS and Direct Edge completed their merger in 2014. During 2014, both conmbpadesofocused
on their integration activities. In late 2014, IEX applied to register as a national securities exchange and annouen#dritiin
operate quite differently from the manner in which existing exchanges compete. These actions haestihetpaffect the
competitive environment we face in both the U.S. and Europe.

We compete in the U.S. against ICE, BATS Global Markets, Inc., regional exchanges and ATSs. Competition also comes fror
brokerdealers and from OTC trading in the U.S. als#where. The U.S. marketplace continues to evolve as less heavily regulated
brokerowned trading systems and ATSs, known collectively as dark pools, expand in number and activity. While many of the new
entrants may have limited liquidity, some may attsaghificant levels of cash equity order volume through aggressive pricing,
interconnections with other systems, and volume originating with biagaer owners and investors.
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In Europe, our major competitors include BATS GhEurope, Euronext, DeutsciB#rse AG, the London Stock Exchange
Group plc, or LSE, and multilateral trading facilities, or MTFs, such as Turquoise. The European landscape is contdaphpto a
the competitive forces released by MiFID II. Throughout Europe, new MTFs have batzdaonéth the most prominent MTFs based
in the United Kingdom and attracting a significant share of electronically matched volume. MTFs continue to grow theg inusine
shares listed on our Nordic exchanges. Electronic trading systems interestedimgpalmstk business also remain active in Europe.
While the state of competition in Europe remains evolutionary, the level of competition faced by incumbent national exchanges
remains intense.

Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities Trading and Cleafinday, many U.S. fixedhcome instruments enjoy some form
of electronic trading, but the move to 6éel ectr oniihgylnost he f
exclusively among voice brokers. Expanding the products fuirihtee fixed income space could face competitive forces from the
voice broker community or other new electronic platform operators. Currently, other competitors in U.S. Treasury beraahintark tr
are | CAPds BrokerTec pl at faU.SnTreasudy bebechmdrkaradimg businesd/is commex;ltimei | d i n
consuming and expensive, the risk of competition and declining market share in the space is significant.

Listing Services

Our primary competitor for larger company listings in the U.S. is NY 3. NASDAQ Stock Market also competes with
NYSE MKT for listing of smaller companies. In addition, now that the BATS/Direct Edge merger has been completed, new
competition may arise in listings. The NASDAQ Stock Market also competes with local and iotethatarkets for listings by both
U.S. and foreign companies that choose to list outside of their home country. For example, we compete for listings ngégsércha
Europe and Asia, such as LSE and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The listings business inueope is characterized by the large number of exchanges competing for new or secondary listings.
Each country has one or more national exchanges which are often the first choice of companies in each respective tbaséry. For
considering an alternativéhe European exchanges that attract the most overseas listings are LSE, Euronext, Deutsche Borse and tt
Nasdag Nordic exchanges.

I n addition to the | arger exchanges, companies are abl e
Alt ernative I nvestment Market, Euronextds Alternext, Deut sc
Securities & Derivatives Exchange, OTC Markets Group and the-tBg€ounter Bulletin Board, or OTCBB. Other exchanges in
Sweden inalde the Nordic Growth Market and Aktietorget, which primarily serve companies with small market capitalizations.

Information Services

Data ProductsThe data business in the U.S. includes both proprietary and consolidated data products. Proprietadudtga p
are made up exclusively of data derived from each -nardateda n g e
consolidators (one for NASDAdsted stocks and another for NYSE and otlieed stocks) that share the revenue antbeg
exchanges that contribute data. In Europe, all data products are proprietary as there is no official data consoliddtonGoiyge
data business is intense and is influenced by rapidly changing technology and the creation of new produitteaofiesergs.

The sale of our proprietary data products in both the U.S. and Europe is under competitive threat from alternative ardhanges
trading venues that offer similar products. Our data business competes with other exchanges and thirdigarty peoaviding
information to market participants. Some of our major competitors for proprietary data products 8ATSEHCAP and S&P Dow
Jones.

The consolidated data business is under competitive pressure from other securities excharagpes HESDAQIisted
securities. Current SEC regulations permit these redei onal
NASDAQ-l i st ed securities. The UTP Pl an entitl es hetnadesreporting ¢ h a n ¢
facilities to a share of UTP Plan tape fees, based on the formula required by Regulation NMS that takes into accodimigoatial tra
guoting activity. In addition, The NASDAQ Stock Market similarly competes for the tape fees frontetioé isfiormation on NYSE
and NYSE MKTlisted securities for those respective tape plans. In recent years, the operations of the consolidated tape plans have
received heightened scrutiny from the industry, regulators and policy makers, including calmpating tape plans.

Index Licensing and Servic&3ur index licensing and services business faces competition from indexes created by a large
number of providers. For example, there are a number of indexes that aim to track the technology sectebgnditgete with the
NASDAQ-100 Index and the NASDAQ Composite Index. We face competition from investment banks, dedicated index providers,
markets and other product developers in designing products that meet investor needs.

Technology Solutions

CorporateSolutions.The landscape of corporate solutions competitors is varied and highly fragmented. In the investor relation:
sector, there are many regional competitors with few global providers. However, other exchanges have recently begunito partne
buy asets in order to provide investor relations services to customers alongside their core listing services. The compst#ipe land
for public relations services includes large providers of traditional wire servicesefulte providers that span distriton and
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targeting, monitoring and analytics, and a large number of regional or niche providers. In multimedia and webcastintprasnpeti
highly fragmented and served by a number of firms who address various needs for efteyprisand typicallyffer managed or
self-service capabilities. In governance and secure collaboration, the competitive landscape is bifurcated with few comepetitors wh
serve corporate boards and deal teams. We believe customers are increasingly looking for single sal@sevnowcan address a
broad range of needs within a single platform. Some of the competitors to the corporate solutions business includ®ipre®, Cis
Newswire, Business Wire, ON24, BoardVantage, Diligent, Intralinks and Merrill Datasite.

Market Techology. The traditional model, where each exchange or exchexigeed business developed its own technology
internally sometimes aided by consultants, is evolving as many operators recognize the cost savings made possible by buying
technology already devagbed. Two types of competitors are emerging: other exchanges providing solutions, including ICE and LSE,
and pure technology providers focused on the exchange industry. These organizations offer a ratigestfatfftechnology
including trading, cleang, market surveillance, settlement, depository and information dissemination. They also offer customization
and operation expertise. In the market for governance, risk and compliance solutions, there is a wide range of preasderg todr
market. Ofen, solutions are part of larger suites, such as those related to IT management or general business management. The m
needs are evolving rapidly, which makes continuous investment a necessity to stay relevant.

Regulation
We are subject to extensivegulation in the United States and Europe.
U.S. Regulation

U.S. federal securities laws establish a system of cooperative regulation of securities markets, market participads and list
companies. Selfegulatory organizations, or SROs, conductdagto-d ay admi ni stration and regul a
markets under the close supervision of, and subject to extensive regulation, oversight and enforcement by, the SEG &ROs, suc
national securities exchanges, are registered with the SEC

This regulatory framework applies to our U.S. business in the following ways:
A regulation of our registered national securities exchanges; and
A regulation of our U.S. broketealer subsidiaries.

The rules and regulations that apply to our businesfoaused primarily on safeguarding the integrity of the securities markets
and of market participants and investors generéltgordingly, our board of directors, officers, and employees must give due regard
to the preservation of the independence efgblfregulatory function of each of our SROs and to their obligations to investors and the
general public, and may not take any actions that would interfere with the effectuation of decisions by the boardsobtiaagtof
our SROs relating to thefegulatory functions, or that would interfere with the ability of any of our SROs to carry out their
responsibilities under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or Exchange Act. Altieugtes and regulations that apply to our
business are not focusen the protection of our stockholders, we believe that regulation improves the quality of exchanges and,
therefore, our company. U.S. federal securities laws and the rules that govern our operations are subject to frequent change.

National Securities EchangesSROs in the securities industry are an essential component of the regulatory scheme of the
Exchange Act for providing fair and orderly markets and protecting investors. The Exchange Act and the rules thereetides, as w
each SROO®s poseanthe 8ROs many reguatory and operational responsibilities, including tioeddayresponsibilities
for market and brokedealer oversighBefore it may permit the registration of a national securities exchange as an SRO, the SEC
must determineamong other things, that the exchange has a set of rules that is consistent with the requirements of the Exchange A
Moreover an SRO is responsible fenforcing compliance by its members, and persons associated with its members, with the
provisions otthe Exchange Act, the rules and regulations thereunder, and the rules of the SRO, inalegliaigd regulations
governing the business conduct of its members.

Nasdaq currently operates three cash equity and three options markets in the United Statesat&/&he NASDAQ Stock
Mar ket and The NASDAQ Options Market pursuant to The NASDA
Options pursuant to Nasdagq BXd6ds SRO |Ilicense; and Nasdéasqg PS
SRO license. As SROs, each entity has separate rules pertaining to itsdea@kemembers and listed companies. Bralaaiers
that choose to become members of The NASDAQ Stock Market, Nasdaq PHLX, and/or Nasdaq BX are subject to the rules of thos
exchanges.

All of our U.S. national securities exchanges are subject to SEC oversight, as prescribed by the Exchange Act, including
periodic and special examinations by the SEC. Our exchanges also are potentially subject to regulatory or legal a3BR lny the
other interested parties at any time in connection with alleged regulatory violations. We also are subject tb7Sa&fdfienExchange
Act, which imposes recorkeeping requirements, including the requirement to make records available to tfier 8&mination.

We have been subject to a number of routine reviews and inspections by the SEC or external auditors in the ordinanyg emirse, a
have been and may in the future be subject to SEC enforcement proceedings. To the extent such adgevsandénwspections
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result in regulatory or other changes, we may be required to modify the manner in which we conduct our business, which may
adversely affect our business.

Sectionl9 of the Exchange Act provides that our exchanges must submittohe 5 oposed changes to
rules, practices and procedures, including revisions to provisions of our certificate of incorporatiordaans! that constitute SRO
rules. The SEC will typically publish such proposed changes for public commiéwifig which the SEC may approve or
disapprove the proposal, as it deems appropriate. SEC approval requires a finding by the SEC that the proposal isitbrkistent
requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. Parthearedquirements of the Exchange Act, our
exchanges must file with the SEC, among other things, all proposals to change their pricing structure.

Pursuant to regulatory services agreements between FINRA and our SROs, FINRA provides certain reguiegsrijoste
markets operated or regulated by The NASDAQ Stock Market, Nasdag PHLX and Nasdaq BX, including the regulation of trading
activity and surveillance and investigative functions. Nevertheless, we have a direct regulatory role in conductingaiéirtes
market monitoring, certain equity surveillance not involving crossket activity, most options surveillance, most rulemaking and
some membership functions through our MarketWatch department. We refer suspicious trading behavior discoueredsgtory
staff to FINRA for further investigation. Our SROs retain ultimate regulatory responsibility for all regulatory activitiempd
under regulatory agreements by FINRA, and for fulfilling all regulatory obligations for which FINRA dobav@tesponsibility
under the regulatory services agreements.

In addition to its other SRO responsibilities, The NASDAQ Stock Market, as a listing market, also is responsible fongverseei
each listed companydés compl i aomat govemnaricehstanddr&DOAIQ Bteng Qualifications i al a
department evaluates applications submitted by issuers interested in listing their securities on NASDAQ to determirteevhether
guantitative and qualitative listing standards have been satisfied.s@cweties are listed, the Listing Qualifications department
monitors eageohi nigs scucempdlsi aommce wi th NASDAQOs continued | isting

Brokerdealer regulationN a s d a q 6-dealdr subsidiaries are subject to regulation by the SEC, the &RiQke various
state securities regulators. Nasdaq Execution Services, LLC, or Nasdaq Execution Services, currently operates asbookeouting
for sending orders from Nasdagédés U.S. cash euga20l3\Exeautioth opt i
Access LLC, or Execution Access, a previously inactive brdiater and indirect subsidiary of Nasdaq, was repurposed and
approved by FINRA to operate as the bretee a | er f or our fi xed i ncome &dingplatioensfa , i n
U.S. TreasuriedNPM Securities, LLC, or NPM Securities, operates an ATS involving primary and secondary transactions in
unregistered securities (i.e., securities not listed on a registered securities exchange and not registeretdamii2radbéhe
Exchange Act), including acting as the buyer 6s AaiHnally,el | er 6
NASDAQ Options Services, LLC, which previously served as the routing broker for our U.S. options excbeocge®s non
operational and terminated its exchange and clearinghouse memberships in Mar@itB0dgh it is still subject to certain
regulatory requirements.

Nasdaqg Execution Services is registered as a bdaer with the SEC and in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto
Rico. Itis also a member dhe NASDAQ Stock Market, Nasdaq BX, Nasdaq PHLX, BAY &xchange, BATZ Exchange,
Chicago Stoclexchange, EDGA Exchange, EDGX Exchange, FINRXSE,NYSE MKT and NYSE Arca.

Execution Access is registered as a bralesler with the SEC and in 22 states and the U.S. Virgin Islands based on business
requirementsAdditionally, Execution Access is alRA member organizatiofExecution Access operates a transparent central limit
order book known as eSpeed to trade in U.S. Treasury seclExEsution Access is an introducing broker for trades matched on the
eSpeed trading platform. The trades, oncéched, are submitted to our fully disclosed clearing broker for clearance and settlement.

NPM Securities is registered as a brederler with the SEC and in 2 states based on business requirements. Additionally, NPM
Securities is a FINRA member organivat NPM Securities does not hold funds or securities. Funds may be delivered by the buyer
to the issuer directly or wired into an escrow account, depending on the requirements of the offering. The issuesfer ibg&an
(or other corporate recordiaer) will provide the buyer with a stock certificate in either physical or book entry form.

The SEC, FINRA and the exchanges adopt rules and examine-dexders and require strict compliance with their rules and
regulations. The SEC, SROs and state $&esl commissions may conduct administrative proceedings which can result in censures,
fines, the issuance of ceaaeddesist orders or the suspension or expulsion of a bidgaer, its officers or employees. The SEC and
state regulators may also inste proceedings against broldgalers seeking an injunction or other sanction. The SEC and SRO rules
cover many aspects ofabrolgére al er 6s business, including capital structur
brokerdealers,userad s af ekeeping of cust orteerespd nfgun dsh ea nfd nsaenccu rnigt-ioefs ,
dealer and employee registration and the conduct of directors, officers and employees. Allibatdkwerhave an SRO that is assigned
by the EC asthebroked e al er 6 s desi gnated examining authority,deaerforDEA.
compliance with the SECG®&IbRAfidthe aunreni DEA forrNassqo Bxecition Selvigsegution u |l e s .
Access ad NPM Securities.
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As registered brokedealer subsidiaries, Nasdaq Execution Services, Execution Access and NPM Securities are subject to
regulatory requirements intended to ensure their general financial soundness and liquidity, which require tvaptheyith certain
minimum capital requirements. The SEC and FINRA impose rules that require notification when net capital falls below certain
predefined criteria, dictate the ratio of debt to equity in the regulatory capital composition of ad@alezand constrain the ability
ofabroke)rdeal er t o expand its business under certain circumsta
rules impose certain requirements that may have the effect of prohibiting a-ealter from distbuting or withdrawing capital and
requiring prior notice to the SEC and FINRA for certain withdrawals of capital.

As of DecembeBl, 2014, NASDAQ Execution Services, Execution Access and NPM Securities were in compliance with all of
the applicable capmt requirements.

Regulatory contractual relationships with FINRPhe NASDAQ Stock Market, Nasdaqg PHLX and Nasdaq BX have signed a
series of regulatory service agreements covering the services FINRA provides to the respective SROs. Under these agreements,
FINRA personnel act as our agents in performing the regulatory functions outlined above, and FINRA bills us a fee éovitesse s
These agreements have enabled us to reduce our headcount while ensuring that the markets for which we are regpopsitlje are
regulated. However, our SROSs retain ultimate regulatory responsibility for all regulatory activities performed underabpsnts)
by FINRA.

Exchange Act Rule 178 permits SROs to enter into agreements, commonly called Ru2 agceements, approved by the
SEC with respect to enforcement of common rules relating to common members. Our SROs have entered into several such agreetr
under whichFINRA assumes regulatory responsibility for specifics covered by the agreement, including:

A agreements with FINRA covering the enforcement of common rules, the majority of which relate to the regulation of The
NASDAQ Stock Market, Nasdaq BX and the meaarsbof these exchanges;

A joint industry agreements with FINRA covering responsibility for enforcement of insider trading rules;

A joint industry agreement with FINRA covering enforcement of rules related to cash equity sales practices and certain ot
non-market related rules; and

A joint industry agreement covering enforcement of rules related to options sales practices.

Regulation NMS and Options Intermarket Linkage PW&i.are subject to Regulation NMS for our cash equity markets, and
our optiongmarkets have joined the Options Intermarket Linkage Plan. These are designed to facilitate the routing of orders among
exchanges to create a national market system as mandated by the Exchange Act. One of the principal purposes of akeational mar
system$ t o assure that brokers may execute investorsd orders
Intermarket Linkage Plan require that exchanges avoid-tradaghs, locking or crossing of markets and provide market participants
with electronic access to the best prices among the markets for the applicable cash equity or options order.

In addition, Regulation NMS requires that every national securities exchange on which an NMS stock is traded and every
national securities associatioct gointly pursuant to one or more national market system plans to disseminate consolidated
information, including a national best bid and national best offer, on quotations for transactions in NMS stocks, asfdplzat su
plans provide for the dissémation of all consolidated information for an individual NMS stock through a single plan processor. The
UTP Plan was filed with and approved by the SEC as a national market system plan in accordance with the Exchange Act and
Regulation NMS to provide fahe collection, consolidation and dissemination of such information for NASI8YY securities.
NASDAQ serves as the processor and administrator for the UTP Plan. As the processor, NASDAQ performs and discharges
regulatory functions and responsibilitigsat are necessary for the members of the UTP Plan to discharge the regulatory functions
related to the operation of a national market system that have been delegated to them under the Exchange Act and Riyulation N
To fulfill its obligations as the prassor, NASDAQ has designed, implemented, maintained, and operated a data processing and
communications system, hardware, and software and communications infrastructure to provide processing for the UTP Plan.

CFTC RegulationWe alsooperateNASDAQ Futuresinc., orNFX, a designated contract market under the Commodity
Exchange Act that is subject to regulatory oversight by the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission, or CFTC, an ihdepender
agency with the mandate to regulate commodity futures and eptiarkets in the U.S. NFX is anticipated to resume trading
operations in 2015.

The DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or Bddk Act, also has resulted in increased CFTC
regulation of our use of certain regulated derivativeslycts, as well as the operations of some of our subsidiaries outside the United
States and their customers.

European Regulation

Regulation of our markets in the European Union and European Economic Area focuses on issues relating to financial service
listing and trading of securities and market abuse. At the end of EMIR, anew regulation relating to CCP services and OTC
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derivatives transactions was adopt&d.a consequence of EMIR, Nasdaq Nordic Clearing, like other European CCPs, applied to
reauhorize its CCP operations. Nasdaq Nordic Clearing was the first European CCP to be authorized as EMIR compliant when the
Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority, or SFSA, approved its application as a CCP under EMIR on March 18, 2014.

MIFID Il and MiFIR came into force in 2014. These regulations will primarily affect our European trading businesses as they
are implemented over the next few years. Many of the provisions of MiFID Il and MiFIR will be implemented through technical
standards to be drafted tye European Securities and Markets Authority, or ESMA, and approved by the European Commission.
Implementation is ongoing and both MiFID Il and MiFIR will apply to the European Union member states by Januaig 204.7.
regulatory environment continues ¢hange and related opportunities arise, we intend to continue product development, and ensure
that the exchanges and clearinghouses that comprise Nasdaq Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic maintain favorable liquidity ficidrffer ef
trading.

The entities thavperate trading venues in the Nordic and Baltic countries are each subject to local regulation. In Sweden,
general supervision of the Nasdaq Stockhol m exchangenthe ca
clearing of deriatives is overseen by the SFSA and the Swedish central bank (Riksbanken). Additionally, as a function of the Swedi
two-tier supervisory model, certain surveillance in relation to the exchange market is carried out by us, acting throughllamcsurv
division.

Nasdaq Stockhol mds exchange activities are regulated pri
which sets up basic requirements regarding the board of the exchange and its share capital, and which also cotliigsrtt®n
which exchange | icenses are issued. The SSMA also pngpvides
initial registration must be approved by the SFSA. Nasdaq Nordic Clearing holds the license as a CCP.

With respecto ongoing operations, the SSMA requires exchanges to conduct their activities in an honest, fair and professiona
manner, and in such a way as to maintain public confidence in the securities markets. When operating a regulated rodudegean e
must apply the principles of free access (i.e., that each person which meets the requirements established by law and by the exchan
may participate in trading), neutrality (i.e., tmantertadie e x
those who patrticipate in trading) and transparency (i.e., that the participants must be given speedy, simultaneous and correc
information concerning trading and that the general public must be given the opportunity to access this inforrdditmmally, the
exchange operator must identify and manage the risks that may arise in its operations, use secure technical systefgsaadd ident
handle the conflicts of interest that may restrinsafegualdiedeffesteen t h
risk management and secure technical systems. Similar requirements are set up by the SSMA and EMIR in relation to clearing
operations.

The SSMA al so contains the framewor k fexchangesoahdmrcledringeous8sFafgdA 6 <
the surveillance to be carried out by the exchanges themselves. The latter includes the requirement that an exchaage shoufda n
independent surveillance function with sufficient resources and powers to meet the exbhango bl i gati ons. 06 Tha
exchange to, among other things, supervise trading and price information, compliance with laws, regulations and good market
practice, participant compliance with trading participation rules, financial instrument coogplidth relevant listing rules and the
extent to which issuers meet their obligation to submit regular financial information to relevant authorities.

The regulatory environment in the other Nordic and Baltic countries in which a Nasdaq entity hagavéniadinis broadly
similar to the regulatory environment in Sweden. Since 2005, there has been cooperation between the SFSA and the smain supervi
authorities in Iceland, Norway, Denmark and Finland, which looks to safeguard effective and comprehpesiga of the
exchanges comprising Nasdaq Nordic and the systems operated by it, and to ensure a common supervisory approach.

Confidence in capital markets is paramount for trading to function properly. Nasdaq Nordic carries out market surveillance
through an independent unit that is separate from the business operations. The surveillance work is organized into tsimheiction
for the listing of instruments and surveillance of companies (issuer surveillance) and one for surveillance of tradipg (trad
surveillance). The redime trading surveillance for the Finnish, Icelandic, Danish and Swedish markets has been centralized to
Stockholm. In addition, there are special personnel who carry out surveillance activities at each of the three Batiiesexictiat
NASDAQ OMX Oslo ASA with respect to the trading of commodities derivatives. In Sweden and Finland, decisions to list new
companies are made by the president of the exchange, a duty delegated by the board of each exchange.

If there is suspiciothat a listed company or member has acted in breach of exchange regulations, the matter is dealt with by tl
market regulation division. Serious breaches are considered by the respective disciplinary committee in Sweden armd Finland. |
Denmark, all matterare dealt with by the surveillance department. In Iceland, enforcement committees handle all breaches of
exchange regulations, while disciplinary committees handle the determination of fines. Suspected insider trading i® rityeorted
appropriate authdies in the respective country or countries.
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Employees

As of DecembeBl, 2014, Nasdaq had 3,687 employees, including staff employed at consolidated entities where we have a
controlling financial interest.

Nasdaqg Website and Availability of SEC Filing

We file periodic reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. The public may read and copy any materials w
file with the SEC at the SECO6s Public Reference Room at 10
information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEGM¥3IEC0330. The SEC maintains an Internet
site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file eleetittnibell
SEC(such as us). The address of that site is http://www.sec.gov.

Our website is www.nasdagomx.com. Information on our website is not a part of this FetnWEOwill make available free
of charge on our website, or provide a link to, our Form&1Borms D-Q and Forms & and any amendments to these documents,
that are filed or furnished pursuant to Secti@a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Teascs t hese filings, go to Nasda
Rel ations, o0 then under fAFinanci al I nformationo click on AS
We use our website, www.nasdagomx.com, as a means of disclosing matepabfiorinformation and for complying with
disclosure obligations under Regulation FD.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also adversely affect our business. If any of the fokesitigatig
occur, our business, financial condition, or operating results could be adversely affected.

Risks Relating to our Business

Our industry is highly competitive.

We face intense competition from other exchanges and markets for market share gictdity and listings. In addition, our
data products, index licensing, corporate solutions and market technology businesses face significant competition fnarkeither
participants. This competition includes both product and price competition acdritasied to increase as a result of the creation of
new execution and listing venues in the United States and Europe. Increased competition may result in a decline iofour share
trading activity, listings and demand for the products we offer, therdmrsely affecting our operating results.

The liberalization and globalization of world markets has resulted in greater mobility of capital, greater international
participation in local markets and more competition. As a result, both in the U.S. ahdricaantries, the competition among
exchanges and other execution venues has become more intense. In the last several years, many marketplaces in bothdzurope an
U.S. have demutualized to provide greater flexibility for future growth. The secunitigstiy also has experienced consolidation,
creating a more intense competitive environment. Regulatory changes, such as MiFID, also have facilitated the entry of new
participants in the EU that compete with our European markets. The regulatory envirdiotteint the U.S. and in Europe, is
structured to maintain this environment of intense competition. In addition, a high proportion of business in the sesktiess
becoming concentrated in a smaller number of institutions and our revenue méyréhieeeome concentrated in a smaller number of
customers.

We also compete globally with other regulated exchanges and markets, ATSs, MTFs and other traditionatiraditi oraed
execution venues. Some of these competitors also are our customerscl@ungexcompetitors include ICE, LSE, Deutsche Borse
and a number of other exchanges in the U.S. and around the world. These exchanges offer a range of services comparable to tho
offered by our exchanges and generally compete with us in providing tradatiexs, trade reporting, data products, listings,
regulation, index, and technology services. Public ATSs in the U.S. and MTFs in Europe arelbatdeoperated systems that offer
trade execution services, typically at very low cost. Other competerugon venues include brokdealer owned systems such as
dark pools and internalization engines that may or may not be registered as ATSs or MTFs. Like ATSs and MTFs, thesmovenues al
compete with us by offering low cost executions and differ fromipI'Ss and MTFs in the degree of transparency they offer and
in restrictions on who may access these systems.

Competitors may develop market trading platforms that are more competitive than ours. Competitors may enter into strategic
partnerships, mergeos acquisitions that could make their trading, listings, clearing or data businesses more competitive than ours. |
November 2013, ICE completed its acquisition of NYSE Euronext, and in 2014, ICE spun off Euronext vialarei?®.2014,

BATS merged wth Direct Edge, creating a holding company with four equity platforms that currently execute roughly the same
amount of volume as Nas d®uifg014, bathe@nbited Gmparies tbcusey onphkiirttefrationms .
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activities, which havéhe potential to affect the competitive environment we face in both the U.S. and Europe. If we are unable to
compete successfully in this environment, our business, financial condition and operating results will be adversely affected.

Price competition las affected and could continue to affect our business.

We face intense price competition in all areas of our business. In particular, the trading industry is characterizee lpyigaten
competition. We have in the past lowered prices, and in the U.S., increased rebates for trade executions to attearpntirgain
market share. These strategies have not always been successful and have at times hurt operating performance. Additoeally, we
also been, and may once again be, required to adjust pricing to respond to actions by competitors, whidhecseld impact
operating results. We are also subject to potential price competition from new competitors and from new and existidg regulate
markets and MTFs. We also compete with respect to the pricing of data products and with respect to prpduetisderbook data
and for postrade last sale data. In the future, our competitors may offer rebates for quotes and trades on their systems. In addition,
our listing, index licensing and technology solutions pricing is subject to competitive prefsweeare unable to compete
successfully in respect to the pricing of our services and products, our business, financial condition and operatingyrésults
adversely affected.

Economic conditions and market factors, which are beyond our control, mdyesisely affect our business and financial condition.

Our business performance is impacted by a number of factors, including general economic conditions in both the U.S. and
Europe, market volatility, and other factors that are generally beyond ourlcdiottbe extent that global or national economic
conditions weaken, our business is likely to be negatively impacted. Adverse market conditions could reduce customeraemand f
services and the ability of our customers, lenders and other counterpartieet their obligations to us. Poor economic conditions
may result in a decline in trading volume, deterioration of the economic welfare of our listed companies and a rechetemiartd
for our products, including our data products, indexes, catpaolutions and market technology. Trading volume is driven primarily
by general market conditions and declines in trading volume may affect our market share and impact our pricing. lracddition,
Market Services businesses receive revenues fromtavedy small amount of customers concentrated in the financial industry, so
any event that impacts one or more customers or the financial industry in general could impact our revenues.

The number of listings on our markets is primarily influenced by factoch as investor demand, the global economy, available
sources of financing, and tax and regulatory policies. Adverse conditions may jeopardize the ability of our listed ctquamey
with the continued listing requirements of our exchanges.

Dataproducts revenues also may be significantly affected by global economic conditions. Professional subscriptions to our da
products are at risk if staff reductions occur in financial services companies, which could result in significant redwations
professional user revenue. In addition, adverse market conditions may cause reductions in the numipeofessmmal investors
with investments in the market.

A reduction in trading volumes, market share of trading, the number of our listed compadiesand for data products or
technology products due to economic conditions or other market factors could adversely affect our business, financraboanditi
operating results.

A decline in trading and clearing volumand market sharewill decreaseour trading and clearing revenues.

Trading and clearing volumes are directly affected by economic, political and market conditions, broad trends in business anc
finance, unforeseen market closures or other disruptions in trading, the level and vofatiligyest rates, inflation, changes in price
levels of securities and the overall level of investor confidence. In recent years, trading and clearing volumes aadsst®hawe
fluctuated significantly depending on market conditions and other fals&yond our control. Current initiatives being considered by
regulators and governments, such as restrictions on algorithmiefagiency) trading, could have a material adverse effect on
overall trading and clearing volumes. Because a significanepege of our revenues is tied directly to the volume of securities
traded and cleared on our markets, it is likely that a general decline in trading and clearing volumes would lower relverayes a
adversely affect our operating results if we are untabtéfset falling volumes through pricing changes. Declines in trading and
clearing volumes may also impact our market share or pricing structures and adversely affect our business and finginaial condi

If our total market share isecurities continuet® decrease relative to our competitors, our venues may be viewed as less
attractive sources of liquidity. If growth in overall trading volume of these securities does not offset continued demlinesarket
share, or if our exchanges are perceiveletéess liquid, then our business, financial condition and operating results could be
adversely affected.

Since some of our exchanges offer clearing services in addition to trading services, a decline in market share of ltading cou
lead to a decline inlearing revenues. Declines in market share also could result in issuers viewing the value of a listing on our
exchanges as less attractive, thereby adversely affecting our listing business. Finally, declines in market share oflisté8DAQ
securitescal d | ower NASDAQOGs share of tape pool revenues under
data products business.
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System limitations or failures could harm our business.

Our businesses depend on the integrity and perfornmrtbe technology, computer and communications systems supporting
them. If our systems cannot expand to cope with increased demand or otherwise fail to perform, we could experienceéaghanticipa
disruptions in service, slower response times and delapg iimtroduction of new products and services. These consequences could
result in trading outages, lower trading volumes, financial losses, decreased customer service and satisfaction apdaegtitatsr
Our markets have experienced systems failundsdglays in the past and could experience future systems failures and delays.

Although we currently maintain and expect to maintain multiple computer facilities that are designed to provide reduddancy al
backup to reduce the risk of system disruptiamsl have facilities in place that are expected to maintain service during a system
disruption, such systems and facilities may prove inadequate. If trading volumes increase unexpectedly or other uneamtiotpated
occur, we may need to expand and upg@aeechnology, transaction processing systems and network infrastructure. We do not
know whether we will be able to accurately project the rate, timing or cost of any increases, or expand and upgradesoandyste
infrastructure to accommodate any ie&ses in a timely manner.

While we have programs in place to identify and minimize our exposure to vulnerabilities and work in collaboration with the
technology industry to share corrective measures with our business partners, we cannot guaranteeveatswdll not occur in the
future. Any system issue that causes an interruption in services, decreases the responsiveness of our services dfautisewise a
services could impair our reputation, damage our brand name and negatively impacimnassbfisancial condition and operating
results.

Our role in the global marketplace may place us at greater risk for a cyber attack or other security incidents.

Our systems and operations are vulnerable to damage or interruption from security brea&ives, data theft, denial of
service attacks, human error, natural disasters, power loss, fire, sabotage, terrorism, computer viruses, intentigaabaditof
and similar events. Given our position in the global securities industry, we may bdkelyrénn other companies to be a direct
target, or an indirect casualty, of such evelnt$&ebruary 2011, we announced that, through our normal security monitoring systems,
we detected suspicious files on our U.S. senfgBowing this incident, we iplemented a number of new technical controls and
other initiatives to enhance our information security.

While we continue to employ resources to monitor our systems and protect our infrastructure, these measures may prove
insufficient depending upon th&tack or threat posed. Any system issue, whether as a result of an intentional breach or a natural
disaster, could damage our reputation and cause us to lose customers, experience lower trading volume, incur siglitiésaot liab
otherwise have a netijge impact on our business, financial condition and operating results. We also could incur significant expense i
addressing any of these problems and in addressing related data security and privacy concerns.

The success of our business depends on odlitglio keep up with rapid technological and other competitive changes affecting our
industry. Specifically, we must complete development of, successfully implement and maintain electronic trading platforms tha

have the functionality, performance, capdygi reliability and speed required by our business and our regulators, as well as by our
customers.

The markets in which we compete are characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry and regulatory
standards, frequent enhancements to existing products and services, the adoption of new services and products andtonagiging cu
demandsWe may not be able to keep up with rapid technological and other competitive changes affecting our industry. For exampl
we must continue to enhance our electronic trading platforms to remain competitive as well as to address our regulatory
responsibilites, and our business will be negatively affected if our electronic trading platforms fail to function as expected. If we are
unable to develop our electronic trading platforms to include other products and markets, or if our electronic trading pdlaifu
have the required functionality, performance, capacity, reliability and speed required by our business and our reguidtas bys
our customers, we may not be able to compete successfully. Further, our failure to anticipate or respond adetpaenges in
technology and customer preferences, especially in our technology solution businesses, or any significant delays in product
development efforts, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results

We may experience losses and liabilities as a result of systems issues that arose during the Facebook, Inc. IPO.

In connection with the IPO by Facebook on May 18, 2012, systems issues were experienced at the opening of trading of
Facebook shares. Certain of our members may have been disadvantaged by such systems issues, which have subsequently been
remedied. We annoeed a program for voluntary accommodations to qualifying members, which was approved by the SEC in Marcl
2013, and we paid all valid claims submitted through the program in December 2013. As a result of the systems issuégene have
sued by retail invgtors and trading firms in certain putative class actions, many of which have been consolidated into a single action
as well as in five other lawsuits by individual investors. The plaintiffs have asserted claims for negligence, grossendgiigen
ard violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule5l@lsomulgated under the Exchange Act. In addition, a member
organization filed a demand for arbitration seeking indemnification for alleged losses associated with the FacebookdR&yeWe b
that these lawsuits and arbitration demand are without merit and intend to defend them vigorously.
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In addition, as previously disclosed, the SEC completed an investigation into the Facebook matter. Pursuant to our offer of
settlement, which the SEC acoegt our subsidiaries, The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC and NASDAQ Execution Services LLC,
agreed to implement several measures aimed at preventing future violations of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder. We fully implemented @rovided the SEC with a certification of our compliance with these undertakings
by December 31, 2013 as agreed. In addition, The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC paid a $10 million penalty to the United States
Treasury.

While we are unable to predict the outemof the pending litigation or arbitration, an unfavorable outcome in one or more of
these matters could have a material adverse effect on us. Pending the resolution of these matters, we expect tocaaur signifi
additional expenses in defending the tebion and lawsuits.

Technology issues relating to our role as exclusive processor for NASEIS®d stocks could affect our business.

On August 22, 2013, we experienced an outage in the exclusive processor system we maintain and operate orl behalf of al
exchanges that trade NASDAQ stocks that resulted in a raiéiettrading halt lasting approximately three ho&@lowing this
system outage, the SEC and others evaluated all infrastructure that is critical to the national market system, ingratingste
systems. We proposed upgrades designed to make those systems more robust and resilient, and through a series d@kERisions in
and 2014, the measures related to the NASBi&t@d stock processor have been approved by the UTP Operating Cam#itiz
result, the resiliency of the processor system has been significantly improved. If, despite these improvement measungsgesur
occur or the processor systems fail to function properly while we are operating the systems, it could haars@eféelt on our
business, reputation, financial condition or operating results.

We may not be able to successfully integrate acquired businesses, which may result in an inability to realize the anticipated
benefits of our acquisitions.

In May 2013, weacquired the TR Corporate businesses, and in June 2014, we acquired eSpeed. In 2014, we acquired the
remaining 28% ownership interest in BWise, and in early 2015, we acquired DWA. We must rationalize, coordinate andtiategrate
operations of these andhetr acquired businesses. This process involves complex technological, operational and peiatethel
challenges, which are tironsuming and expensive and may disrupt our business. The difficulties, costs and delays that could be
encountered may incled

A difficulties, costs or complications in combining the
lead to us not achieving the synergies we anticipate;

A incompatibility of systems and operating methods;

1 reliance on a deal paer for transition services, including billing services;

A inability to use capital assets efficiently to develop the business of the combined company;

A the difficulty of complying with governmesimposed regulations in the U.S. and abroad, which reagobflicting;

A resolving possible inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies, business cultures and compensation
structures;

A the diversion of managementodés attention from ongoing

A difficulties in operating acquired businesses in parallel with similar businesses that we operated previously;

A difficulties in operating businesses we have not operated before;

A difficulty of integrating multiple acquired businesses simultangousl|

A the retention of key employees and management;

A the implementation of disclosure controls, internal controls and financial reporting systemsansubsidiaries to
enable us to comply with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP, and U.S. securities laws and
regulations, includig the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, required as a result of our status as a reporting company under th
Exchange Act;

A the coordination of geographically separate organizations;

A the coordination and consolidation of ongoing and future research arldpteeet efforts;

A possible tax costs or inefficiencies associated with integrating the operations of a combined company;
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pre-tax restructuring and revenue investment costs;

A the retention of strategic partners and attracting new strategic pagners;
A negative impacts on employee morale and performance as a result of job changes and reassignments.

For these reasons, we may not achieve the anticipated financial and strategic benefits from our acquisitions andAniiatives.
actual cost savingand synergies may be lower than we expect and may take a longer time to achieve than we anticipate, and we m
fail to realize the anticipated benefits of acquisitions.

We face risks when launching new produgtsitiatives and platforms

We intend tdaunch new products and initiatives and continue to explore and pursue opportunities to strengthen our business
and grow our company. For example, in 2013, we launched Nasdaq NLX, and in 2014, we launched NPM. We may spend substan
time and money devebing new products and initiatives. If these products and initiatives are not successful, we may not be able to
offset their costs, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

In our technology operationgie have invested substantial amounts in the development of system platforms and in the rollout o
our platforms. Although investments are carefully planned, there can be no assurance that the demand for such plddistifys will
the related investmentsid that the future levels of transactions executed on these platforms will be sufficient to generate an
acceptable return on such investments. If we fail to generate adequate revenue from planned system platforms, ar dovsofail t
within the envisiord timeframe, it could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

We will need to invest in our operations to maintain and grow our business and to integrate acquisitions, and we may need
additional funds, which may noté readily available.

We depend on the availability of adequate capital to maintain and develop our business. Although we believe that we can me
our current capital requirements from internally generated funds, cash on hand and available borrowimngs texdgving credit
facility, if the capital and credit markets experience volatility, access to capital or credit may not be available acceptable to us
or at all. Limited access to capital or credit in the future could have an impact onlayt@béefinance debt, maintain our credit
rating, meet our regulatory capital requirements, engage in strategic initiatives, make acquisitions or strategic investneznts
companies or react to changing economic and business conditions. If walleetorfund our capital or credit requirements, it could
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

In addition to our debt obligations, we will need to continue to invest in our operations for the foreseeabte fatagrate
acquired businesses and to fund new initiatives. If we do not achieve the expected operating results, we will neealt¢oonaralloc
cash resources. This may include borrowing additional funds to service debt payments, which may irapgitydarmake
investments in our business or to integrate acquired businesses.

Should we need to raise funds through issuing additional equity, our equity holders will suffer dilution. Should weaised to r
funds through incurring additional debt, wey become subject to covenants even more restrictive than those contained in our
revolving credit facility, the indentures governing our notes and our other debt instruments. Furthermore, if adverse economi
conditions occur, we could experience decreasednues from our operations which could affect our ability to satisfy financial and
other restrictive covenants to which we are subject under our existing indebtedness.

We operate in a highly regulated industry and may be subject to censures, finesrdoccement proceedings if we fail to comply
with regulatory obligations.

We operate in a highly regulated industry and are subject to extensive regulation in the U.S. and Europe. The semgities trad
industry is subject to significant regulatory oveldgignd could be subject to increased governmental and public scrutiny in the future
in response to global conditions and events. In the U.S., our markets anddwalegrsubsidiaries are regulated by the SEC, FINRA
and/or CFTC and, in the Nordics, Badtiand U.K., our markets are subject to local and/or European Union regulation. As a result, out
regulated markets are subject to audits, investigations, administrative proceedings and enforcement actions relatiagdte edathpl
applicable rules and ratations. Regulators have broad powers to impose fines, penalties or censure, issapkbaesist orders,
prohibit operations, revoke licenses or registrations and impose other sanctions on our exchangegabeckand markets for
violations of appcable requirements.

In 2013, the SEC completed an investigation into the Facebook matter and accepted our offer of settlement which included a
monetary penalty and an agreement to implement certain measures aimed at preventing future violatiorshafrthe Ect and the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. In the future, we cosidjeet to SEC or other regulatory investigations or
enforcement proceedings that could result in substantial sanctions, including revocation of our operatésy g/ such
investigations or proceedings, whether successful or unsuccessful, could result in substantial costs, the diversicexf resour
including management time, and potential harm to our reputation, which could have a material adversecefféntsiness, results
of operations or financial condition. In addition, our exchanges could be required to modify or restructure their réguotditong in
response to any changes in the regulatory environment, or they may be required to relypantiégdo perform regulatory and
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oversight functions, each of which may require us to incur substantial expenses and may harm our reputation if oursegita®ry
are deemed inadequate.

The regulatory framework under which we operate and new regutat@quirements or new interpretations of existing regulatory
requirements could require substantial time and resources for compliance, which could make it difficult and costly for us to
operate our business.

Under current U.S. federal securities laws, changes in the rules and operations of our markets, including our pricig structu
must be reviewed and in many cases explicitly approved by the SEC. The SEC may approve, disapprove, or recommend changes
proposals that we submit. In addition, the SEC may delay either the approval process or the initiation of the public conassnt pro
Any delay in approving changes, or the altering of any proposed change, could have an adverse effect on our busiaéss, financi
condition and operating results. We must compete not only with ATSs that are not subject to the same SEC approval alsxess but
with other exchanges that may have lower regulation and surveillance costs than us. There is a risk that tradintpweMcsizinges
that charge lower fees because, among other reasons, they spend significantly less on regulation.

In addition, our registered brokdealer subsidiaries are subject to regulation by the SEC, FINRA ands®fsr These
subsidiaries are suit to regulatory requirements intended to ensure their general financial soundness and liquidity, which require
that they comply with certain minimum capital requirements. The SEC and FINRA impose rules that require notification when a
brokerd e a | e capital falts ddlow certain predefined criteria, dictate the ratio of debt to equity in the regulatory capital
composition of a brokedealer and constrain the ability of a brokiealer to expand its business under certain circumstances.
Additionally,the SEC&s Uni form Net Capital Rul e and FI NRA rul es i myg
prohibiting a brokeidealer from distributing or withdrawing capital and requiring prior notice to the SEC and FINRA for certain
withdrawals of capitalAny failure to comply with these brokelealer regulations could have a material adverse effect on the
operation of our business, financial condition and operating results.

Our nonrU.S. business is subject to regulatory oversight in all the countneisioh we operate regulated businesses, such as
exchanges or central securities depositories. The countries in which we currently operate or share ownership in régakses bus
include Sweden, Finland, Denmark, Iceland, Estonia, Lithuania, Latvia,dypAwmenia, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom.
In all the aforementioned countries, we have received authorization from the relevant authorities to conduct our resinésted bu
activities. The authorities may revoke this authorization if we deuitdbly carry out our regulated business activities. The
authorities are also entitled to request that we adopt measures in order to ensure that we continue to fulfill the duthoritie
requirements.

Furthermore, certain of our customers operate in dyiglgulated industry. Regulatory authorities could impose regulatory
changes that could impact the ability of our customers to use our exchanges. The loss of a significant number of customers or
reduction in trading activity on any of our exchanges @salt of such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and operating results.

Regulatory changes and changes in market structure could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Regulatory changes adoptegithe SEC or other regulators of our markets, and regulatory changes that our markets may adopt
in fulfillment of their regulatory obligations, could materially affect our business operations. In recent years, theea frasdéased
regulatory and govemental focus on issues affecting the securities markets, including market structure and technological oversight.
The SEC, FINRA and the national securities exchanges have introduced several initiatives to ensure the oversightjdntegrity a
resilience of rarkets.

In November 2014, the SEC adopted Regulation Systems Compliance and Integrity, or Regulation SCI, a set of rules design
to strengthen the technology infrastructure of the U.S. securities markets. Regulation SCI applies to national sebarities.exc
operators of certain ATSs, market data information providers and clearing agencies, subjecting these entities to extensive ne
compliance obligations, with the goals of reducing the occurrence of technical issues that disrupt the securitieschariets/ing
recovery time when disruptions occur. Also, in 2012, the SEC required national securities exchanges and FINRA to establish a
marketwi de consolidated audit trail (CAT) to i mpr dywveorkingpmghu!| at o
FINRA and the other national securities exchanges in developing a plan to create a consolidated audit trail.

The European Parliament continues its review of MiHIat could affect our operations in Europe. In addition, actions on any
of the specific regulatory issues currently under review in the U.S. and Europe such as SRO status, shortkaétignco
algorithmic (highfrequency) trading, market halts, thata products business, derivatives clearing, market transparency, taxes on
stock transactions, restrictions on proprietary trading by certain of our customers and other related proposals coniddréale a
impact on our business. In the U.S., the CRAN@ SEC also will continue to take actions to fully implement the Bvddk Act, a
comprehensive banking and financial services reform package.
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While we support regulatory efforts to review and improve the structure, resilience and integrity of ths, ttegleeoption of
these proposed regulatory changes and future reforms could impose significant costs and obligations on the operatiSn of our U
exchanges and processor systems and have other impacts on our business.

Regulatory changes or future courtllings may have an adverse impact on our revenue from proprietary data products.

Regulatory and legal developments could reduce the amount of revenue that we earn from our proprietary data products. In t
U.S., we generally are required to file witletS8EC to establish or modify the fees that we charge for our data products. In recent
years, certain industry groups have objected to the ability of exchanges to charge for certain data products. We thtweadefeate
challenges in federal appeals court dnitadditional challenge is currently pending at the SEC. If the results of that challenge are
detrimentaltoourU S xchangesd6 ability to charge for data products, t
predict whether, or in whabfm, any regulatory changes will be implemented, or their potential impact on our business. A
determination by the SEC, for example, to link data fees to marginal costs, to take a more active role in thesdtibag at®cess, or
to reduce the curreiievels of data fees could have an adverse effect on our data products revenues.

Our European exchanges currently offer data products to customers omliggroninatory and reasonable commercial basis. It
is expected that the future MIFID II directivelwl result in a definition of the term
the final wording of this definition may influence the fees for European data products adversely. In addition any fomsreattie
European Commission or Euromeeourt decisions could affect our ability to offer data products in the same manner that we do today
thereby causing an adverse effect on our data products revenues.

Stagnation or decline in the initial public offering market could have an adverse eféecour revenues.

The market for initial public offerings is dependent on the prosperity of companies and the availability of risk cagizticBta
or decline in the initial public offering market will impact the number of new listings on The NASD&¢h Btarket and the Nasdaq
Nordic and Nasdag Baltic exchanges, and thus our related revenues. We recognize revenue from new listings on The NASDAQ St
Market on a straigHiine basis over an estimated sigar service period. As a result, a stagnant nidokenitial public offerings
could cause a decrease in deferred revenues for future years. Furthermore, as initial public offerings are typicaliyadetively
following their offering date, a prolonged decrease in the number of initial public o8eztndd negatively impact the growth of our
transactions revenues.

Any reduction in our credit rating could increase the cost of our funding from the capital markets.

Our longterm debt is currently rated investment grade by two of the major ratingi@giehloese rating agencies regularly
evaluate us and their ratings of our lelegm debt are based on a number of factors, including our financial strength as well as factors
not entirely within our control, including conditions affecting the financialtises industry generally. There can be no assurance that
we will maintain our current ratings. Our failure to maintain those ratings could adversely affect the cost and othpotewhih
we are able to obtain funding and increase our cost of capitatluction in credit ratings would also result in increases in the cost of
our outstanding debt as the interest rate on the outstanding amounts under our revolving credit facility, our 5.25%eseahier no
2018, our 3.875% senior notes due 20&¥1d ou4.25% senior notes due 208dctuates based on our credit ratings.

Damage to our reputation or brand name could have a material adverse effect on our businesses.

One of our competitive strengths is our strong reputation and brand name. Various issues may give rise to reputational risk,
including issues relating to:

A our ability to maintain the security of our data and systems;

A the quality and reliability of autechnology platforms and systems;

A the ability to fulfill our regulatory obligations;

A the ability to execute our business plan, key initiatives or new business ventures and the ability to keep up with changin
customer demand:;

A the representatioof our business in the media;

A the accuracy of our financial statements and other financial and statistical information;

A the accuracy of our financial guidance or other information provided to our investors;

A the quality of our corporate governarsteucture;

A the quality of our products, including the reliability of our transaetiased business, the accuracy of the quote and trade

information provided by our data products business and the accuracy of calculations used by our Global Index Group f
indexes and unit investment trusts;
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the quality of our disclosure controls or internal controls over financial reporting, including any failures in supervision;

A extreme price volatility on our markets;
A any negative publicity surrounding ourtés companies; and
A any misconduct, fraudulent activity or theft by our employees or other persons formerly or currently associated with us.

Damage to our reputation could cause some issuers not to list their securities on our exchanges, as welttses tradiing
volume on our exchanges or cause us to lose customers in our data products, index, corporate solutions or market technology
businesses. This, in turn, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and opdtsating resu

We may incur goodwill, intangible asset or other lofiged asset impairment charges in the future.

Our business acquisitions typically result in the recording of goodwill and intangible assets, and the recorded vasges of tho
assets may become iaiped in the future. As of Decemb@t, 2014, goodwill totaled approximately $5.5 billion and intangible
assets, net of accumulated amortization, totaled approximately $2.1 billion. The determination of the value of suclagdodwill
intangible assets regas management to make estimates and assumptions that affect our consolidated financial statements.

We assess goodwill and intangible assets as well as othelivedgssets, including equity method investments, property and
equipment and other assets for impairment by applying a fair value based test by analyzing historical performance, capital
requirrments and projected cash flows on an annual basis or more frequently if indicators of impairment arise. Considerable
management judgment is necessary to evaluate the impact of operating and macroeconomic changes and to estimate cash flows.
Although thereare inherent uncertainties in this assessment process, the estimates and assumptions we use are consistent with ou
internal planning. There was no impairment of goodwill for the years ended Decgini2€x14, 2013 and 2012. However, disruptions
to our bugess, such as economic weakness and unexpected significant declines in operating results, may result in an impairment
charge related to our goodwill, intangible assets or otherlivad assets in the future. A significant impairment charge in the future
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

We may experience fluctuations in our operating results, which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

The financial services industry is risky and unpredictable anddsttji affected by many national and international factors
beyond our control, including:
economic, political and geopolitical market conditions;
natural disasters, terrorism, war or other catastrophes;
broad trends in industry and finance;
changes in price levels and volatility in the stock markets;
the level and volatility of interest rates;
changes in government monetary or tax policy;

other legislative and regulatory changes;
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the perceived attractiveness of the U.S. or Eunopagital markets; and

P

inflation.

Any one of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results by
causing a substantial decline in the financial services markets and reducing trading violyraeiular, our U.S. business
operations are heavily concentrated on the East Coast, and our European business operations are heavily concenttaikd.in Stock
Any event that affects either of those geographic areas could potentially affect outt@loifigrate our businesses.

Additionally, since borrowings under our revolving credit facility bear interest at variable rates, any increase imatgsrest
debt that we have not fixed using interest rate hedges will increase our interest expeadaa@ndur cash flow. Other than variable
rate debt, we believe our business has relatively large fixed costs and low variable costs, which magnifies the imgrag of rev
fluctuations on our operating results. As a result, a decline in our revenueaday kerelatively larger impact on operating results. A
substantial portion of our operating expenses will be related to personnel costs, regulation and corporate overheathjeionarof
be adjusted quickly and some of which cannot be adjusted @ualbperating expense levels will be based on our expectations for
future revenue. I f actual revenue is below managemevenue8s e X
less transactichased expenses and operating resulisldvbe materially and adversely affected. Because of these factors, it is
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possible that our operating results or other operating metrics may fail to meet the expectations of stock market airalgstei@End
If this happens, the market price of our coamstock may be adversely affected.

We are exposed to credit risk from third parties, including customers, counterparties and clearing agents.

We are exposed to credit risk from third parties, including customers, counterparties and clearing agerpsrfldemay
default on their obligations to us due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons.

We clear or stand as riskless principal to a range of eqeitiyed and fixedncomerelated derivative products, commodities
andresale and repurchase agreements. We assume the counterparty risk for all transactions that are cleared through ndr markets
guarantee that our cleared contracts will be honored. We enforce minimum financial and operational criteria for membership
eligibility, require members and investors to provide collateral, and maintain established risk policies and procedureshatahsure
counterparty risks are properly monitored and-actively managed; however, none of these measures provides absaltae@ss
against experiencing financial losses from defaults by our counterparties on their obligations. No guarantee can hetgven tha
collateral provided will at all times be sufficient. Although we maintain clearing capital resources to servedicaralddyer of
protection to help ensure that we are able to meet our obligations, these resources may not be sufficient.

In addition, one of our broketealer subsidiaries, Execution Access, has a clearing arrangement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.,
or Cantor Fitzgerald. As of December 31, 2014, we have contribd@th®ion of clearing deposits to Cantor Fitzgerald in
connection with this clearing arrangement. Some of the trading activity in Execution Access is cleared by Cantor Fitoymyald t
theFixed Income Clearing Corporation, or FICC, and the balance is cleardel@@n Execution Access assumes the counterparty
risk of clients that do not clear through FIG@unterparty risk of clients exists for Execution Access between the trade date and
settlement date of the individual transactions, which is one busines& tlay. of Executi on Access®6 obli
arrangement with Cantor Fitzgerald are guaranteed by Nasdaq. Some of-tHE€Gorounterparties are required to post colidie
provide principal letters, or provide other forms of credit enhancement to Execution Access for the purpose of mitigadinEadgu
risk. Although ve believe that the potential for us to be required to make payments under these arrangemegdteis tihibugh the
pledged collateral and our risk management policies, no guarantee can be provided that these arrangements will & all times b
sufficient.

We also have credit risk related to transaction and subscriptised revenues that are billed to customers on a monthly or
guarterly basis, in arrears.

Credit losses such as those described above could adversely affect our consolidated finanaiedupdsigults of operations.

Our leverage limits our financial flexibility, increases our exposure to weakening economic conditions and may adversety affe
our ability to obtain additional financing.

Our indebtedness as of DecemBg&r 2014 was approxiately $2.3 billion. We also may borrow up to an additional/$62
million under our revolving credit facility.

Our leverage could:

A reduce funds available to us for operations and general corporate purposes or for capital expenditures as a result of the
dedication of a substantial portion of our consolidated cash flow from operations to the payment of principal and interest
on our indebtedness;

A increase our exposure to a continued downturn in general economic conditions;
A place us at a competitive didvantage compared with our competitors with less debt; and

A affect our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for refinancing indebtedness, acquisitions, working capital,
capital expenditures or other purposes.

In addition, we must comphyith the covenants in our revolving credit facility. Among other things, these covenants restrict our
ability to grant liens, incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends and conduct transactions with affiliates. Failurarty ofi¢lee
covenant termsf our revolving credit facility could result in an event of default. If an event of default occurs, and we are unable to
receive a waiver of default, our lenders may increase our borrowing costs, restrict our ability to obtain additionalgscaraivin
accelerate all amounts outstanding. Our revolving credit facility allows us to pay cash dividends on our common stock as long a
certain leverage ratios are maintained.

We are subject to litigation risks and other liabilities.

Many aspects of our businesstgntially involve substantial liability risks. Although under current law we are immune from
private suitsarising from conduct within our regulatory authority and from acts and forbearances incident to the exercise of our
regulatory authoritythis immurity only covers certain of our activities in the U.S., and we could be exposed to liability under national
and local laws, court decisions and rules and regulations promulgated by regulatory agencies.
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Some of our other liability risks arise under the lans regulations relating to the tax, intellectual property;m@aotey
laundering, technology export, foreign asset controls and foreign corrupt practices areas. Liability could also ressiiiuresroser
the terms of a trade, claims that a systetufaior delay cost a customer money, claims we entered into an unauthorized transaction
or claims that we provided materially false or misleading statements in connection with a securities transaction. A t@e inten
defend any such litigation activelyigaificant legal expenses could be incurred. Although we carry insurance that may limit our risk
of damages in some cases, we still may sustain uncovered losses or losses in excess of available insurance thatowuld affect
financial condition and resultof operations.

We have selfegulatory obligations and also operate fqrofit businesses, and these two roles may create conflicts of interest.

We have obligations to regulate and monitor activities on our markets and ensure compliance with alaplicadnie¢he rules
of our markets by market participants and listed companies. In thesore, havexpressed concern about potential conflicts of
i nteregtrodfi tif onrar ket s per f or mMSR@Althohgh our &S cabhaedymnd pptidnsiexahdnges n s
outsource a substantial portion of their market regulation functions to FINRA, we do perform regulatory functions agdlbtayre
responsibility related to our listed companies and our markets. Any failure by us to diligehthirdy regulate our markets or to
otherwise fulfill our regulatory obligations could significantly harm our reputation, prompt SEC scrutiny and adversebuaffec
business and reputation.

Our Nordic and Baltic exchanges also monitor trading and danga with listing standards. They monitor the listing of cash
equities and other financial instruments. The prime objective of such monitoring activities is to promote confidenceliatiyges
among the general public and to ensure fair and orderttiiming markets. The monitoring functions within the Nasdaqg Nordic and
Nasdaq Baltic exchanges are the responsibility of the surveillance departments or other surveillance personnel. Tingesurveilla
departments or personnel are intended to strengthéntdugity of and confidence in these exchanges and to avoid conflicts of
interest. Any failure to diligently and fairly regulate the Nordic and Baltic exchanges could significantly harm ourompurtatnpt
scrutiny from regulators and adversely affeat business and reputation.

Failure to protect our intellectual property rights, or allegations that we have infringed on the intellectual propertysightthers,
could harm our brandbuilding efforts and ability to compete effectively.

To protect ouintellectual property rights, we rely on a combination of trademark laws, copyright laws, patent laws, trade secre
protection, confidentiality agreements and other contractual arrangements with our affiliates, clients, strategic phothers ahhe
protective steps that we take may be inadequate to deter misappropriation of our proprietary information. We may beleteable to
the unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights.

We have registered, or applied to register, our trademarks in the United States and in over 50 foreign jurisdictions and have
pending U.S. and foreign applications for other trademarks. We also maintain copyright protection on our branded ntaterials an
pursue patent protection for software products, inventions and other processes developed by us. We also hold a numher of patents
patent applications and licenses in the United States and other foreign jurisdictions. Effective trademark, copyrigiridratt
secret protection may not be available in every country in which we offer our services. Failure to protect our intebeettal p
adequately could harm our brand and affect our ability to compete effectively. Further, defending our intettgmtuyl fights could
result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources.

Third parties may assert intellectual property rights claims against us, which may be costly to defend, could requinetie pay
of damages and could linour ability to use certain technologies, trademarks or other intellectual property. Any intellectual property
claims, with or without merit, could be expensive to litigate or settle and could divert management resources andatteetssiul
challengesgainst us could require us to modify or discontinue our use of technology or business processes where such use is four
infringe or violate the rights of others, or require us to purchase licenses from third parties, any of which could affeersely
business, financial condition and operating results.

We rely on third parties to perform certain functions, and our business could be adversely affected if these third palrties fa
perform as expected.

We rely on third parties for regulatory, data center and other services. For example, we have a contractual arrangement with
FINRA pursuant to which FINRA performs certain regulatory functions on our behalf. We also are highly reliant-parthicthta
centers provided by Verizon. To the extent that FINRA, Verizon or any other vendor epdliniydservice provider experiences
difficulties, materially changes their business relationship with us or is unable for any reason to perform their optigatiosimess
or our reputation may be materially adversely affected.

We also rely on members of our trading community to maintain markets and add liquidity. To the extent that any of our larges
members experiences difficulties, materially changes its asietationship with us or is unable for any reason to perform market
making activities, our business or our reputation may be materially adversely affected.

We are a holding company that depends on cash flow from our subsidiaries to meet our obligatimhany restrictions on our
subsidiariesé ability to pay dividends or make ot heationrsay me
and financial condition.
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As a holding company, we require dividends and other payments frosulbsidiaries to meet cash requirements. Minimum
capital requirements mandated by regulatory authorities having jurisdiction over some of our regulated subsidiarigsresdiietct|
the amount of dividends paid upstream. If our subsidiaries are uogidg dividends and make other payments to us when needed,
we may be unable to satisfy our obligations, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financiabodndition
operating results.

Future acquisitions, investments, partnershipad joint ventures may require significant resources and/or result in significant
unanticipated losses, costs or liabilities.

Over the past several years, acquisitions have been significant factors in our growth. Although we cannot predict our rate of
growth as the result of acquisitions with complete accuracy, we believe that additional acquisitions and investments amtentering
partnerships and joint ventures will be important to our growth strategy. Many of the other potential purchasers obassets in
industry have greater financial resources than we have. Therefore, we cannot be sure that we will be able to complete future
acquisitions on terms favorable to us.

We may finance future acquisitions by issuing additional equity and/or debt. Thecissaafadditional equity in connection
with any such transaction could be substantially dilutive to existing shareholders. The issuance of additional debteesaadinc
leverage substantially. In addition, announcement or implementation of futusadtians by us or others could have a material effect
on the price of our common stock. We could face financial risks associated with incurring additional debt, particidatshif th
results in significant incremental leverage. Additional debt may eeducliquidity, curtail our access to financing markets, impact
our standing with credit agencies and increase the cash flow required for debt service. Any incremental debt incunelda fina
acquisition could also place significant constraints orofferation of our business.

Furthermore, any future acquisitions of businesses or facilities could entail a number of additional risks, including:
A problems with effective integration of operations;

the inability to maintain key pracquisition busiass relationships;

increased operating costs;

the diversion of our management team from other operations;

problems with regulatory bodies;

exposure to unanticipated liabilities;
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difficulties in realizing projected efficiencies, synergies aast savings; and
A changes in our credit rating and financing costs.

Changes in tax laws, regulations or policies could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Like other corporations, we are subject to taxes at the federal, state and local levels, as well-BisSnjndedictions.
Changes in tax laws, regulations or policies could result in us having to pay higher taxes, which would in turn redtizeonorene

In addition, some of our subsidiaries are subject to tax in the jurisdictions in which they are organized or operatatihgcomp
our tax obligation in these jurisdictions, we take various tax positions on matters that are not entirely frealitoWielcannot
assure you that upon review of these positions the applicable authorities will agree with our positions. A succesgfal lmhalliex
authority could result in additional tax imposed on our subsidiaries.

Our non-U.S. business operates Wrarious international markets, particularly emerging markets, that are subject to greater
political, economic and social uncertainties than developed countries.

The operations of our neld.S. business are subject to the risk inherent in internationedtoges, including but not limited to,
risks with respect to operating in Iceland, the Baltics, Armenia, the Middle East, Africa and Asia. Some of these ecayooeies m
subject to greater political, economic and social uncertainties than countries wétlleveloped institutional structures. Political,
economic or social events or developments in one or more of these countries could adversely affect our operationsadnd financi
results.

Because we have operations in several countries, we are exposedramcy risk.

We have operations in the U.S., the Nordic and Baltic countries, the U.K., Australia and many other foreign countries. We
therefore have significant exposure to exchange rate movements between the Swedish Krona, Norwegian Krone, ieBiayrigtitis
Australian Dollar and other foreign currencies towards the U.S. dollar. Significant inflation or disproportionate chiamgigmin
exchange rates with respect to one or more of these currencies could occur as a result of general econiomi; aotsditf war or
terrorism, changes in governmental monetary or tax policy or changes in local interest rates. These exchange ratevdifferences
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affect the translation of our nd.S. results of operations and financial condition into U.S. dolepaé of the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

If our risk management methods are not effective, our business, reputation and financial results may be adversely affected.

We have methods to identify, monitor and manage ourrisks,undi ng over si ght of ri sk manag
Steering Committee, which is comprised of employees of Nasdag. However, these methods may not be fully effective. Some of out
risk management methods may depend upon evaluation of informatiodinggaarkets, customers or other matters. That
information may not in all cases be accurate, completég-date or properly evaluated. If our methods are not effective or we are not
successful in monitoring or evaluating the risks to which we are obmayxposed, our business, reputation, financial condition and
operating results could be materially adversely affected.

Charges to earnings resulting from acquisition, restructuring and integration costs may materially adversely affect thetmarke
value d our common stock.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we are accounting for the completion of our acquisitions using the purchase method of
accounting. We are allocating the total estimated purchase prices to net tangible assets, amortizable intangibdeiadstiste
lived intangibleassetsand based on their fair values as of the date of completion of the acquisitions, recording the excess of the
purchase price over those fair values as goodwill. Our financial results, including earnings per slibbe, adversely affected by a
number of financial adjustments required by U.S. GAAP including the following:

A we may incur additional amortization expense over the estimated useful lives of certain of the intangible assets acquirec
connection withacquisitions during such estimated useful lives;

A we may have additional depreciation expense as a result of recording purchased tangible assets at fair value, in accord:
with U.S. GAAP, as compared to book value as recorded;

A to the extent the vaduof goodwill or intangible assets becomes impaired, we may be required to incur material charges
relating to the impairment of those assets; and

A we may incur certain adjustments to reflect the financial condition and operating results under U.SnGAARB. a
dollars.

Risks Relating to an Investment in Our Common Stock

Decisions to declare future dividends on our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors based up@wa re
of relevant considerations. Accordingly, there can be guarantee that we will pay future dividends to our stockholders.

In 2013 and 2014, our board of directors declared quarterly cash dividend payments on our outstanding common stock. Futur
declarations of quarterly dividends and the establishment of future record and payment dates are subject to approvgldyg Nasda
boad of directors. The boardds determination to declare diyv
contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable law and other factors that the board deems relevant. Basadaioran
of these factors, the board of directors may determine not to declare future dividends at all or to declare futureatieideddsed
amount. Accordingly, there can be no guarantee that we will pay future dividends to our stockholders.

The marketprice of our common stock could be negatively affected by sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the
public markets.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception that these sales might
occur, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline or could impair our ability to raise capital throvesadefutf)
or pay for acquisitions using, our equity securities. As of DeceBihe2014, there were 168,795,263 shares of ountmmstock
outstanding. Al of our common stock is freely tr andestheer abl
Securities Act.

The number of freely transferable shares of our common stock will increase upon any exengistanding options pursuant
to Nasdaqgqds Equity I ncentive Plan, or Equity 3R20Hmatawdighted e w
average exercise price of $27.56.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation, blaws, exclange rules (including provisions included to address SEC concerns)
and governing law could delay or prevent a change in control of us and entrench current management.

Our organizational documents place restrictions on the voting rights of certain sterkhdlhe holders of our common stock
are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders except that no person mayiegeigigs vot
in respect of any shares in excess of 5% of the then outstanding shares of moencgiotk. Any change to the 5% voting limitation
would require SEC approval.
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I n response to the SEC6s concern about a concentration
prohibiting any member or any person associated withralraeof the exchange from beneficially owning more than 20% of our
outstanding voting interests. SEC consent would be required before any investor could obtain more than a 20% votingumterest
The rules of our U.S. e xoWleohagydbssiness venures weith ané of @ur niemlteers, Subj€dbte a p
exceptions.

Our organizational documents contain provisions that may be deemed to havetakeaner effect and may delay, deter or
prevent a change of control of us, such as a tewftiaror takeover proposal that might result in a premium over the market price for
our common stock. Additionally, certain of these provisions make it more difficult to bring about a change in the conopasition
board of directors, which could resuitentrenchment of current management.

Our certificate of incorporation and tgws:
A do not permit stockholders to act by written consent;
A require certain advance notice for director nominations and actions to be taken at annual meetings; and

A auttbori ze the issuance of undesignated preferred stock,
board of directors without stockholder approval.

Section203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law imposes restrictions on mergersearlsthess combinations
between us and any holder of 15% or more (or, in some cases, a holder who previously held 15% or more) of our common stock. |
gener al , Del aware |l aw prohibits a publicly tkelancfirptoerae s to
stockhol dero for three years after the stockhol dertorbamdt 0o me s
stockholders approve the business combination in a prescribed manner.

Finally, many of the European cdties where we operate regulated entities require prior governmental approval before an
investor acquires 10% or greater of our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.

Item 2. Properties.
The following is a description of our principal properties.

Size
(approximate,

Location Use in squarefeet) Type of possession
New York, New York................... Location of MarketSite 25,000 Lease
New York, New York................... U.S. headquarters 115,000 Subleased from FINRA with 17,9:

square feet leased back to FINR/
New York, New YorK................... General office space 53,000 Subleased to third parties
New York, New York................... General office space 48,000 Lease
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.......... Locationof Nasdaq PHLX 94,000 Lease
Rockville, Maryland...................... General office space 48,000 Lease
Shelton, Connecticut................... General office space 29,000 Lease
Stockholm, Sweden..................... European headquarters 296,000 Lease
London, England......................... General office space 71,000 Subleased to thirdarties
London, England............c............ General office space 30,600 Lease
Helsinki, Finland..............ccccoe...... General office space 19,800 Lease
Copenhagen, Denmatrk............... General office space 23,900 Lease

We also maintain local headquarters in each of the other countries where we operate an exchange and office space in countr
in which we conduct sales and operations, including Armenia, Australia, Belgium, Canada, China, Estonia, France, Gegnany, Hon
Kong, Iceland, India, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Lithuania, Netherlands, Norway, Philippines, Singapore, South Korea and Spain.

In addition to the above, we currently lease administrative, sales and disaster preparedness facilities in Califord@, Colora
lllinois, Massachusetts, Missouri, Oregon, Texas and Washington, DC.

Generally, our properties are not earmarked for usedaticular segment. Instead, most of our properties are used by two or
more segments. We believe the facilities we occupy are adequate for the purposes for which they are currently usedl-and are we
maintained. As of Decemb@&d, 2014 approximately 308120 square feet of space was available for sublease.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

As previously disclosed, we became a party to several legal and regulatory proceedings in 2012 and 2013 relating to the
Facebook IPO that occurred on May 18, 2012. We belleatettie legal actions filed against Nasdaq are without merit and intend to
defend them vigoroushAs described in our Annual Report on FormK.@or the year ended December 31, 2012, we are named as a
defendant in a consolidated matter captioimee Faebook, Inc., IPO Securities and Derivative LitigatidfDL No. 2389
(S.D.N.Y.). Our appeal of the district courtds ordeflr grant
amended complaint is currently pending in the United Statest of Appeals for the Second Circuit, at No-1467.

In our Quarterly Report on Form 4D for the period ended March 31, 2013, we identified a demand for arbitration from a
member organization seeking indemnification for alleged losses associdtaenitacebook IPO. On June 18, 2013, the District
Court for the Southern District of New York granted a preliminary injunction enjoining the arbitration, and the membzatorgani
appealed the order granting the injunction to the Second Circuit Colipipefals. On October 31, 2014, the Second Circuit Court of
Appeals affirmed the preliminary injunction.

We also are named as one of many defendants in City of Providence v. BATS Global Markets, Inc., et al., 14 Civ. 2811
(S.D.N.Y.), which was filed on Ajdrl8, 2014 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. The district
court appointed lead counsel, who filed an amended complaint on September 2, 2014. The amended complaint names as defenda
seven national exchanges, adlwe Barclays PLC, which operated a private alternative trading system. On behalf of a putative class
of securities traders, the plaintiffs allege that the defendants engaged in a scheme to manipulate the markets tireggariugh
trading; the amendecomplaint asserts claims against us under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and fylas@bll as under
Section 6(b) of the Exchange Act. We filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint on November By 2&bbnse, the
plaintiffs filed a seond amended complaint on November 24, 2014, which names the same defendants and alleges essentially the
same violations. We then filed a motion to dismiss the second amended complaint on January 23, 2015. On January &@®15, the
consolidated this in a multidistrict litigation proceeding under the heading In re Barclays Liquidity Cross and High Frequency
Trading Litigation, 14md-02589 (S.D.N.Y). The consolidated cases bring claims against Barclays PLC and Barclays Capital alleging
that certairmarketing materials about Barclays LX contained false or misleading statements. Although the Providence matter has b
consolidated with the Barclays matter, separate motions to dismiss will be filed for eachivasehe preliminary nature of the
proceedings, we are unable to estimate what, if any, liability may result from this litigation. However, we believe the daims to
without merit and intend to litigate them vigorously.

In addition, we are named as one of many exchange defendants in L&B#rS Exchange Inc., et al., 14 Civ. 3745
(S.D.N.Y.), Lanier v. BATS Exchange Inc., et al., 14 Civ. 3865 (S.D.N.Y.), and Lanier v. Bats Exchange Inc., 14 Civ. 3866
(S.D.N.Y.), which were filed between May 23, 2014 and May 30, 2014 in the United Statés Bisurt for the Southern District of
New York. The plaintiff is the same in each of these cases, and the three complaints contain substantially similasalbegation
behalf of a putative class of subscribers for market data provided by nationatgxshthe plaintiff alleges that the exchanges
provided data more quickly to certain mar ket participants
dissemination of market data and subscriber agreements executed under those ptamsplHig asserts contractual theories under
state law based on these alleged breaches. On September 29, 2014, we filed a motion to dismiss the ddmpaintsheard oral
argument on the motion on January 16, 20A%ecisionremains pending. Given the preliminary nature of the proceedings, we are
unable to estimate what, if any, liability may result from this litigation. However, we believe the claims to be withbabdistend
to litigate them vigorously.

Except as disolsed above and in prior reports filed under the Exchange Act, we are not currently a party to any litigation or
proceeding that we believe could have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial conditiomgpresottsati
However from time to time, we have been threatened with, or named as a defendant in, lawsuits or involved in regulatory
proceedings.

Iltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Part Il

tem5 . Mar ket for Registrantds Co aters and IEsgen Putclyases &R Equity SeeuditieSt o ¢ k h
Market Information

Our common stock has been listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market (formerly The Nasdaq National Market) since Egbruary
2005, under the ticket,?2089%tmiughlFebfua®P2B03,.odr comman stock tratieg on the OTCBB under
the symb®.l0o AND
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The following chart lists the quarterly high and low sales prices for shares of our common stock for fisc) Yeansl2013.
These prices are between dealers and do not include retail markups, markdowns or other fees and commissions agpresaninot r
actual transactions.

High Low
Fiscal 204
Fourth quarter.............oveeiiiiiiiceee e $ 4971 $ 3843
Third QUAIET........ooiiiiee e 44.33 3831
SECONd QUANET.......eevieieeiiiiiiie e 39.24 3349
FirSt QUAIEE.. ..o, 41.25 36.36
Fiscal 208
Fourth qUArter..........ccccovcvveieiiiie e $ 40.64 $ 31.76
Third QUAIET........ooeeiiieie e 34.41 29.51
SeCONd QUANET.......eeviiieeiiiiiiie e 33.43 27.47
FirSt QUAIEE.....coo i, 32.89 25.27

As of February2, 2015, we had approximatelyl7 holders of record of our common stock. As of FebrizaB015, the closing
price of our common stockas $16.81.

Dividends

In each otthe second, third and fourth quarters of 2Ghé Company paid quarterly cash dividend of $0.15 per share iand
the first quarter of 2014 arehch quarter in 201&e Company paid a quarterly cash dividend of $@dr3sharen our outstanding
common stockWeexpect to pay quarterly cash dividends in the future, subject to approval by the board of directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Share Repurchase Programs

In the third quarter 02012, our board ddirectors authorized the repurchase of up to $300 million of our outstanding common
stock and in the fourth quartef 2014,our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $500 million of our
outstanding common stockhesepurchases may be made from time to time at prevailing market prices in open market purchases,
privately-negotiated transactions, block purchase techniques or otherwise, as determined by our management. The purchases are
funded from existing cash balanc&be share repurchase program may be suspended, modified or discontinued at any time.

During 2014, we repurchasdgb92,194shares obur common stock at an average price 88.85, for an aggregate purchase
price of $78million. The shares repurchased anthe share repurchase program are available for general corporate purposes. As of
December 31, 2@1 the remaining amount authorized for share repurchases under the prograb3Wwaslbn.

Employee Transactions

During the fiscal quarter ended DecemBg, 204, we purchased shares from employees in connection with the settlement of
income tax and related benefit withholding obligations arising tlewesting ofcertain equitygrants.
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The table below represents repurchases made byloreoh a | f

fiscal quarter ended Decemlst, 204:

of us or

any

(c) Total Number of
Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly

naffil

i ated

(d) Maximum Dollar
Value of Shares that
May Yet Be Purchase(

Under the Plans or

(a) Total Number of  (b) Average Price Paic  Announced Plans or Programs
Period Shares Purchased Per Share Programs (in millions)
October 2014
Share repurchase program 1,024,165 $ 41.64 1,024,165 $ 552
Employee transactions 2,495 $ 41.68 N/A N/A
November 2014
Share repurchase program 347,500 $ 43.34 347,500 $ 537
Employee transactions 2,025 $ 43.82 N/A N/A
December 2014
Share repurchase program - $ - - $ 537
Employee transactions 159,523 $ 47.95 N/A N/A
Total Fiscal Quarter Ended December 31, 2014
Share repurchase program 1,371,665 $ 42.07 1,371,665 $ 537
Employee transactions 164,043 $ 47.81 N/A N/A
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the total return of our common stottle NasdagComposite Stock Index and the Standard &
a n dTheapees grdugitcludesithepA8XeLimitegl rCB O
CME Group Inc., Deutsche Borse AIRE, LSE, and TMX Group. Information for the indices and the peer group is provided from
DecembeBl, 2009 through Decembgt, 2014. The figures represented below assume an initial investment of $100 in the common

Poa 6 s , or S&P, 500 Stock I ndex

stock or index at the closing price on Decen®iker2009 and the reinvestment of all dividends.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc., the Nasdaq Composite Index, the S&P 500 Index,
and a Peer Group

$300 -
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12/09 12110 12111

1212
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1214

—+&=— The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. — 4 —Nasdaq Composite ---=--- S&P 500 —¥— Peer Group

*$100 invested on 12/31/09 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.

Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright®© 2015 S&P, a division of McGraw-Hill Financial Inc. All rights reserved.

12/9 1210 12/1 12/12 12/13 12/14

The NASDAQ OMX Group, INCu......ccvveiiiiiiiiieeiiieensieeeenn. $ 100.00 $ 11973 $ 12366 $ 12823 $ 20746 $ 25355
NaSAAQCOMPOSILE.......uuuriiriiiiiiieiiieeieeeiibebie e e e e e e e e e eenes 100.00 11761 11870 13900 19683 22374
SE&P 500 e 100.00 11506 11749 13630 18044 20514
PEEI GrOUP.....eeeiieiiiiiieiee et 100.00 10097 8793 10119 15518 16561
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth selected financial data on a historical basis for Nasdaq. The following information steauld be
in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of Nasdaq included elsewhere in thik.Form 10
Selected Financial Data

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012V 2011V 20109

(in millions, except share and per share amounts)

Statements of Income Data:

Total revenue® $ 3,500 $ 3211 $ 3,120 $ 3,438 $ 3,197
Transadon-based expensés (1,433 (1,316 (1,446 (1,748 (1,675
Revenues less transactibased expenses 2,067 1,895 1,674 1,690 1,522
Total operating expenses 1,313 1,207 984 994 891
Operating ncome 754 688 690 696 631
Net incane attributable to Nasdaq 414 385 352 387 395
Net income applicable to common stockholders 414 385 352 387 394
Per shae information:

Basic earnings per share $ 245 $ 230 $ 2.09 $ 220 $ 1.94

Diluted earnings per share $ 239 $ 225 $ 204 $ 215 $ 1.91

Cash dividends declared per common sPare $ 0.58 $ 0.52 $ 0.39 $ - 3% -

Weightedaverage common shares outstanding f
earnings per share:

Basic 168,926,73: 166,932,10: 168,254,65% 176,331,81¢ 202,975,62:
Diluted 173,018,84¢ 171,266,14¢ 172,587,87C 180,011,247 206,514,65¢
December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in millions)

Balance Sheets Data:

Cash and cash equivalents and financial investn $ 601 $ 587 $ 720 $ 785 $ 568
Total assefd®® 12,087 12,577 9,132 14,091 16,207
Total longterm liabilities 3,313 3,593 2,905 3,067 3,247
Total equity 5,794 6,184 5,209 4,986 4,729

@ We completed several acquisitions during the years ended Decginl#frl3, 2012, 2011 and 2010 and included the financial
results of such acquisitions in our consolidated financial statements from the respective acquisition dates.

@ We recordransactiorbasedevenues on a gross basis as revenues and record related expenses as taasedtéxpenses.

®  Cash dividends declared per common share of $0.58 for 2014, $0.52 for 2013 and $0.39 for 2012 reflect quarterly dividends |
share on our outstanding common st®®le e fiCash Di vi dends on Common Stock, 0 o
to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of the dividends.

@ Total assets included resale agreements,ratat value of $3.7 billion at Decembi&t, 2011 and $3.4 billion at Decemisdr,
2010. In September 2010, we launched a clearing service for the resale and repurchase agreement market.

®  Total assets decreased $5.0 billion at Decer@beP012 as compared to DecemBg&y 2011, primarily due to our new clearing
structure which significantly changed the nature and extent of the risk of INssdaq Nordic Clearinigp the event of a
memberdefault. As a result, we no longer record derivative positions or resale and repurchase agreements in the Consolidate
Balance Sheest

© Total assets increased $3.4 billion at December 31, 2013 as compared to December 31, 2012, primarily dueaseain inc
default funds and margin deposits, reflecting the implementation of our collateral management proce$éafmtagordic
Clearing business in 2013, and an increase in goodwill and intangible assets associated with the acquisitions of the TR
Comorate businesses and eSpeed in 2013.
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Item 7 . Management 6s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Con

The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of Nasdaq shouldhbe read i
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this AGrasMell as the discussion under
Al tleAn Ri sk Factors. o

Business Overview

We are a leading provider of trading, clearing, exchange technology, megukscurities listing, information and public
company services across six continents. Our global offerings are diverse and include trading and clearing across etutyssesss
access services, data products, financial indexes, capital formdtitiorss) corporate solutions and market technology products and
services. Our technology powers markets across the globe, supporting derivatives trading, clearing and settlemeny, ttadmgquit
fixed income trading and many other functions.

For further discussion of our business, éek tlem Busi ness. 0O

Business Environment

We serve listed companies, market participants and investors by providing derivative, commodities, cash equity, and fixed
income markets, thereby facilitating economic growth and corporate entrepreneurship. We provide market technology ts,exchange
clearhg organizations and central securities depositories around the world. We also offer companies and other organizations acces
innovative products and software solutions and services that increase transparency, mitigate risk, improve board efficiency a
facilitate better corporate governantiebroad terms, our business performance is impacted by a number of drivers including
macroeconomic events affecting the risk and return of financial assets, investor sentiment, government and privateasetsior dem
capital, the regulatory environment for capital markets, and changing technadotigularly in the financial services indust@ur
future revenues and net income will continue to be influenced by a number of domestic and international ecodarinicltrding:

A Trading volumes irquityderivative, cash equitgndfixed income currency and commoditieghich are driven
primarily by overall macroeconomic conditions;

A The number of companies seeking equity financing, which is affected by factors such as investor demand, the global
economy, availability of diverse sources of financing as well as tax and regulatory policies;

A The demand for information about, or accesur markets, which is dependent on the products we trade, our
importance as a liquidity center, and the quality and pricing of our data and access services;

A The demand by companies and other organizations for the products sold by our Corporates®ulsiness, which is
largely driven by the overall state of the economy and the attractiveness of our offerings;

A Thedemand for licensed exchange traded products and other financial products based on our indices as well as change
the underlying ssets associated with existing licensed financial products;

A The challenges created by the automation of market data consumption, including competition and the quickly evolving
nature of the data business;

A The outlook of our technology customers foritapmarket activity;

A Continuing pressure in transaction fee pricing due to intense competition in the U.S. and Europe;

A Competition for listings and trading related to pricing, product features and service offerings;

A Regulatory changes relating tmarket structure caffectingcertain types of instruments, transactions, pricing structures or
capital market participantand

A Technological advances and membersd demand for speed,

Currently our business driversaredefid by i nvestorsd and companiesd cauti ous

economic recovery. Although some major U.S. market indices reached record levels in 2014, European equity markets have not
performed as well and many remain below tipe&financial crisis highs. As the global economy continues to avoid the intermittent
crisis environments of 2010 through 2012, we are experiencing modest annual growth in many ofti@nsactional businesses.
Since a number of significant structuraldapolitical issues continue to confront the global economy, instability could return at any
time, resulting in an increased level of market volatility, oscillating trading volumes, and a return of market undartzntyast,

many of the largest custwers of our transactional businesses continue to adapt their business models as they address the
implementation of regulatory changes initiated following the global financial crisis. In 2014, the U.S. and Europearitgash equ
trading businessesxperienced modest increase in volume despite continued low volatility. For thethisSwas the first yearly
increase in volume since 20@ur equityderivative trading and clearing business experienced a decrease in volumes due to lower
market share in the U.&ndlower overall industry trading volumes in Europg#ositive momentum in the IPO market has carried over
from 2013.Steady performances by major stock market indices and consistently low volatility throughout 2014 helped to boost the
global IPO marketAdditional impacts on our business drivers included the international enactment and implementation of new
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legislative and regulatory initiatives, the adapting business models of our largest transactional business custonedrasshey
regulatory changs, the evolution of market participadttsading behavior, and the continued rapid progression and deployment of
new technology in the financial services industry. The business environment that influenced our financial performanteny 201
be charactézed as follows:

A

o 3o Do D>

)

b

A stronger pace of new equity issuance in the U.S. in 2014 with 189 IPOs on The NASDAQ Stock Market, up from 126
in 2013. IPO activity improved in the Nordics with 47 IPOs in 2014 compared to 14 IPOs in 2013 on the Nasdaqg Nordic
and Nadaq Baltic exchanges;

Average daily matched equity options volume for our three U.S. options exchanges desiightbeth 2014 compared

to 2013, while overall average daily U.S. options volume increagétl. Ihe decrease in our average daily matched
options volume was driven by a decrease in our combined matched market share for our three U.S. options exchanges
1.0 percentage point;

Average daily matched share volume for all of our U.S. cash equity markets increased by 11.3%, while aveka@ dail
share volume increased by 3.6% relative to 2013. Volatility, often a driver of volume levels, remained low Th2014.
increase in matched share voluwesdue to both higher U.S. consolidated volume and an increase in matched market
share from 18% in 2013(NASDAQ 15.6%; Nasdaqg BX 2.5%; Nasdag PSX 0.78602% in 2014(NASDAQ 17.1%;
Nasdaqg BX 2.5%; Nasdaq PSX 0.6%)

Continuous cost focus in the industry has further increased the growthasdacBasic product. The number of
NasdagBasic sibscribersncreased®8% in 2014compared to 2013

A 13.5% increase relative to 2013 in the average daily number of cash equity trades on our Nordic and Baltic exchange:
A 22.9% increase relative to 2013 in the SEK value of cash equity transamtions Nordic and Baltic exchanges

A decline 0f8.4% in the average daily number of options and futures contracts traded on our Nordic and Baltic exchange
relative to 2013

Intense competition among U.S. exchanges and dealeed systems for caglguity trading volume and strong
competition between multilateral trading facilities and exchanges in Europe for cash equity trading volume;

Globalization of exchanges, customers and competitors extending the competitive horizon beyond nationahnthrkets;

Mar ket trends requiring continued investment in techn
to a global financial industry, as increasing numbers of new companies are created, and as emerging countries show
ongoing interesin developing their financiaharkets
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Financial Summary

The followingtablesummarizes our financial performance for the year ended Dec&hp20X when compared with the

same period in 2@L The comparability of our results of operations betwegonted periods is impacted by the acquisitions of
eSpeed on June 28, 2013 and the TR Corporate businesses on
Treasurieso and fAAcquisition of theal So¢éstoonReBatioaoersseBu
d

of Note 4, fAAcquisitions and Divestiture, o to the consoli
Year Ended December 31, Percentage
2014 2013 Change
(in millions)
Revenues less transactibased expenses $ 2,067 $ 1,895 9.1%
Operating expenses 1,313 1,207 8.8%
Operating income 754 688 9.6%
Interest expense (117 (111 5.4%
Gain on sale ofhvestment security - 30 #
Asset impairment charges (49) (14) #
Income before income taxes 594 600 (2.0)%
Income tax provision 181 216 (16.2)%
Net income attributable to Nasdaq $ 414 $ 385 7.5%
Diluted earningper share $ 239 $ 2.25 6.2%

# Denotes a variance greater tlmrequal tal00.0%.

In countries with currencies other than the W@&lar, revenues and expenses are translated using monthly average exchange
rates. The following discussion of results of operations isolates the impact @wsegear foreign currency fluctuations to test
measure the comparability of operating results between periods. Operating results excluding the impact of foreign currency
fluctuations are calculated by translating the current per

Impacts associatadi t h fl uctuations in foreign cur7A.&®uoantyativeand di scus
Qualitative Disclosures about @520l approfiatelk 358 of B reveihubsdessy e ar e
transactiorbased expenses aff.%% of our operating income were derived in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, primarily the
Swedish Krona, Euro, Norwegian Krgriganish Kroneand British Pound

The following summarizes significant changes in our financial performance fgetineended Decemb8t, 204 when
compared with the same period in 201

A Revenues less transactibased expenséscreased $72million, or 9.1%, to $,067 million in 2014, compared with
$1895million in 2013, reflecting an operational increase P86 million andan unfavorable impact from foreign
exchange of 34 million. The increase in operational revenues was primarily due to an:

A increase in Corporate Solutions revena&$81 million reflecting higher revenues resulting from the acquisition
of the TR Corporatéusinesses in May 2013;

A increase irCash Equity Trading revenues less transadbiased expenses of $35 million, primarily from U.S. cash
equity trading;

P

increase in Dat®roductgevenues of $4 million, primarily from U.S. data pducts;

T

increase irFixed Income Currency and Commoditi@gadingand Clearingevenuedess transactichased
expensesf $22million, primarily reflecting the acquisition of eSpeed,;

A increase in Index Licensing and Services revenues of $15 mplionarily due to higher assets under
management and product growth;

T

increase in Market Technology revenues d ghillion, primarily from highersoftware as a service revenuasd

A increase irListing Services revenues $12 million, primarily due ¢ increases in both new listings and the
number of listed companigpartially offset by;

A adecrease in Equity Derivative Trading and Clearing revenues less transasishexpenses of $11 million,
primarily from U.S. equity derivative trading and &lang less transactidnased expenses.

A Operating expenses increasdd6 million, or 8.8%fo0 $1,313million in 2014, compared with $,207million in 2013,
reflecting an operational increase dfl% million and afavorable impact from foreign exchange$d 0 million. The
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increase in operational expenses was primarily due to additional overall expense associated with our acquisitions of the
TR Corporate businesses in May 2013 and eSpeed in June 2013, higher occupancy expense ®laledse bss
reserve recorded in 2014nd higher merger and strategic initiatives expense. Partially offsetting these increases were
expenses recorded during 2013 consisting of restructuring charges, expense related to our voluntary accommodation
program, and $10 milliorelated to an SEC matter.

A Interest expense increasegirillion, or 5.4%, to $17 million in 2014, compared with $11million in 2013, primarily
duet o the issuance of U600 million aggregate principal
2021 Notes, in June 2013 and the issuance of $500 million of 4.25% senior unsecured notes due June theZi?24, or
Notes in May 2014, patially offset by the early extinguishment $400million aggregate principal amount 4f00%
senior notes due 2016rthe 2015Notes in June 2014, the repayment of 2.50% convertible senior notes in August 2013,
and lower outstanding balances on oudirtacilities. See Not, fA De bt Otb the cgresdlidatedfisancial
statementgor further discussion.

A Gain on sale of investment security of $30 million in 2013 rdltiehe sale of our availabler-sale investment secuyit
in Dubai Finan@l Market PJSCor DFM.

A Asset impairment charges $49 million in 2014 related to certain acquired intangible assets associated with customer
relationships ($38 millionandcertain technology assets11 million). Asset impairment charges2013 of 4 million
related to certain acquired intangible assets assatiatth customer relationships ($7 million) and a certain trade name
($7 million).

A Income tax provisiomecreased $5 million, or 16.2%, in 2014 compared with 2013, primarily dteea decrease in
unrecognized tax benefits 2014 compared with 2013.

These current and prior year items are discussed in more detail below.

Excluding asset impairment charge®erger and strategic initiatives expermgblease loss reserves, extinguishment of debt,
gain on sale of investmesécurity,our voluntary accommodation prograxpensegexpenses paid with respect to an SEC matter,
restructuring charges, and other items that are not reflective of our coreskysentormance, net of taxemnGAAP consolidated
net income attributable tod$dadfor the year endeBecembeB1, 204 was$499 million, or $.88 per dilutedshare comparedvith
$445 million, or $260 per diluted share, for the year ended DecerBieR0B. Se eGAMANR nFi nanci al Measur ¢
further discussion.

2015 Outlook

Forthe seventh year in a row, more share value traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market than on any other single cash equitie
exchange in the world. The economic environment remained relatively stable in 2014, although economic and politicalyuncertain
continue to weigh on the global economy, particularly in Europe, and the debate over future fiscal and monetary pdlic$.ianthe
Europe continues. By traditional measures, it was also a difficult year for the exchange business. After reachinggdrigdllin
2009, U.S. cash equity trading volume fell four consecutive years, finally experiencing a small increaseTira2idigtvolume in
many nations around the world continues to be driven by volatility associated with the global financialteeisas in only a few
placessuch as the U.Sis volume driven byhe prospects for sustained economic growth. While tbeauic view may be that the
worst of the financial crisis has passed, robust economic growth has yet to develop, particularly inTherédkin oil prices may
negatively impact the economics of-e#porting nations, some of which have exchanges uyim technologyConsequently,

Nasdachas intentionally structured its organization to account for the highly cyclical nature of our industry. By diversifying our
earnings through the sale of Corporate Solutions, Access Services, Market Technologyagnodeats, and by delivering on cost
savingsNasdachas been able to provide stable revenues and operating income during these tough conditions. Should 2015 preser
equally difficult environment, we believe our organization is positively positionedrtpete

We launched several important initiatives during 2013 and 2014 that we expect to benefit us during the ongoing challenging an
competitive economic environment. In May 2013, we completed our acquisitionTdRt@®rporate businessashich provde insight,
analytics and communications solutions. These complementary businesses have been integratedorporate Solutions business,
which is part of ouiTechnology Solutions segment,dffer a comprehensive portfolio of technoledsiven soluions to more than
10,000 clients worldwidaNe continue to leverage the opportunities in our Corporate Solutions and Market Technology businesses b
offering new products to our expanding customer base and by strengthening our direct relationshipsenétistboners

Additionally, in June 2013 we acquired the eSpeed platform, which operates a fully executable central limit order book for
electronic trading in benchmark U.S. Treasuries, one of the largest and most liquid cash markets in the wodd)et@bliter new
markets with a lowcost platform available to both existing and new clients, while creating additional sales opportunities for both our
Market Services and Data Products businegaasng 2014 we moval eSpeed onto Nasdatfrastructureand into Nasdaq data
centers to reduce costs and make these products more accessible to market participants. We also expanded the rargswf/U.S. Tr
Securities traded on the eSpeed platform.
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During 2014, the U.S. IPO market experienced its best yeee 2000and he Nordic IPO market experienced its best year
since 2007. Both markets benefitted from relatively low volatility and several years of gains ymeaiéts. The U.S. also
continues to benefit from t2012 Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or JOBS Act, wiashntended to encourage companies to
seek access to public capital through an IPO. While the direction of the markets and-tieenoeffects of the JOBS Act remain to
be seen, the overallrengtrend inIPOs may be a positive sign for 2018e expect the continued demand for public equity capital
from companies experiencing a gradual return of economic growth and favorable valuations in 2014. Our expectationss that acro
board as somanational economies and specific industries offer better prospects to investors tharf-attieesmore, an improved
outlook for equity investments and the number of private companies seeking capital could positively impact the IPOhg2pdline i

During 2015, we expect to confront changes in both the competitive and regulatory environments. In November 2013, ICE
completed its acquisition of NYSE Euronextdin 2014 theyspun off Euronext via an IPO. In early 2014, BATS merged with Direct
Edge, creatig a holding company with four equity platforms that currently execute roughly the same amount of vallasdaadp s
three U.Scashequity platformsAs new management in both organizations implement stigitegy bothof these transactions have
the potatial to affect the competitive environment we face.

European regulators are currently moving forward on a number of new policies affecting the operation and infrastrueture of th
financial markets. The implementation of EMIR is changing the way we steuahal operate the Nordic clearinghouse. MiR|[as
well as the new regulations in MiF]Riill change the way our trading business willerate anavill createbothchallenges to our
existing businesses and new opportunities for groktl.implementatn of these regulations will take several years and
consequently create an uncertain environment for our businesses.

Finally, our clients are confronting significant regulatory changes in both the U.S. and Europe as regulations resulting from
legislation n the aftermath of the financial crisis are implemented. We expect global markets to continue to be marked by significan
change in 2015, driven primarily by regulatory initiatives in the U.S. and Europe. These policy changes could resohimtleel c
fragmentation of cash equity markets into additional venues, and trading could continue to migrate from exchanges ter@[ C syst
particularly in the U.S. Conversely, trading in OTC derivatives could begin to move onto exchanges and other exectigisn facili

Any further expansion of the global economyhe year ahead may be positive for our business drivers and our operations. We
believe that our continuous aggressive steps in meeting our cost, revenue, and technology objectives will enableitufscio laeryef
improving economic conditions in 2015. We will continue to look for opportunities to further diversify our business wiiteenha
product offerings and/or acquisitions that are complementary to our eXistsngesses.

Business Segments

SinceJanuaryl, 2013, we manage, operate and provide our products and services in four business segments: Market Service
Listing Services, Information Services and Technology Solutiongridt period segment disclosures have been recast to reflect our
change in reportable segments. Certain other prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current yeanpresentati

Prior to January 1, 2013, we managed, operated and provided our products and services in three business segments: Market
Servies, Issuer Services and Market Technology.

SeeNote 1, Orf@janization and Nature of Operationd8 t o t he consolidated financi al st
reportable segments.

Sources of Revenues antransaction-Based Expenses

See ARevenue TRasadigiBaisteido NExaprdns e s2 0 ®Summary of Significa
consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our sources of revenues and trarsseti@xpenses.
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Key Drivers

The following table includes key drivers for our Market Services, Listing Services, and Technology Solutions segments. In
evaluating the performance of our business, our senior management closebstiegsé key drivers.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Market Services
Equity Derivative Trading and Clearing
U.S. Equity Options
Total industry average daily volume (in millions) 15.3 14.8 14.7
Nasdaq PHLX matched market share 16.0% 18.2% 21.3%
The NASDAQ Options Markahatched market share 10.0% 8.7% 5.5%
Nasdaq BX Options Market matched market share 0.9% 1.0% 0.4%
Total matched market share executed on Nasdag's exchanges 26.9% 27.9% 27.2%
Nasdag Nordic and Nasdag Baltic options and futures
Total average daily volume options and futures contracts 358,141 390,816 367,599
Cash Equity Trading
Total U.S:listed securities
Total average daily share volume (in billions) 6.41 6.19 6.44
Matched share volume (in billions) 326.0 292.9 334.1
Matchedmarket share executed on NASDAQ 17.1% 15.6% 17.0%
Matched market share executed on Nasdaq BX 2.5% 2.5% 2.7%
Matched market share executed on Nasdag PSX 0.6% 0.7% 1.1%
Total matched market share executed on Nasdag's exchanges 20.2% 18.8% 20.8%
Market share reported to the FINRA/NASDAQ Trade Reporting Facility 30.3% 33.5% 31.4%
Total market shafe 50.5% 52.3% 52.2%
Nasdag Nordic and Nasdaqg Baltic securities
Average daily number of equity trades 351,772 309,967 324,322
Total average daily value of shatesded (in billions) $ 48 $ 43 % 3.9
Total market share executed on Nasdaq's exchanges 71.5% 68.6% 68.7%
Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities Trading and Clearing
Total U.S-fixed income
Total average daily volume On the Run U.S. Treasury contracts (in billions) 2254 203.0 -
Total market share 32.9% 35.0% -
Nasdag Nordic and Nasdag Baltic fixed income
Total average daily volume fixed incoroentracts 98,948 128,290 130,265
Nasdag Commodities
Power contracts cleared (TWh) 1,564 1,680 1,703
Listing Services
Initial public offerings

NASDAQ 189 126 72

Exchangeshat comprise Nasdag Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic 47 14 6
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New listings
NASDAQ® 327 239 158
. . Ralti
Exchanges that comprise Nasdaq Nordic and Nasdaq ®altic 72 34 18
Number of listed companies
NASDAQ® 2,782 2,637 2,577
Exchanges that comprise Nasdaqg Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic 792 758 754
Technology Solutions
Market Technology
Order intake (in milliong) $ 311 $ 325 $ 273
Total order value (in millions) $ 704 $ 660 $ 565

1)
@)

(©)
4

)

(6)
@)

®)
(9)

Includes Finnish option contracts traded on EUREX.

I ncludes transactions executed on NASDAQds, Nasdaqgq BXds
FINRA/NASDAQ Trade Report Facility.

Primarily transactions executed on Nord Pool and reported for clearing to Nasdagq Commodities measured by TWh.

New listings include IPOs, including those completed on a best efforts basis, issuers that switched from other listing venues
closedend funds and parately listed ETFs.

New listings include IPOs and represent companies listed on the Nasdaqg Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic exchanges and companie
the alternative markets of Nasdaq First North.

Number of listed companies for NASDAQ at period gndluding separately listed ETFs.

Represents companies listed on the Nasdaq Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic exchanges and companies on the alternative markets
Nasdagq First North at period end.

Total contract value of orders signed during theqakri

Represents total contract value of signed orders that are yet to be recognized as revenue. Market Technology deferred reven
as discussed in Note 8, ADeferred Revenue, 0 to tktatisconsc
yet to be recognized as revenue for these signed orders.
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Of our total 2014 revenues less transacbased expensed $2,067 million, 39.4% was from our Market Services segment,
11.5% was from our Listing Services segnt,22.9% was from our Information Services segment 26@% was from our
Technology Solutions segment. Of our total 2013 revenues less trandzadih expenses of $1,895 million, 41.0% was from our
Market Services segment, 12.0% was from our ListieyiBes segment, 23.0% was from our Information Services segment and
24.0% was from our Technology Solutions segm@fibur total 2012 revenues less transaehased expenses of $1,674 million,
45.4% was from our Market Services segment, 13.4% was fuorhisting Services segment, 23.9% was from our Information
Services segment and 17.3% was from our Technology Solutions segment.

The following table shows our revenues by segment, transdudised expenses for our Market Services segment and total
revenues less transactibased expenses:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201% 2013 vs. 201:
(in millions)

Market Services $ 2247 $ 2,092 $ 2,206 7.4% (5.2)%
Transactiorbased expenses (1,433 (1,316 (1,446 8.9% (9.0)%
Market Services revenues less transaetiaged expenses 814 776 760 4.9% 2.1%
Listing Services 238 228 224 4.4% 1.8%
Information Services 473 436 400 8.5% 9.0%
Technology Solutions 542 455 290 19.1% 56.9%
Total revenues less transactibased expenses $ 2,067 $ 1,895 $ 1,674 9.1% 13.2%
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The following table shows total revenues less transatiimed expenses from our Market Services segment:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201% 2013 vs. 201:
(in millions)
Market Services Revenues:
Equity Derivative Trading and Clearing Revenue® $ 525 $ 514 $ 507 2.1% 1.4%
Transactiorbased expenses:
Transaction rebates (285] (259, (250) 10.0% 3.6%
Brokerage, clearance and exchangetfees (32) (33) (34) (3.0)% (2.9)%
Equity derivative trading and clearing revenues less
transaction-based expenses 208 222 223 (6.3)% (0.4)%
Cash Equity Trading Revenue® 1,335 1,212 1,369 10.1% (11.5)%
Transactiorbased expenses:
Transactiorrebates (780 (743 (854, 5.0% (13.0)%
Brokerage, clearance and exchange@ees (332 (279 (308 19.0% (9.4)%
Cash equity trading revenues less transactichased
expenses 223 190 207 17.4% (8.2)%
Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities Trading and
Clearing Revenues 130 111 73 17.1% 52.1%
Transactiorbased expenses:
Brokerage, clearance and exchange fees (4) (2) - # #
Fixed income, currency and commodities trading and
clearing revenues less transactichased expenses 126 109 73 15.6% 49.3%
Access and Broker Services Revenues 257 255 257 0.8% (0.8)%
Total Market Services revenues less transaction
based expenses $ 814 $ 776 $ 760 4.9% 2.1%

# Denotes a variance equal to or greater than 100.0%.

@ Includes SectioB1 fees of 88 million in 2014, $27 million in 2013 and 82 million in 2012. Section31 fees are recorded as
equityderivative trading and clearing revenues with a corresponding amount recotdetsactiorbased expenses

@ Includes SectioB1 fees of 806 million in 2014, $243million in 2013 and 77 million in 2012. Section31 fees are recorded
as cash equity trading revenues with a corresponding amount recotcitsactiorbased expenses

Market Services

Market Services revenues less transaetiased expenses increased in both 2014 compatie@®13 and 2013 compared with
2012.The increase in 2014 was primarily due to an increase in both cash equity trading revenues less tizarsadtexpenses and
fixed income, currency and commodities trading and clearing revenues less trafsastidexpenses, partially offset by a decline in
equity derivative trading and clearing revenues less transadieed expensellarket Services revenues included an unfavorable
impact from foreign exchange of $12 million in 2014. The increase in 2013 waarilyidue to additional revenues less transaetion
based expenses from our fixed incomarency and commoditigeadingand clearingusinessand a favorable impact from foreign
exchange of $6 million, partially offset by a decline in cash equity tragivenues less transactibased expenses.

Equity Derivative Trading and Clearing Revenues

Equity derivative trading and clearing revenues increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared Wit 2012.
increase in 2014 was primarily due toiaarease in U.S. industry trading volumes, partially offset by an unfavorable impact from
foreign exchange of $3 milliohe increase in 2013 was primarily dueatooverall increase in market share at our three U.S. options
exchanges and higher industrgding volumespartially offset by a decrease in Section 31 ghssugh fee revenue.
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Equity derivative trading and clearing revenues less transdatised expenses decreased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and
2013 compared with 2012. The decreasedbLwasprimarily due to declines in U.S. average net capture and overall market share at
our three U.S. options exchanges and an unfavorable impact from foreign exch@fgelladn, partially offset by an increase in
industry trading volumes

Section31 fees are recorded as equity derivative trading and clearing revenues with a corresponding amount recorded as
transactiorbased expenses. In the U.S., we are assessed these fees from the SEC and pass them through to our customers in the
of incremental fees. Since the amount recorded as revenues is equal to the amount recorded as-bassdeig@enses, there is no
impact on our revenues less transactiased expenses. Sect®h fees were $28 million in 2014, $27 million in 2013 and $32
million in 2012.Theincreasan 2014 comparedith 2013 was primarily due to higher dollar value traded. The decrease in 2013
compared with 2012 was primarily due to lower pimsugh fee rates.

Transaction rebates, in which we credit a portion of #irespare execution charge to the market participant, increased in both
2014 compared to 2013 and 2013 compared to 2012. The increase in 2Qdr#neaity due to an increase in overall rebate capture
rates and an increase in U.S. industry trading volupaesially offset by a decrease in overall market share at our three U.S. options
exchangesThe increase in 2013 was primarily dueattincrease iroverall market share at our three U.S. options exchanges and
slightly higher industry trading volumes.

Brokerage, clearance and exchange fees decreased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared kadgth 2012.
decrease in 2014 is primarily due to a decrease in routing costs due to lower volume routed, partially offset by ain iBertiase
31 pasghrough fees. The decrease in 2013 was primarily due to lower Section 2hnoasggh fees, partially offset by an increase in
routing costs.

Cash Equity Trading Revenues

Cash equity trading revenues increased in 2014 compared with 2013 and decr2@&8compared with 201Zhe increase
in 2014 was primarily due to an increase in Section 31-thmsagh fees and an increase in overall U.S. matched market share,
partially offset by lower U.S. revenue capture and an unfavorable impact from foreigm@xatis2 million.The decrease in 2013
was primarily due to declines in U.S. industry trading volumes and our U.S. matched market share, and a decreas@1npasstion
through fees.

Cash equity trading revenues less transadimsed expenses incredsn 2014 compared with 2013 and decreased in 2013
compared with 2012T'he increase in 2014 was primarily due to an increase in our overall U.S. matched market share, higher industt
trading volumes, partially offset by an unfavorable impact from foreiginange of $2 millioriThe decrease in 2013 was primarily
due to declines in industry trading volumes and declines in our overall U.S. matched market share, partially offsetaifen favo
impact from foreign exchange of $3 million.

Similar to equity dexiative trading and clearing, in the U.S. we record Se@&lofees as cash equity trading revenues with a
corresponding amount recorded as transadigsed expenses. We are assessed these fees from the SEC and pass them through to
customers in the fon of incremental fees. Since the amount recorded as revenues is equal to the amount recorded as-baseaction
expenses, there is no impact on our revenues less trandaatiet expenses. Sectidh fees were $306 million in 2014, $243 million

in 2013and $277 million in 2012Theincreasen 2014was pri mar i ly due t o hi gher dol |l ar
partially offset by lower pasthrough fee rateS.he decrease in 2013 compared with 2012 was primarily due to lower dollar volume
traded on Nasdaqodés tr atldughdeesitgsst ems and | ower pass

For NASDAQ and Nasdaq PSX, we credit a portion of the per share execution charge to the market participant that provides
liquidity and for Nasdaq BX, we credit a portion of the pearehexecution charge to the market participant that takes the liquidity.
These transaction rebates increased in 2014 compared with 2013 and decreased in 2013 comparedThighr2dd@sdn 2014
was primarily due t@n increase in our overall U.S. mag¢c market share and higher U.S. industry trading volumes, partially offset
by a decline in rebate captufighedecreasén 2013 wasprimarily due to a decline in U.S. industry trading volumes and our U.S.
matched market share.

Brokerage, clearance andcivange fees increased in 2014 compared with 2013 and decreased in 2013 compared with 2012. T
increase in 2014 wawimarily due to an increase in Section 31 plssugh fees, partially offset by a decrease in routing costs due to
lower volume routedThe decrease in 2013 was primarily due to a decrease in Sattjmasghrough fees and a decrease in the
amount of volume routed by NASDAQ due to declines in U.S. industry trading volumes and our U.S. matched market share.
Brokerage, clearance and exchafegs in 2012 also include income of $11 million from open positions relating to the operations of
the exchange.

Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities Trading and Clearing Revenues

Fixed incomecurrency and commoditiesadingand clearingevenues lesansactiorbased expens@screased in both 2014
compared with 2013 and 2013 compared with 20’h2 increases were primarily duettansaction fees generated from our eSpeed
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electronic benchmark U.S. Treasury trading platform that was acquired oB8IL2@&13. Se@Acquisition of eSpeed for Trading of

U.S. TreasuriesoO Nof e 4, fAAcquisitions and Divestiture, 06 to the con
increase in 2014 was also dueatbincrease in other revenues and feaaaily due to higher clearing revenugsrtialy offset by a

decline in shorterm futures and options interest product revenues due to lower volume, the impact of Nasdaq NLX trading incentive
and an unfavorable impact from foreign exchange of $5 millio

Access and Broker Services Revenues

Access and Broker Services revenues increased in 2014 compared with 2013 and decreased in 2013 compared with 2012. T
increase in 2014 was primarily due to increased revenues from the addition of hosting rébeeme&peedvhich was acquireth
June 2013. Access and Broker Serviea&nues included an unfavorable impact from foreign exchange of $2 million inTAgd.4.
decrease in 2013 was primarily due to declines in customer demand for network connecticig spartially offset by increased
revenues from the addition of eSpeed hosting revenues and new products.

LISTING SERVICES
The following table shows revenues from our Listing Services segment:

Year Ended Decembei31, Percentage Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201% 2013 vs. 201:
(in millions)
Listing Services revenues $ 238 $ 228 $ 224 4.4% 1.8%

Listing Services

Listing Services revenues increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared withe2dtPeas in 2014was
primarily due to an increase in both U.S. and European listing services revenues. The increase in U.S. listing semvésefreven
2014wasprimarily due to increases in both initial listing and annual listing fees reflecting an increese listings and the number
of listed companies. The number of NASDAQ listed companies was 2,782 as of December 31, 2014 compared with 2,637 as of
December 31, 2013. Partially offsetting the increase in U.S. listing services revenues in 2014 wasaiddistegsof additional
shares feed'he increase in European listing services revenues in 2014 was driveiinbye@sdn the number of listed companies
and higher market capitalization, partially offset by an unfavorable infigantforeign exchangef $2 million. The increase in 2013
was due to higher market capitalization and a favorable impact from foreign exchange of $2 million.

INFORMATION SERVICES
The following table shows revenues from our Information Services segment:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201! 2013 vs. 201:
(in millions)
Information Services Revenues:
Data Products revenues $ 384 $ 362 $ 337 6.1% 7.4%
Index Licensing and Services revenues 89 74 63 20.3% 17.5%
Total Information Services revenues $ 473 $ 436 $ 400 8.5% 9.0%

Information Services

Information Services revenues increased in R6th4 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared with 2012 due to incheases
both Data Products and Index Licensing and Services revenues.

Data Products Revenues

Data products revenues increased in both 2014 compared to 2013 and 2013 compared to 2012. The increases were primarily
to higher customer demand for U.S. proprietary data products, select pricing initiatives, and an increase in revenues due to the
acquisition of eSpeed, which was completed on June 28,3083 A Acqui si ti on of eSpeed for Tr
AAcquisitions and Divestiture, 0 to t he Loveraulibcbllecdoasganddn f i nanc
unfavorable impact from foreign exchange of $2 million, partially offset the increase in Data Products revenuewml@bigher
audit collections and favorable impact from foreign exchange of $3 milleomtributed to the increase in 2013.
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Index Licensing and Services Revenues

Index Licensing and Services revenues increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 20Iceithp2012 due to an
increase in the value of underlying assets associated with Nhselased ETFs and other financial products due to product growth
and newly executed product licenses. The increase in 2013 was also due to our acquisition of thsimekes<of Mergent, Inc.,
including Indxis, in December 2012.

TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS
The following table shows revenues from our Technology Solutions segment:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201: 2013 vs. 201:
(in millions)
Technology Solutions Revenues:
Corporate Solutions revenues $ 314 $ 230 $ 89 36.5% #
Market Technology revenues 228 225 201 1.3% 11.9%
Total Technology Solutions revenues $ 542 $ 455 $ 290 19.1% 56.9%

# Denotes a variance greater than 100.0%.

Technology Solutions

Technology Solutions revenues increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared with 2012 due to increases
both Corporate Solutions and Market Technology revenues. Technology Solutions revenues included an unfavorable impact from
foreign exchage of $8 million in 2014 and a favorable impact from foreign exchan§é mwillion in 2013.

Corporate Solutions Revenues

Corporate Solutions revenues increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared with 2012. The increase in 2(
was primary due tothe acquisition of the TR Corporate businesses completed on May 31, 2013, an increase in the number of client
utilizing Directors Desk, expanding customer utilization of GlobeNewswire productsfamdrable inpact from foreign exchange of
$3 nillion. The increase in 2013 was primarily due to the acquisition of the TR Corporate businesses and expanding customer
utilization of our public relations products. See Uikse qui si
Bushesses of Thomson Reuters, o of Note 4, fAAcquisitions and
discussion of our acquisition of the TR Corporate businesses.

Market Technology Revenues

Market Technology revenues increased ithii2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared with 2012. The increases were
primarily due to operational increasessoftware as a service revenussftware license and support revenaed advisoryevenues
reflecting increased customer demaRalrtially offsetting the 2014 increase was a decrease in change request revenues and an
unfavorable impact from foreign exchange of $11 million. Market Technology revenues refldatentable impact from foreign
exchangef $4 million in 2013.

Total Order Value

As of DecembeB1, 2014, total order value, which represents the total contract value of orders signed that are yet to be
recognized as revenues, was $704 million. Market Technology deferred revenue, included in the total Technology Soluédns defe
revenue of$247million, represents consideration received that is yet to be recognized as revenue for these signed orders. See Note
ADeferred Revenue, 0 to the consolidated financi alreventeat e men
depends on many factors, including those that are not within our control. As such, the following table of Market Techrexiags r
to be recognized in the future represents our best estimate:
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Total Order Value

(in millions)
Fiscal year ended:
2015 $ 188
2016 172
2017 119
2018 88
2019 54
2020 and thereafter 83
Total $ 704
Expenses
Operating Expenses
The following table shows our operating expenses:
Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201:
(in millions)

Compensation and benefits $ 588 $ 539 $ 454 9.1% 18.7%
Marketing and advertising 32 30 26 6.7% 15.4%
Depreciation and amortization 137 122 104 12.3% 17.3%
Professional and contract services 157 151 107 4.0% 41.1%
Computer operations and datmmunications 92 82 60 12.2% 36.7%
Occupancy 110 98 93 12.2% 5.4%
Regulatory 27 30 34 (20.0)% (11.8)%
Merger and strategic initiatives 81 22 4 # #
General, administrative and other 89 80 58 11.3% 37.9%
Restructuring charges - 9 44 # (79.5)%
Voluntary accommodation program - 44 - # #

Total operating expenses $ 1313 $ 1,207 $ 984 8.8% 22.7%

# Denotes a variance equal to or greater than 100.0%.

Total operating expenses increased $106 million in 2014 compared with 2013 ra@adédc$223 million in 2013 compared
with 2012. The increase in 20tdflects an operational increase of 8Million, partially offset by davorableimpactfrom foreign
exchange 0$10 million The operational increase in 2014 was primarily due to additional overall expense associated with our
acquisitions of the TR Corporate businesses in May 2013 and eSpeed in June 2013, higher merger and strategic initiaéyes expe
higher occupancy expenseflecting asublease loss reserve recorded in 2@hd, loss on debt extinguishment. Partially offsetting
these increases were expenses recorded during 2013 consisting of restructuring charges, expense related to our voluntary
accommodation program, and@million related to an SEC mattdihe increase in 2013 reflects an operational increase of $214
million and unfavorable impact from foreign exchange of $9 million. The operational increase in 2013 was primarily diierialadd
overall expense assoaal with our acquisitions of the TR Corporate businesses and eSpeed, the voluntary accommodation program
expense, higher merger and strategic initiatives expense, and expenses paid with respect to an SEC matter, partialy offset b
decrease in restructng charges.

Compensation and benefits expense increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared with 2012. The increas
2014 was primarily due to an operational increases@fiillion, partially offset by davorableimpact from foreign exchangs $8
million. The operational increase primarily refleatiditional salary expense resulting from our acquisitions of the TR Corporate
businesses and eSpeed, as well as higher-bhaesl compensation expense due to thegrof the issuance of our 2013 equity
awardsSe e Not e -BlaZs,e dii SChoammpee ns at i o n, The idcrease ifi 2013 wasgnmardyidigse coas aperational
increase of $81 million and an unfavorable impact from foreign exchange of $4 milieropErational increase primarily reflects
additional salary expense due to our acquisitions of the TR Corporate businesses,B®jseeih May 2012 and NOS Clearing in
July 2012, as well as higher compensation expense reflecting increased financiahgect Partially offsettingthe 2013 increases
were lower salary costs due to workforce reductmia57 positionsacross our organization related to restructuring actions beginning
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in the first quarter of 2012 through the first quarter of 28&adcout, including staff employed at consolidated entities where we
have a controlling financial interest, increase®,687 employees at December 31, 2014 from 3,365 at December 31, 2013.
Headcount was 2,506 at December 31, 2012.

Marketing and advertising pense increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared with 2012. The increase in
2014 was primarily due to increased advertising on behalf of new issuers and our rebranding initiative. The increasa 2013
primarily due to increased advesitig on behalf of new issuers.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared with 2012. The incre
in both periods was primarily due to additional amortization expense associated with acquiredéntessgils, primarily relating to
our acquisitions of the TR Corporate businesses and eSpeed, as well as increased depreciati@ssxgates witsoftware
development

Professional and contract services expense increased in both 2014 compared3vithd2R013 compared with 2012. The
increase in both periods was primarily dogevenuerelated costs incurred as a result of our acquisition of the TR Corporate
businesses, costs incurred for legal expeardshe launclef new initiatives The revenugelated costs are primarily due to the
production and delivery of webcast events as well as other events and services.

Computer operations and data communications expense increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared wi
2012. The increada 2014 was primarilglue to highesoftware development expenditugggnarily associated with our Technology
Solutions businesses and additional expensaesu#t of our acquisitions of the TR Corporate businesses and eSpeed. The increase i
2013 was primarily due to additional expense as a result of our acquisitions of the TR Corporate businesses aasl w&med
highercommunication line costs.

Occpancy expense increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared with 2012. The increase in 2014 was
primarily due to an $11 million sublease loss reserve charge on space we currently occupy due to excess capacity €lihe increas
2013 was primaly due to additional costs related to our acquisition of the TR Corporate businesses.

Merger and strategic initiatives expense was $81 million in 2014 compared with $22 million in 2013 and $4 million in 2012.
Merger and strategic initiatives expense f012 wasprimarily related to our acquisitions of the TR Corporate businesses and eSpeed
and a charge of $23 million related to the reversalretaivable under a tax sharing agreement with an unrelated lpleryer and
strategic initiatives expense f@013primarily related to our acquisitions of the TR Corporate businesses and eSpeed. The costs
incurred in 2013 were partially offset by a credit of $23 million associated with a receivable under a tax sharing agréeament
unrelated party and the reasurement of a contingent purchase price liability related to the BWise acquisition due to changes in the
anticipated performance of BWidderger and strategic initiatives expense for 2012 primarily related to our agreement to acquire the
TR Corporate bsinesses and costs related to other acquisitions and strategic initiatives, partially offset by a gain on our acquisition
NOS Clearing in July 2012.

General, administrative and other expense increased in both 2014 compared with 2013 and 2013 cdamgadet Whe
increase in 2014 was primarily dueadditional expense associated with our acquisitions of the TR Corporate businesses in May 201
and eSpeed in June 2013, an $11 million loss on extinguishment of debt in 20&4,aridvorable impact fro foreign exchange of
$3 million in 2014 Partially offsetting this increase was $10 million of expenséeel@ an SEC matter incurred in 20T8e
increase in 2013 was primarily due to expenses paid with respect to an SE@h&ittemillion, additimal expenses related to the
acquisitions of the TR Corporate businesses and eSpeed, the ¢tdunaeh initiatives, anén unfavorable impact from foreign
exchange of $3 milion See AEarly Extingui shment of 2015ANeb&esO®bhihdatf?
consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our debt extinguishment.

Restructuring charges were $9 million in 2013 and $44 million in 20LR restructuring program was completed in the first
quarter of 2013See Note3 , ARestructuring Charges, 0 to the consolidated
charges recorded during 2013 and 2012.

Voluntary accommodation program expense of $44 million in 2013 relates to thienengrogram for viuntary
accommodatiosto qualifying members of up to $62 milliofar which a liability was recordedthenthe program was approved by
the SEC in March 2013. This program expanded the pool available to compensate members of The NASDAQ Stock Market for
quaified losses arising directly from the system issues experienced with the Facebook IPO that occurred on MayAf&r2012.
claims were reviewedyur liability was reduced t$44 million andpayment of valid claims totaling $44 million was made in the
fourth quarter of 2013.
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Non-operating Income and Expenses
The following table shows our negperating income and expenses:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2017 2013 vs. 201
(in millions)

Interest income $ 6 $ 9 $ 10 (33.3)% (10.0)%
Interest expense (117, (111 (97) 5.4% 14.4%
Net interest expense (111 (102 (87) 8.8% 17.2%
Gain on sale of investment security - 30 - # #
Asset impairment charges (49) (14) (40) # (65.0)%
Loss ondivestiture of business - - (14) - #
Net loss from unconsolidated investees - (2) 1) # #
Total nonoperating expenses $ (160 $ (88) $ (142 81.8% (38.0)%

# Denotes a variance equal to or greater than 100.0%.

Total noroperating expenses were $160 million in 2014 compared withri88n in 2013 and $142 million in 201Zotal
nonoperating expenses for 2014 inclddet interest expense of $111 million and asset impairment charges of $49 million. Total
nonroperating expenses for 2013 primarily inclddet interest expense of $164llion and asset impairment charges of $14 million,
partially offset by a gainf $30million on the sale of our availabfer-sale investment security DFM. Total noroperating
expenses for 2012 primarily includleet interest expense of $87 million, asset impairment charges of $40 million and a loss on
divestiture of business of $14 million.

Interest Income

Interest income decreasidboth 204 compared with 2013 and 2013 compared with 2012. The decreasqwiwengly due
to lower average cashnd financial investmentslancs as well as a decrease in shiemm interest rates

Interest Expense

Interest expense for 2014 was $117 milliand was comprised of $110 million of interest expensen#i®dn of non-cash debt
issuance amortization expense, $1 million of4sash expense associated with the accretion of debt discounts, and $3 million of other
bank and investmemtlated feesinterest expense increased in 2014 compared with god@rily due to théssuance of our 2021
Notes in June 2013 and the issuance of our 2024 Notes in May 2014, partially offset by the early extinguishment of ot@s2015 n
June 2014, the repayment of our 2.50% convertible senior notes in August 2013, and lower outsttamtiag bn our 201dedit
facility.

Interest expense for 2013 was $Tiillion, and was comprised of $1@illion of interest expense, $3 million of n@ash
expense associated with accretion of debt discountsjl$8n of noncash debt issuance amodiion expense, and $4 million of
other bank and investmergllated fees. Interest expense increased in 2013 compared with 2012 primarily due to the issuance of the
2021 Notes in June 20;1Bartially offset by the repayment of our 2.50% convertible semitasnin August 2013

See Note 9, ADebt Obligations, 0 to the consolidated fi nce

Gain on Sale of Investment Security

In the fourth quarter of 2013, we sold an availablesale investment securifgr $48 millionand recorded a gaof $30
million on the sale, which is net of costs directly related to the sale, primarily broker fees.

Asset Impairment Charges

Asset im@irment charges of $49 million in 2014 related ®&88 million non-cash intangible asset impairment charge
associated with customer relationships an§11million noncashasset impairment charge relatectcéstain technology assetssset
impairment chrges of $14 million in 2013 related to rRoash intangible asset impairment charges related to certain acquired
intangible assets associated with customer relationships ($7 million) and a certain trade name ($7ImH#0d2). we recorded nen
cash inangible asset impairment charges totaling $28 million related to certain acquired intangible assets associated wijly technolo
($19 million), customer relationships ($6 million) and a certain trade name ($3 million). In addition, we also recordeash non
otherthantemporary impairment charge of $12 million related to our equity interglseéiEuropean Multilateral Clearing Facility
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N.V,orEMCF. See fAlntangible Asset | mpairment Charges, 0 of Not
consolidated financial statements for further discussion of the intangible asset impairment charges in 2014, 2013 ard 2012. Se
AEquity Method I nvestments, 0 of Note 6, fAlnvestments, o0 to
impairment of EMCF.

Loss on Divestiture of Businesses

In August 2012, wesold International Derivatives Clearing Group, LLC,I®CG, andrecorded a loss of $14 million. See
2012 Divestiture, 0 of No ttoghe donsolitlakedrancial statemierden feirther distusdlon.v e st i t u

Net Loss from Unconsolidated Investees

Net loss from unconsolidated investees of $2 million in 2013 and $1 million in 2012 was related to our share in theadrnings
losses of our equity method investments.

Tax Matters

Nasda® s i mag gravision was $181 million in 2014 compared with $216 million in 2013 and $199 million in 2012. The
overall effective tax rate was 30.5% in 2014, 36.0% in 2013 and 36.3% in . Bwer effective tax rate in 2014 whemmpared
to 2013 was primarily due to a decrease in unrecognized tax benefits inTh@ldwer effective tax rate in 2013 when compared to
2012 was primarily due ta reversal of a valuation allowance associated with our avaiflabiale investment sadty in DFM, a
shift in the geographic mix of earnings and losses, and a reduction in the tax rate in Sweden. In 2013, we also regerded a lo
increase in tax expense associated with deferred tax assets and liabilities due to the impact of changkes iim teexious
jurisdictions within the U.S. and outside the U.S., compared to the impact recorded in 2012. Partially offsetting tleeidé¢axeas
expense is the derecognition of a previously recognized tax benefit as a result of new informatied ne@€13, as well as
expenses associated with investments in certain jurisdictions for which we are not able to recognize a tax benefit.

The effective tax rate may vary from period to period depending on, among other factors, the geographic aadrixsihes
earnings and losses. These same and other factors, including historytaof paenings and losses, are taken into account in assessing
the ability to realize deferred tax assets.

In order to recognize and measure our unrecognized tax benefitagement determines whether a tax position is more likely
than not to be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, béselshicathe
merits of the position. Once it is determined that a positierts the recognition thresholds, the position is measured to determine the
amount of benefit to be recognized in the consolidated financial statements. Interest and/or penalties related to matiers e
recognized in income tax expense.

See Notel0, "IncomeTaxes, 0 to the consolidated financi al stat ement

Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests was $1 million in both 2014 and 2013, and &3imi#l012. The net loss in
2012 was primarily attributable to noncontrolling interests in IDCG.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to disclosing results determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we also have providadAfdmet income
attributableto Nasdaq and ne@AAP diluted earnings per share. Management uses thi&A&P information internally, along with
U.S. GAAP information, in evaluating our performance and in making financial and operational decisions.

We believe our presentation of Heemeasures provides investors with greater transparency and supplemental data relating to
our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we believe the presentation of these measures is vesfotdddn
periodto-period comparisoof results as the items described below do not reflect operating performance. These measures are not i
accordance with, or an alternative to, U.S. GAAP, and may be different froi@ A8 measures used by other companies. Investors
should not rely on angingle financial measure when evaluating our business. We recommend investors review the U.S. GAAP
financial measures included in this Annual Report on Forii{,liicluding our consolidated financial statements and the notes
thereto. When viewed in conjutien with our U.S. GAAP results and the accompanying reconciliation, we believe the&A\ndh
measures provide greater transparency and a more complete understanding of factors affecting our business than U.Su@a8AP mes
alone. Our management uses thegasures to evaluate operating performance, and management decisions during the reporting
period are made by excluding certain items that we believe have less significance on, or do not impaet-dheydagrformance of
our business. We understandttinalysts and investors regularly rely on-4@®AP financial measures, such as f®6AAP net
income and noiGAAP diluted earnings per share, to assess operating performance. We-@&&A®met income attributable to
Nasdaq and neBAAP diluted earningsgy share because they more clearly highlight trends in our business that may not otherwise
be apparent when relying solely on U.S. GAAP financial measures, since these measures eliminate from our resultsaspélific fin
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items that have less bearing aur operating performance. N@BAAP net income attributable to Nasdaq for the periods presented
below is calculated by adjusting net income attributable to Nasdaq for charges or gains related to acquisition and divestitur
transactions, integration acti\és related to acquisitions, other significant infrequent charges or gains and their related income tax
effects that are not related to our core business. We do not believe these items are representative of our futurecdipensaincep
since these chaeg were not consistent with our core operating performance.

Non-GAAP adjustments for the year ended Decen®igr2014 primarily related to the following:

(i) merger and strategic initiatives costs of $81 million primarily related to our acquisition of the TR Corporate businesses
May 2013 and eSpeed in June 2@h8 a charge 23 million related tdhe reversal of eeceivable under a tax sharing agreein
with an unrelated partythis charge is offset in item (vi) belgi) asset impairment charges of $49 million related to certain
acquired intangible assets associated with customer relationshipsréaid technology assetdi) sublease loss resve charge of
$11 millionon space we currently occupy due to excess capéeifyoss on extinguishment of debt of $11 million reflecting $9
million related to our 2015lotes ands2 million related tatherefinancingof our 2011 Credit Facility. For further discussion, see
AEarly Extinguishment of 2015 Notes, 0 &ortha cofisGlidated financidfac i | i t i
statements(v) special legal expense of $2 million, (ajustment to thincome tax provision of $72 million to reflect these non
GAAP adjustments, and vigignificant tax adjustments, net of $1 million due to adjustments related to our 2011 through 2013 tax
return liabilities which resulted in an increase to the tax prawisi

Non-GAAP adjustments for the year ended Decen®igr2013 primarily related to the following:

(i) merger and strategic initiatives costs of $22 million reflecting $45 million of merger and strategic initiative costaypri
associated with our acaitions of the TR Corporate businesses and eSpeed, partially offset by a credit of $23 million associated witt
a receivable under a tax sharing agreement with an unrelated gastgredit is offset in item (viii) below, (i&sset impairment
charges o%$14 million related to certain acquired intangible assets associated with customer relationships and a certain trade name
(i) special legal expense of $3 milliofiv) restructuring charges of $9 millief or f ur t her di scus siigon, s
Charges, 0 to the c on s(9 voluntaytaecdmmodatiomprograna dxpesse & $44 milfah daim on sale of
investment security of $30 million related to the sale ofamailablefor-sale investment security in DENVii) expenses paid with
respect to an SEC mattefr $10 million-f or f urt her di scussion of the SEC matter,
Contingencies and Guarant ees, ovij adjustnter to theincente ltak pistoh af $13 rhillion a n ¢ |
to reflect these neBAAP adjustments, and (ix) significant tax adjustments, net of $4 mdiiento an increase in net deferred tax
liabilities resulting from changes in tax rates in various jurisdictions

Non-GAAP adjustments fathe year ended Decemligt, 2012 primarily related to the following:

(i) merger and strategic initiatives costs of $4 million related to recent acquisitions and other strategic initiat¥esimen
acquisition of NOS Clearing, (iBsset impairmercharges of $40 million related to certain acquired intangible assets totaling $28
million as well as an othehantemporary impairment charge of $12 million related to our equity method interest in EMCF,
special legal expense of $7 milligjiv) restructuring charges of $44 million related to workforce reductions of $23 million, faeilities
related charges of $10 million, asset impairment charges of $9 million and $2 million of other chaiigesn{e from open positions
relating to the operatioraf the exchange of $11 milliofvi) loss on divestiture of business of $14 million related to the sale of ]DCG
(vii) adjustment to the income tax provision of $32 million to reflect theseGAAP adjustments, and (viigignificant tax
adjustments, netf $14 million due to the impact to deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities resulting from changes in tax rates
in various jurisdictions within the U.S. and outside the U.S., adjustments related to ofirZ0btax return liabilities which
resuted in an increase to the tax provision, partially offset by a permanent tax benefit associated with certain taxaldgdoasige
revaluation losses which are not reflected infaseearnings.

The following table represents reconciliations betweeh BAAP net income and diluted earnings per share andGAGP
net income and diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended December 31, 2014 Year Ended December 31, 201 Year Ended December 31, 201

Diluted Earnings Diluted Earnings Diluted Earnings
Net Income Per Share Net Income Per Share Net Income Per Share

(in millions, except share and per share amounts)

U.S. GAAP net income attributable to Nasdaq and

diluted earnings per share $ 414 $ 239% 385 % 225% 352 % 2.04
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Merger and strategic initiatives 81 0.47 22 0.13 4 0.02
Asset impairment charges 49 0.28 14 0.08 40 0.23
Sublease loss reserve 11 0.07 - - - -
Extinguishment of debt 11 0.07 - - - -
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Special legal expense 2 0.01 3 0.02 7 0.04
Restructuring charges - - 9 0.05 44 0.26
Voluntary accommodation program - - 44 0.26 - -
Gain on sale of investment security - - (30) (0.18 - -
SEC matter - - 10 0.06 - -
Income from open positions relating to the
operations of the exchanae - - - - (11) (0.06;
Loss on divestiture of business - - - - 14 0.08
Other 2 - 3) (0.02; - -
Adjustment to the income tax provision to reflect
nonGAAP adjustments (72) (0.42 (13) (0.07 (32) (0.19
Significant tax adjustments, net 1 0.01 4 0.02 14 0.08
Total norGAAP adjustments, net of tax 85 0.49 60 0.35 80 0.46
Non-GAAP net incomeattributable to Nasdaq and
diluted earnings per share $ 499 $ 2.88¢% 445 % 260% 432% 2.50
Weightedaverage common shares outstanding for
diluted earnings per share 173,018,84¢ 171,266,14¢ 172,587,87(

@ We determine the tax effect of each item based on the tax rules in the respective jurisdiction where the transaction occurred

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Global markets and economic conditions continue to improve from adverse levels experienced during the past several years
investors and lenders remain cautiously optimistic about the pace of the global economic recovery. A lack of configence in th
progects for growth could result in sporadic increases in market volatility and lackluster trading volumes, which coukffecturn
our ability to obtain additional funding from lenders. Currently, our cost and availability of funding remain healthy.

Historically, we have funded our operating activities and met our commitments through cash generated by operations,
augmented by the periodic issuance of our common stolck and
statements for fither discussion of our debt obligations.

As part of the acquisition of eSpeed, Nasdaq has contingent future obligations to issue 992,247 shares of Nasdag common s
annually which approximated certain tax benefits associated with the transactiod afiléh. Such contingent future issuances of
Nasdag common stock wil!/l be paid ratably through 202k if N
year. The contingent future issuances of Nasdag common stock are subjeetifoitzoni protections and acceleration upon certain
events.

In November 2014, we entered into a $750 million senior unsecuregidarecredit facility which matures on November 25,
2019, or the 2014 Credit Facility. The 2014 Credit Facility is partefaif nanci ng of Nasdaqés f or mer
September 19, 2011, which has been terminated. The 2014 Credit Facility consists of a $758rulMimg credittommitment
(with sublimits for nordollar borrowings, swingline borrowings aretters of credit)As of December 31, 2014, availability under the
revolving credit commitment was $627 million. See 020 104n sCr¢
to the consolidated financial statements for furthezudision.

In the near term, we expect that our operations and availability under our revolving credit commitment will providetsufficien
cash to fund our operating expenses, capital expenditures, debt repayments, any share repurchases, and any dividends.

Various assets and liabilities, including castd cash equivalentseceivables, accounts payable and accrued expersses
fluctuate from month to montiWorking capital (calculated as current assets less current liabilities) was $420 million at Deggmbe
2014, compared with $363 million at December 31, 2013, an increase ofilfibi. Current asset balance changeseased
working capitalby $37million, with increases inlefault funds and margin deposits, cash and cash equivalents, and ot curr
assets, partiallpffset by decreasen restricted cash and other iten@urrent liability balance changdscreasedvorking capitalby
$180million, primarily due toincreases imefault funds and margin deposits and Section 31 fees payable toGhpaBtally offset
by decreases iaccounts payable and accrued expenses, current portion of debt obligatiotiseamdirrent liabilities.

Principal factors that could affect the availability of our interngynerated funds include:
A deterioratiorof our revenues in any of our business segments;
A changes in our working capital requirements; and
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an increase in our expenses.
Principal factors that could affect our ability to obtain cash from external sources include:
A operating covenants coitiad in our credit facility that limit our total borrowing capacity;
A increases in interest rates applicable to our floating rate loans under our credit facility;
A credit rating downgrades, which could limit our access to additional debt;
A adecrease in the market price of our common stock; and
A volatility in the public debt and equity markets.

The following sections discuss the effects of changes in our financial assets, debt obligations, clearing adeabeo ket
capital requiremds, and cash flows on our liquidity and capital resources.

Financial Assets
The following table summarizes our financial assets:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
(in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 427 $ 398
Restricted cash 49 84
Financial investments, at fair value 174 189
Total financial assets $ 650 $ 671

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in banks and aléswitted highly liquidnvestments with original maturities of three
months or less at the time of purchase. The balance retained in cash and cash equivalents is a function of anticipiatedsbomos
term cash needs, prevailing interest rates, our investment policy.tamthtiVe investment choices. As of December 31, 2014, our
cash and cash equivalents of $427 million were primarily invested in money market funds. In ifeerfonge may use both
internally generated funds and external sources to satisfy our debtiobkgand other longerm liabilities. Cash and cash
equivalents as of December 31, 2014 increased $29 million from December 31, 2013 primarilyetweash provided by operating
activities, partially offset by net cash used in investing activitesandhanci ng acti vities. See fiCas|
discussion.

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, current restricted cash included cash held for regulatory purposes and ott
requirements and is not available for general Gserent restricted cash was $49 million as of December 31, 2014 and $84 million as
of December 31, 2013, a decrease of $35 million. The decrease is primarily due to restricted cash that had been hdhanyOS C
as of December 31, 2013. In the secondrter of 2014, NOS Clearing was fully integrated into Nasdag Nordic Clearing and is now
covered under the regulatory capital structure and liability waterfall of Nasdaqg Nordic Clearing. Current restrictetlassifieid as
restricted cash in the Coriglated Balance Sheets.

Repatriation of Cash

Our cash and cash equivalents held outside of the U.S. in various foreign subsidiaries totaled $83 million as of December 31,
2014 and $159 million as of December 31, 2013. The remaining balance held in thetdlef $344 million as of December 31,
2014 and $239 million as of December 31, 2013.

Unremitted earnings of subsidiaries outside of the U.S. are used to finance our international operations and are generally
considered to be indefinitely reinvestétis not our current intent to change this position. However, the majority of cash held outside
the U.S. is available for repatriation, but under current law, could subject us to additional U.S. income taxes, |dde &pgliga
tax credits.

Share Reprchase Program

In the third quarter of 2012, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $300 million of our outstandimg commo
stock. These purchases may be made from time to time at prevailing market prices in open market purchasesegotated
transactions, block purchase techniques or otherwise, as determined by our management. The purchases are funded @@sh existing
balances. The share repurchase program may be suspended, modified or discontinued at any time.

During 2014 we repurchased 4,592,194 shares of our common stock at an average price of $38.85, for an aggregate purchas
price of $178 million. During 2013, we repurchased 321,000 shares of our common stock at an average price of $31.12, for an
aggregate purchase priof $10 million. In October 2014, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $50(
million of our outstanding common stock. The shares repurchased under the share repurchase program are available for general
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corporate purposefs of December 31, 2014, the remaining amount authorized for share repurchases under the program was $537
million.

Cash Dividends on Common Stock

In June, September and December 2014, we paid a quarterly cash dividend of $0.15 per share on oungocostamoin stock
and in March 2014, we paid a quarterly cash dividendoomf $0
Common Stock, o0 of Note 13, ANasdaqgq Stockhol der sscussiBrgolithet y, 0
dividends.

In January 2015, the board of directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.15 per share on our outstanding com
stock. The dividend is payable on March 27, 2015 to shareholders of record at the close of bditeesb13, 2015. Future
declarations of quarterly dividends and the establishment of future record and payment dates are subject to appraeaidyfthe b
directors.

Financial Investments, at Fair Value

Our financial investments, at fair value totaled $174 million as of December 31, 2014 and $189 million as of December 31,
2013 and are primarily comprised of trading securities, mainly Swedish government debt securities. Of these $&6aritidgn
as of December 31, 2014 and $167 million as of December 31, 2013 are assets utilized to meet regulatory capital requirements
primarily for c¢clearing operations at Nasdaqgq Nordic nSfoerarin
further discussion of our trading securities.

Debt Obligations
The following table summarizes our debt obligations by contractual maturity:

Maturity Date December 31, 2014 December 31, 201
(in millions)
4.00% senior unsecured notes (net of discount) Repaid June 20: $ - $ 400
$1.2 billion senior unsecured fiwear credit facility:
$450 million senior unsecured term loan facility Repaid November 20. - 349
$750 million revolving credit commitment Repaid November 20. - 95
5.25% senior unsecured notes (net of discount) January 201 368 368
$750 million revolving credit commitment November 201 123 -
5.55% senior unsecured nofeet of discount) January 202 599 598
3.875% senior unsecured notes (net of discount) June 202 725 824
4.25% senior unsecured notes (net of discount) June 202 498 -
Total debt obligations 2,313 2,634
Less currenportion - (45)
Total longterm debt obligations $ 2,313 $ 2,589

In addition to the $750 million revolving credit commitment due November 2019, we also have other credit facilitieorelated t
our Nordic clearing operations in order to provide further liquidity and for default protection. At December 31, 20btethiese
facilities, which are available in multiple currencies, primarily Swedish Krona, totaled $236 million ($197 million iblavaila
liquidity and $39million for default protection), of which $7 million was utilized. At December 31, 2013, these creliiiefcivhich
are available in multiple currencies, primarily Swedish Krona, totaled $312 million ($219 million in available liquid&93and
million for default protection), of which $11 million was ugid.

At DecembeB1, 2014, we were in complianeéth the covenants of all of our debt obligations.
See Note 9, ADebt Obligations, 6 to the consolidated fince

Clearing and BrokerDealer Net Capital Requirements
Clearing Operations Regulayo€apital Requiremdn

We are required to maintain minimum levels of regulatory capital for the clearing operations of Nasdaq Nordic Clearing. The
level of regulatory capital required to be maintained is dependent upon many factors, including martehs @mii
creditworthiness of the counterparty. At December 31, 2014, our required regulatory capital consisted of $159 millioislof Swed
government debt securities that are included in financial investments, at fair value in the Consolidated Balemce Shee

In addition, we have available credit facilities of $39 million at December 31, 2014 that provide default protection for our
Nordic clearing operations.
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BrokerDealer Net Capital Requirements

Our brokerdealer subsidiaries, Nasdaq Execution Servierscution Access and NPM Securities, are subject to regulatory
requirements intended to ensure their general financial soundness and liquidity. These requirements obligate thess sabsidiari
comply with minimum net capital requirements. At Decembe2814, Nasdaq Execution Services was required to maintain
minimum net capital of @3 million and had total net capital of approximately@®million, or $9.9million in excess of the
minimum amount required. At December 31, 2014, Execution Access warerktp maintain minimum net capital d®.$ million
and had total net capital of $&dillion, or $390 million in excess of the minimum amount required. At December 31, 2014, NPM
Securities had total net capital di.$ million. The minimum net capitaéquired was immaterial.

Other Capital Requirements

Nasdag ExecutioBervices also is required to maintain a $2 million minimum level of net capital under our clearing
arrangement with The Options Clearing CorporatiorQGC.

Cash Flow Analysis
Thefollowing tables summarize the changes in cash flows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 Percentage Change
(in millions)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 687 $ 574 19.7%
Investing activities (155 (1,216 (87.3)%
Financing activities (485] 547 #
Effect of exchange rate changes on casth cash equivalents (18) 4) #
Netincrease (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 29 (99) #
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 398 497 (29.9)%
Cashand cash equivalents at the end of period $ 427 % 398 7.3%

# Denotes a variance greater than 100.0%.

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

The following items impacted our net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2014:
A Net income of $413 million, plus:

A Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities of $275 milliorsedmpr
primarily of $137 million of depreciation and amortization expense, $62 million of-&lzesed compensation
expense, $49 million of asset impairment charges, other reconciling items of $28 millionpwimatily reflects
bad debt expense, andn-cashmerger and strategic initiatives expense of $20 million, partially offset by $15
million of excess tax benefits related to shbased payments.

A Increase in deferred revenue of $64 million mainly related to our Corporate Solutions and Market Technology businesse

A Increase in Section 31 fees payable to the SEC of $42 million primarily dighter volumes, contract value and SEC
fee rates

Partally offset by an:

A Increase in other assets of $55 million primarily reflecting an increase in deferred costs associated with the timing and
delivery of technology projects, partially offset by a decrease in restricted cash held for regulatory purposes

A Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $40 million reflecting the tipaygeritsaind adecrease in
interest payableelated to our debt obligations.

The following items impacted our net cash provided by operating activities foraheryded December 31, 2013:
A Net income of $384 million, plus:

A Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities of $177 million comprised
primarily of $122 million of depreciation and amortization expense, $47 million of $fsaed compensation
expense, deferred income taxes of $28iomland $14 million of asset retirements and impairment charges,
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partially offset by gain on sale of investment security of $30 million and excess tax benefits relatedhastdre

paymentof $16 million.

A Increase in accounts payable and accruedresgseof $51 million primarily due to recent acquisitions, the timing of
payments and an increase in interest payable related to our debt obligations.

A Increase in accrued personnel costs of $39 million primarily due to our 2013 incentive compensataraadan
increase in employee headcount, partially offset by the payment of our 2012 incentive compensation in the first quarter
2013.

Partially offset by &a:

A Increase in accounts receivable, net of $55 million primarily due to recent acquiaititise timing of collections and
activity.

A Decrease in deferred revenue of $33 million primarily due to timing and delivery of certain market technology contracts.

A Decrease in Sectiddil fees payable to the SEC of $15 million primarily due to aedeserin Section 31 fee rates.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for lear ended December 31, 2Qddimarily consisted opurchases of trading securities
and purchases of property and equipment, partially difg@roceeds from sales and redemptions of trading securities.

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily consisted of cash utilized to fund the
acquisitions of eSpeed and the TR Corporate businesses, purchizadsgfsecurities, purchases of property and equipment, and
cash paid for equity and cost method investments, partially offset by proceeds from sales and redemptions of tradésgasécuriti
proceeds from the sale of our availafide-sale investment serity.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily consisted of $970 million of cash used i
connection with the repayment of debt obligations, which consigtadb408 million payment to repay in full our 2015 Notes, a $349
million payment to repay in full our $450 million funded term loanthe 2016 Term Loan, and the repayment of the total amount
drawn on our 2011 revolving credit commitment of $213 millivhich included $118 million of proceeds received during the year
ended December 31, 2014. In addition, cash used in financing activities included $178 million related to the repuraghase of ou
common stock and $98 million related to cash dividends pa@uooommon stock. Partially offsetting these decreases were net
proceeds received of $735 million which consisted of $494 million from the issuance of our 2024 Notes, $118 milliondestiathe
utilization of the revolving credit commitment of our 20&fedit facility and $123 million from thpartial utilizationof the revolving
credit commitment of our 2014 Credit Facility.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily consisted of pr&8Sednilibn
received from the issuance of the 2021 Nated a partial utilizatioof therevolving credit commitmenrdf our 2011 credit facility
partially offset by payments of debt obligat®iotaling $289 million consisting of repaymentafr 2.50% convertiblesenior notes
totaling $93 million, repayment of $151 million on our revolving credit commitment and required quarterly pipagipents
totaling $45 million madeinderour 2016 Term Loan, and $87illion related to cash dividends paid on our common stock

For further discussion of our acquisitions, see Nots.e 4,
For further discussion of our debt obligations, Bofarthédot e 9
di scussion of our share repurchase program, see AShare Rep
consolidated financial statements.

Contractual Obligations and Contingent Commitments

Nasdaq has contractual obligats to make future payments under debt obligations by contract maturity, minimum rental
commitments under necancelable operating leases, net and other obligations. The following table shows these contractual
obligations as of Decembad, 2014:

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 years
(in millions)

Debt obligations by contract maturity $ 2,983 $ 104 $ 210 $ 674 $ 1,995

Minimum rentalcommitments under necancelable

operating leases, rfét 370 79 115 76 100

Other obligation® 278 275 3 - -

Total $ 3,631 $ 458 $ 328 $ 750 $ 2,095
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@ Our debt obligations include both principal and interest otiiga. At December 31, 2014, an interest rate of 2.37% was used
to compute the amount of the contractual obligations for interest on the 2014 Credit Facility. All other debt obligations wer
calculated on a 366ay basis at the contractual fixed rate npliid by the aggregate principal amount at December 31, 2014.
See Note 9, ADebt Obligations, 6 to the consolidated fince
@ We lease some of our office space and equipment undezarmelable operating leases witlird parties and sublease office
space to third parties. Some of our leases contain renewal options and escalation clauses based on increases ingroperty tax
and building operating costs.
®  Other obligations consist of the following:

1 In December 2014, we agreed to acquire DWA for $225 million. In January 2015, we completed this acquisition;

¢ Our subsidiary, Nasdaq PHLX, is a shareholder of OCC and, as part of a recently anicapitetglanis expected to
makea $30 million capitatontributionto OCCduring the first quarter of 2015h€ capital plan is designédbring OCC
into compliance witlproposedegulatory requirements for covered clearing agen&8elject to certaiconditions we
also have committed to provide specifplenishment capital in accordance with the announced capital plan.

7 A future escrow agreement payment related to a prior acquisition;
7 The second installment payment related to the acquisition of the remaining 28% ownership interest in BWise; and
7 Future tansition service agreement payments associated with the acquisition of the TR Corporate businesses.

Non-Cash Contingent Consideration

As part of the eSpeed purchase price consideration, we have agreed to future annual issuances of 992,247 shares of Nasdac
common stock which approximated certain tax benefits associated with the transaction. Such contingent future issuathags of Nas
common stock wildl be paid ratably through 2027 if Na®Bédaqbds
contingent future issuances of Nasdaq common stock are subjectddwdittn protections and acceleration upon certain events.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Default Fund Contributions and Margin Deposits Received for Clearing Operations
Defaut Fund Contributions

Clearing membersd el igi bl e ccashtontiibbtians.iCash contribgtions drenirvdsteddbg ¢ a <
NasdagNordic Clearing in accordance with its investment policies and are included in default funds and npargjts dethe
Consolidated Balance Sheets. However,-cash contributions, which include highly rated government debt securities that must meet
the investment policies dasdagNordic Clearing, as well as pledged cash, are pledged assets that arenetd@t our
Consolidated Balance SheetsNmsdadNordic Clearing does not take legal ownership of these assets and the risks and rewards
remain with the clearing members. These pledged assets are held at a nominee ablemgisio r di ¢ Cl efarrtheng és r
benefit of the clearing members and are immediately accessibladuiagNordic Clearing in the event of default. The pledged asset
balances may fluctuate over time due to changes in the amount of deposits required and whether members choose to @rovide cast
noncash contributions. See Nodnsliddtal finarftigl btateanenitsrogfurtbgr discussion af ous , 0
clearing operations and default fund contributions.

Margin Deposits Received for Clearing Operations

Nasdaq Nordic Clearing requires all clearing members to provide collateral, which mesg cboash and eligible securities, in

a pledged bank accountand/orandoe mand guarantee, to guarantee performance
margin. In addition, clearing members must also provide collateral to cover thendagin call as needed, which is in addition to the
initial mar gi n. Pl edged coll ater al is held at a noingi nee ac

members and is immediately accessible by Nasdaqg Nordic Clearing in thegtdefault. The pledged collateral is not recorded in

our Consolidated Balance Sheets as all risks and rewards of collateral ownership, including interest, belong to thetg.ounterpa
Clearing member pledged collateral related to our clearing operatam$5.7 billion as of December 31, 2014 and $9.5 billion as of
December 31, 2013. Nasdaq Nordic Clearing maintains and manages all cash deposits related to margin collateral aedeecords th
cash deposits in default funds and margin deposits in the {tated Balance Sheets as both a current asset and current liability.

Nasdaq Nordic Clearing marks-market all outstanding contracts, requiring payment from clearing members whose positions
have lost value. The matk-market process helps identify arlga@ring members that may not be able to satisfy their financial
obligations in a timely manner which helps Nasdaq Nordic Clearing manage the risk of a clearing member defaulting due to
exceptionally large losses. In the event of a default, Nasdaq Noehcilj can access these margin deposits to cover the defaulting
member 8s | osses.
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Guarantees Issued and Credit Facilities Available

In addition to the collateral pledged by clearing members discussed above, we have obtained financial guarantees and credit
facilities which are guaranteed by us through counter indemnities, to provide further liquidity and default protecticial insmtees
issued to us totaled $14 million at December 31, 2014 and $20 million at December 31, 2013. At December 31, 2014itiedit faci
which are available in multiple currencies, primarily Swedish Krona, totaled $236 million ($197 million in lavajladity and $39
million for default protection), of which $7 million was utilized. At December 31, 2013, these facilities totaled $312 (8218 million
in available liquidity and $9hillion for default protection), of whic#11 million was utilzed.

Execution Access has a clearing arrangement with Cantor Fitzgasabl December 31, 2014, we have contributed $19 million
of clearing deposits to Cantor Fitzgerald in connection with this clearing arrang@&imese. deposits are recorded in ottigrrent assets
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Some of the trading activity in Execution Access is cleared by Cantor FitzgerdftiGtixough
and the balance is cleared ABICC. Execution Access assumes the counterparty risk of clients that dearahcough
FICC. Counterparty risk of clients exists for Execution Access between the trade date and settlement date of the individual
transactions, which is one businessday.| of Executi on Accessd6 obligat irkitagsraldinder
are guaranteed by Nasdaqg. Some of theFIQC counterparties are required to post collateral, provide principal letters, or provide
other forms of credit enhancement to Execution Access for the purpose of mitigating counterparty risk.

We beleve that the potential for us to be required to make payments under these arrangements is mitigated through the pledc
collateral and our risk management policies. Accordingly, no contingent liability is recorded in the Consolidated BataderShe
these arrangements.

Leases

We lease some of our office space and equipment undezammelable operating leases with third parties and sublease office
space to third parties. Some of our lease agreements contain renewal options and escalation cthosdadrasses in property
taxes and building operating costs.

Other Guarantees

We have provided other guarantees of $13 million as of December 31, 2014 and $17 million at December 31, 2013. These
guarantees primarily related to obligations for our regmia leasing contracts as well as performance guarantees on certain Market
Technology contracts related to the delivery of software technology and support services. We have received financies fnasmante
various financial institutions to support thegearantees.

In September 2014, we provided a guarantee related to lease obligations for The Nasdaq Entrepreneurial Center Inc., or the
Entrepreneurial Center, which is scheduled to open in 2015. The Entrepreneurial Center wilHum-gnodit organiation designed
to convene, connect and engage aspiring and current entrepreneurs. This entity is not included in the consolidatsthferaecis
of Nasdag.

We believe that the potential for us to be required to make payments under these arrangemély. Accordingly, no
contingent liability is recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the above guarantees.

In connection with Nasdaq NLXye have entered into agreements with certain members which may require us to make
payments if certaifinancial goals are achieveflince the amount of these payments is not currently probable and cannot be
guantified as of December 31, 2014, no contingent liability is recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for these payments

Other Transactions

In December 2014, we agreed to acquire DWA for $225 milliodanuary2015, we completed the acquisitioRWA is part of
our Information Services business.

As discussed above in "Contractual Obl i gat i dahptanamdnce@o nt i
by the OCC, we wilprovide a$30 million capital contributioto OCCduringthefirst quarter of 2015Subject to certain conditions
we alsohavecommitted to provide specific replenishment capital in accordance with the anneapdadiplan.

Routing Brokerage Activities

Our brokerdealer subsidiary, Nasdaq Execution Services, provides a guarantee to securities clearinghouses and exchanges
under its standard membership agreements, which require members to guarantee the perfdrtiaer members. For further
di scussion of our routing brokerage activities, seendRout.
Guarantees, 0 to the consolidated financial statements.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk represents the potential for losses that may result from changes in the market value of a financial ingrtament du
changes in market conditions. As a result of our operating, ingestd financing activities, we are exposed to market risks such as
interest rate risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk. We are also exposed to credit risk as a result of our mesmattiisies.
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We have implemented policies and procedtwaneasure, manage, monitor and report risk exposures, which are reviewed
regularly by management and the board of directors. We identify risk exposures and monitor and manage such risks agisa daily b

We perform sensitivity analyses to determine tifiecés of market risk exposures. We may use derivative instruments solely to
hedge financial risks related to our financial positions or risks that are incurred during the normal course of busittesst W
derivative instruments for speculative posps.

Interest Rate Risk

The following table summarizes our financial assets and liabilities that are subject to interest rate risk as of B&cefibr

Negative impact of a
100bpadverse shift in

Financial Assets Financial Liabilities ™ interest rate®
(in millions)

Floating rate positiorfs $ 2,817 $ 2,316 $ 2
Fixed rate positiorts 27 2,196 -
@ Represents total contractual debt obligations and amounts related to default fund contributions and margin deposits.
@ Annualized impact of a 100 basis point parallel adverse shift in the yield curve.
@ Includes floating rate and fixed intereates with a maturity or reset date due within 12 months.
@ Financial assets primarily consist of Swedish government debt securities, which are classified as trading investmesit securiti

with an average duration of 2.3 years.

We are exposed to in&st rate risk on floating rate financial assets of $2,817 million and financial liabilities of $2,316 million
at DecembeB1, 2014. When interest rates on financial assets of floating rate positions decrease, net interest income decreases. W
interest rées on financial liabilities of floating rate positions increase, net interest expense increases. Based on Bec2dizer
positions, each 1.0% adverse change in interest rate would impact anni ipeme by $2 million related to our floating rate
positions.

We are exposed to price risk on our fixed rate financial assets, which totaled $27 million at December 31, 2014 and have an
average duration of 2.3 years. The net effect of a parallel shift of 1.0% of the interest rate curve, taking intthecclange in fair
value and the increase in interest income, would have an immaterial impact on antalipreme related to our fixed rate
positions.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

As a leading global exchange group, we are subject to foreign currency translation risk, as certain assets, liahilitess, reve
and expenses of foreign subsidiaries are denominated in the local functional currency of such subsidiaries. For the year ende
DecembeRl, 2014, approximately 33.6% of our revenues less transdudised expenses and 26.9% of our operating income were
derived in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, primarily the Swedish Krona, Euro, Norwegian Krone, Danish Krone land Britis
Paund. For the year ended DecemBér 2013, approximately 34.8% of our revenues less transdiissd expenses and 29.0% of
our operating income were derived in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, primarily the Swedish Krona, Euro, Norweggian Kron
Danish Krone and British Pound.

Our primary exposure to foreign currency denominated revenues less tranbastdnexpenses and operating income for the
years ended Decemb@t, 2014 and 2013 is presented in the following table:

Norwegian Other Foreign
Swedish Krona Euro Krone Danish Krone  British Pound Currencies

(in millions, except currency rate)

Twelve months ended December 31, 2014

Average foreign currency rate to the U.S. dollar 0.1462 1.3289 0.1592 0.1782 1.6476 #
Percentage of revenues less transadtiased

expenses 18.3% 4.2% 2.4% 2.5% 2.9% 3.3%
Percentage of operating income 19.9% 2.2% 4.0% 5.1% (1.9)% (2.4)%

Impact of a 10% adverse currency fluctuation on

revenues less transactibased expenses $ (38) $ 9 $ 5)$ 5)$ 6) $ )
Impact of a 10% adverse currency fluctuation on
operating income $ (15) $ 2 $ )% 4 $ 1 % @)
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Norwegian Other Foreign
Swedish Krona Euro Krone Danish Krone  British Pound Currencies

(in millions, except currency rate)

Twelve months ended December 31, 2013

Average foreign currency rate to the U.S. dollar 0.1536 1.3285 0.1703 0.1781 1.5647 #
Percentage of revenues less transasdtiased

expenses 20.1% 4.3% 2.7% 2.5% 1.7% 3.5%
Percentage of operating income 19.9% 3.7% 4.3% 4.6% (2.6)% (0.9)%
Impact of a 10% adverse currency fluctuation on

revenues less transactibased expenses $ (38) ¢ 38 $ 5)$ 5)$ )% @
Impact of a 10% adverse currency fluctuation on

operating income $ 14) $ 2 $ 3% 3% 2 % Q)

# Represents multiple foreign currency rates.

Our investments in foreign subsidiaries are exposed to volatility in currency exchange rates through translation ghthe forei
subsidiariesd net assets or oerfpreignsybsidiacies bperdte in fdnatioralaurrencies Btheb than a
the U.S. dollar. Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may create volatility in our results of operations as we dro rteguoglate
the balance sheets and operational resultsesfet foreign currency denominated subsidiaries into U.S. dollars for consolidated
reporting. The trans| a8 ddllar lsafancd shaets intg W.S. doilabs for abrisaidatiecereporting resuilts in
a cumulative translation adjustmenth i ch i s recorded in accumulated other compi
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Our primary exposure to net assets in foreign currencies as of Decgéini2éx14 is presented in the following table:

Impact of a 10% Adverse

Net Assets Currency Fluctuation
(in millions)

Swedish Kron@ $ 3,607 $ (361,
Norwegian Krone 211 (21)
Euro 144 (24)
British Pound 152 (15)
Australian Dollar 87 9)
@ Includes goodwill of $2,804 million and intangible assets, net of $842 million.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the potential loss due to the default or deterioration in credit quality of customers or counterparties. We ar
exposed to credit risk from thircagties, including customers, counterparties and clearing agents. These parties may default on their
obligations to us due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. We limit our exposureriskchsdit
rigorously evaluatinghe counterparties with which we make investments and execute agreements. The financial investment portfoli
objective is to invest in securities to preserve principal while maximizing yields, without significantly increasingaiikri€k
associated ith investments is minimized substantially by ensuring that these financial assets are placed with governments which ha
investment grade ratings, walhpitalized financial institutions and other creditworthy counterparties.

Our subsidiary Nasdafxecution Services may be exposed to credit risk, due to the default of trading counterparties, in
connection with the routing services it provides for our trading customers. System trades in cash equities routed tkaither ma
centers for members of ooash equity exchanges are routed by Nasdaqg Execution Services for clearing to the National Securities
Clearing Corporation, or NSCC. In this function, Nasdaq Execution Services is to be neutral by the end of the tradingaiayebu
exposed to intradaysk if a trade extends beyond the trading day and into the next day, thereby leaving Nasdaqg Execution Services
susceptible to counterparty risk in the period between accepting the trade and routing it to the clearinghouse. Imtperioder
Nasdaq Kecution Services is not novating like a clearing broker but instead is subject to thesshaitk of counterparty failure
before the clearinghouse enters the transaction. Once the clearinghouse officially accepts the trade for novation, dlagdaqg Exe
Services is legally removed from trade execution risk. However, Nasdaq has membership obligations to NSCC independsmnt of Nas
Execution Servicesd arrangements.
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Pursuant to the rules of the NSCC and NEeuiendentcesdsdiable foo n ¢

any |l osses incurred due to a counterparty or a clingpayniemg ag
or delivering securities. Adverse movements in the prices of securities that &t sultfiese transactions can increase our credit
risk. However, we believe that the risk of materi adtottades s i

on margin and NSCC rules limit counterparty risk on-skdfired trarections by establishing credit limits and capital deposit
requirements for all brokers that clear with NSCC. Historically, Nasdaq Execution Services has never incurred a ligbility due
customerds failure to sat irpdtytoasysseemtada Credd difficulted or insblvency arthe o n s
perceived possibility of credit difficulties or insolvency, of one or more larger or visible market participants coutdtso r
marketwide credit difficulties or other market disrigms.

Execution Access is an introducing broker which operates the eSpeed trading platform for U.S. Treasury securities. Executior
Access has a clearing arrangement with Cantor Fitzgerald. As of December 31, 2014, we have contributed $19 milling of clear
deposits to Cantor Fitzgerald in connection with this clearing arrangement. These deposits are recorded in other timemtiasse
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Some of the trading activity in Execution Access is cleared by Cantor Fitzgerakl @@pagh the
balance is cleared ngfiCC. Execution Access assumes the counterparty risk of clients that do not clear througBdtiQt€rparty
risk of clients exists for Execution Access between the trade date and settlement date of the indivedatibtranwhich is one
businessdayaAl | of Execution Accessd obligations under the cl ear.|
Some of the noiirICC counterparties will be required to post collateral, provide principal lettepsowide other forms of credit
enhancement to Execution Access for the purpose of mitigating counterparty risk.

We are exposed to credit risk through our clearing oper:
and Margin DepositRe cei ved f or Cl earBalgarOperShe otn sAror afgdimdrit s, 0 abc
Op e r a ttdthe consoliwated financial statemefaisfurther discussion.

We also have credit risk related to transaction and subscriptiga revenues that are billed to customers on a monthly or
guarterly basis, in arrears. Our potential exposure to credit losses on these transactions is represented by thealeceealihecr
Consolidated Balance Sheefm an ongoing basis, werevimmn d eval uate changes in the statu
creditworthiness.

Credit losses such as those described above could adversely affect our consolidated financial position and resulbs®f operati

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The peparation ofinancial statements and related disclosimezonformity with U.S. GAAP requires managemeniriake
judgmens, assumptionsand estimatethat affect the amounts reportiedthe consolidated financialagementaind accompanying
notesNote2,i Summary of Significant Accounti ng HReskribesthegificantt o t he
accounting policies and methods used in the preparatithre obnsolidatedinancialstatements. The accounting policies described
below ae significantly affected by critical accounting estimates. Such accounting policies require significant judgments, assumptio
and estimatessed in the preparation of thensolidatedinancialstatements, and actual results could differ materially ftioen
amounts reported based on these policies

Revenue Recognition

Listing Services Revenues

Listing Services revenugsimarily include annual renewal fees, initial listing feasdlisting of additional shares fees. Annual
renewal fees do not requiamy judgments or assumptions by management as these amounts are recognized ratably over the followir
12-month periodn the U.S. or on a trailing 2&onth basis in Europélowever, listing of additional shares fees and initial listing fees
are recognizedn a straightine basis over estimated service periods, which are four and six years, respectively, based on our
historical listing experience and projected future listing duration. Unamortized balances are recorded as deferred ttevenue in
ConsolidatedBalance Sheets.

Technology SolutionRevenues

Market Technology Revenues

For most technology solutionsgventer into multipleelement sales arrangementsliéwveloptechnology solutiondicense the
right to use softwaregndprovide posicontract support and othservices to our customers. In order to recognize revenues associated
with each individual element of a multiptdement sales arrangement separately, we are required to establish the existemderof
specific objetive evidence, or VSO fair value for each element. When VSOE for individual elements of an arrangement cannot
be established, revenue is generally deferred and recognized over either the final element of the arrangement oetitmeoé itiee t
arrangement for which the services will be delivered.
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Goodwill and Related Impairment

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the value assigned to the net tangible and identifiable intésgible asse
a business acquired. Goodwill is allocate@ur reporting units based on the assignment of the fair values of each reporting unit of the
acquired company. We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level annually, or in interim periods if certain@sgn
indicating that the carrgig amount may be impaired, such as changes in the business climate, poor indicators of operating
performance or the sale or disposition of a significant portion of a reportind=anpurposes of performing our goodwill impairment
test, our six reportingnits are the Market Services segment, the Listing Services segment, the two businesses comprising the
Information Services segment: Data Products and Index Licensing and Services, and the two businesses comprising the Technolo
Solutions segment: Corpate Solutions and Market Technologye test for impairment during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year
using carrying amounts as of Octolieln conducting the 2@annual impairment test for goodwill, we first performed a qualitative
assessment to deteine whether it was more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit was less than the carrying amount a
a basis for determining whether it was necessary to perform thstépauantitative goodwill impairment test described in Financial
Accounting Standards Boardr FASB, Accounting Standards Codification,A8C, Topi ¢ 3 50Go ofidlwiitlal n gai nbdl e
or ASC Topic 350 The morelikely-thannot threshold is defined as having a likelihoodrafre than 50 percent. If, after assessirg th
totality of events or circumstances, we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reportitgsaritias its
carrying amount, then the twsiep quantitative test for goodwill impairment is performed for the appropriatdingponits.
Otherwise, we conclude that no impairment is indicated and thetepoquantitative test for goodwill impairment is not performed.

In conducting the qualitative assessment, we analyzed actual and projected growth trends for each repasingeliEs
historical performance versus plan and the results of prior quantitative tests performed. Additionally, each repodsesse# a
critical areas that may impact their business, including macroeconomic conditions and the related inmcelatad exposures,
competitive changes, new or discontinued products, changes in key peraodogher potential risks to their projected financial
results.

If required, the quantitative goodwill impairment test is a-step process performed hetreporting unit level. First, the fair
value of each reporting unit is compared to its corresponding carrying amount, including goodwill. The fair value obet@ady rep
unit is estimated using a combination of discounted cash flow valuation, whigpanates assumptions regarding future growth
rates, terminal values, and discount rates, as well as guideline public company valuations, incorporating relevantltijplésmgfmu
comparable companies and other factors. The estimates and assumptiaunsis historical performance and are consistent with
the assumptions used in determining future profit plans for each reporting unit, which are approved by our board ofifiihectors
first step results in the carrying amount exceeding the fair \zdlthe reporting unit, then a second step must be completed in order to
determine the amount of goodwill impairment that should be recorded, if any. In the second step, the implied fair ealue of th
reporting unités goodwiel Ireipordetihgr minnedsby aalrl vo@adtuieng ot lal |
in a manner similar to a purchase price allocation. The implied fair value of the goodwill that results from the appfiidasion
second step is then compared todheying amount of the goodwill and an impairment charge is recorded for any difference.

For our annual test of goodwill impairment in 20%e considered the results of ogwantitative test performed in January 201
on our reportable segmentghich indicated that the fair value of each reporting unit was in excess of its carrying amount. We also
considered future financial projections, current market conditions, and any changes in the carrying amount of the nisorting u

At the time of ou2014 annual impairment test, our goodwill balance wag8@2million, of which $3,222 nillion was
attributable to our Market Services segmedg%million was attributable to ouristing Services segmen$1,895million was
attributable to our InformatioBervices segmermind $56 million was attributable to our Technolo@plutionssegment.

We utilized the qualitative screen four Listing Services Data Products, Index Licensing and ServiaedMarketTechnology
reporting unitsas the excesses of thtair values over their respective carrying amounts were significant. In conducting the
gualitative assessment for thdear reporting units, we evaluated future financial projections by management to determine if there
were any changes in the key inputsed to determine the fair values of each reporting unit. We also considered the qualitative factors
in ASC Topic 350, as well as other relevant events and circumstances. Based on the results of the qualitative asseasiment for
reporting unit, we corladed based on a preponderance of positive indicators and the weight of such indicators that the fair values of
our Listing Services Data Products, Index Licensing and ServigedMarketTechnology reporting units are more likely than not
greater than #ir respective carrying amounts and as a result, quantitative analyses were not needed. Therefore, no further testing c
goodwill for impairment was performed for these reporting units for the year ended De@&mbeu.

Since the fair values of our Meet Services and Corporate Solutions reporting units excihdir carrying amounts by less
than 10% in our 2013 annual goodwill impairment test,bypassed the qualitative assessment faetieporting unis. We
performed step one of the quantitativadwill impairment testor both of these reporting uniééd determined that the fair vafuef
our Market Serviceand Corporate Solutiongporting unis exceededheir carrying amourgt by more than 10%As a result, no
goodwill impairment was recorded. The fair value of our Market SereindsCorporate Solutiongporting unis was determined
using a combination of two equally weighted valuation methods, a market approach and an income approacketTdpgonazach
estimates fair value by applying revenues, earnings and cash flow multiples to the Market Srdvicegporate Solutiomgporting
unitsboperating performance. The multiples are derived from comparable ptindidiyd companies with similaperating and
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investment characteristics to our Market Servined Corporate Solutiongporting unis. The market approach requires
management 6s judgment to determine several valwuati @memiunmnput
The control premium is based on recent transactions in the marketplace. Under the income approach, we estimated lfuugre cash f
of our Market Serviceand Corporate Solutiongporting unis based on internally generated forecasts of futuanfiral

performanceWe determined a lonterm growth rate for the terminal year period based on historical and expected inflation rates as
wel |l as manage me n ttdns grosvth of thenlausiness.oMe théntdiscountedntiee projected cash flogs weeighted
average cost of capital @0.0% for Market Services and 10.2% for Corporate Solutions

Although we believe our estimates of fair value are reasonable, the determination of certain valuation inputs is subject to
management 6s psundtgese puts coul€ratenatly affect the results of our impairment review. If our ferdazmth
flows generated by our Market Servigesd Corporate Solutiongporting units or other key inputs are negatively revised in the
future, the estimatefdir value of the Market Servicesmd Corporate Solutiomsporting units would be adversely impacted,
potentially leading to an impairment in the future that could materially affect our operating results.

Subsequent to our annual impairment test, nwatibns of an impairment were identified.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets and Related Impairment

Intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives are not amortized but instead are tested for impairmentullgast ann
and more frequently vémever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of the asset may be less than its carry
amount. The fair value of indefinHesed intangible assets is primarily determined on the basis of estimated discounted value, using
the relef from royalty approacbr excess earnings approdohtrade names and the Greenfield Approach for exchange and clearing
registrations and licenses, both of which incorporate assumptions regarding future revenue projections and discommitanates. Si
goodwill impairment testing, we test for impairment of indefifived intangible assets during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year
using carrying amounts as of Octoliedn conducting the 2@annual impairment test for indefinitered intangible asets, we first
performed a qualitative assessment to determine whether it was more likely than not that the fair value of anlinddfinitngible
asset was less than the carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it was necessary tbeggtfantitative impairment test
described in ASC Topic 350. The mdikely-thannot threshold is defined as having a likelihood of more than 50 percent. If, after
assessing the totality of events or circumstances, we determine that it is more likalpttkizat the fair value of an indefiniliged
intangible asset is less than its carrying amount, then the quantitative test for indigédiiatangible assets impairment is
performed for the appropriate intangible assets. If the carrying amoumd ofdefinitelived intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an
impairment charge is recorded for the difference.

Other LongLived Assets and Related Impairment

We also assess potential impairments to our otherllgad assets, including finitbved intangible assets, equity method
investments, property and equipment and other asgleds) there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. An impairment loss is recognizedewdarythg amount of the loAyed asset
exceeds its fair value and is not recoverable. The carrying amount of-eMeth@sset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual ispafdite asset. We evaluate our eqaityl costnethod
investments for othethantemporary declines in value by considering a variety of factors such as the earnings capacity of the
investment and the fair value of the investment compared to its @gaagiount. In addition, for investments where the market value
is readily determinable, we consider the underlying stock price as an additional factor. Any required impairment logseid aseas
the amount by which the carrying amount of a Hingd assetxceeds its fair value and is recorded as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the related asset and a charge to operating results.

Amortization Periods of Intangible Assets with Finiieives

Intangible assets, net, primarily include exchange andioteeegistrations, customer relationships, trade names, licenses and
technology. Intangible assets with finitees are amortized on a straighte basis over their average estimated useful lives as
follows:

A Technology2d 5 years
A Customer relationship8d 30 years
A Other: ® 10 years
The estimated useful life of developed and new technology is based on the likely duration of benefits to be derived from the
technology. We consider such factors as the migration cycle-flati®rming existing technologies and the development of future

generations of technology. We also give consideration to the pace of the technological changes in the industries iselihich we
products.
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The estimated useful life of customer relationships is determined based on an analysis of the histadnalaadtsiof
customers and an analysis of the legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic, or other factors that limit ltfeeafsefu
customer relationships.

See Note 4, fAAcquisitions and Di vestnigti brlee, AAsasred sNot & 05 ,t
financial statements for further discussion of intangible assets.

Income Taxes

Estimates and judgments are required in the calculation of certain tax liabilities and in the determination of the fiéggoferabi
certan deferred tax assets, which arise from net operating loss carryforwards, tax credit carryforwards and temporary differences
between the tax and financial statement recognition of revenue and expense. Our deferred tax assets are reducedrby a valuatio
allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realizedgarfats.
Management is required to determine whether a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon examcindtiam, i
resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. Once it eldbtgranin
position meets the recognition thresholds, the position is measured to determine the amount of benefddoibedacthe
consolidated financial statements. Interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters are recognized in inconsetax expen

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we consider all available evidence including past oget&jngeexistence
of cumulative losses in the most recent fiscal years, estimates of future taxable income and the feasibility of tastpédagies. In
the event that we change our determination as to the amount of deferred tax assets thatatiaadyeve will adjust our valuation
allowance with a corresponding impact to the provision for income taxes in the period in which such determination is made.

In addition, the calculation of our tax liabilities involves uncertainties in the appliaaftiax regulations in the U.S. and other
tax jurisdictions. We recognize potential liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in such jurisdictions based anaiarast
whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes and interest may be duew&hielieve that our tax liabilities reflect the probable
outcome of identified tax uncertainties, it is reasonably possible that the ultimate resolution of any tax matter meer loe lgsesa
than the amount accrued. If events occur and the paymérgse amounts ultimately proves unnecessary, the reversal of the
liabilities would result in tax benefits being recognized in the period when we determine the liabilities are no longarnyndcesr
estimate of tax liabilities proves to be less thanutimate assessment, a further charge to expense would result.

Software Costs

We capitalize and amortize significant purchased application software and operational software that are an integral part of
computer hardware on the straigdime method ovetheir estimated useful lives, generally five years. We expense other purchased
software as incurred.

Certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal use software are capltatizedosts include both
internal and third paytcosts.

Under ourTechnology Solutionsegment, costs of computer software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed as a separate
product or as part of a product or process are capitalized after the product has reached technological feasibilibgidachnol
feasibility is established upon completion of a detail program design or, in its absence, completion. Thereafter, alpsoftuwaion
costsarecapitalized. Prior to reaching technological feasibility, all costs are charged to expense. €dpuitaliz are amortized on a
straightline basis over the remaining estimated economic life of the product and are included in depreciation and amortization
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

S e Recéntly Alopted Accounting Pronouncementa n dRecéntly Issued Accounting Pronouncemgra§Note 2,
ASummary of Significant Accounting Policies, 0 rdacentlytadogtedamn s o
recently issued accountiq@yonouncements that are applicable to Nasdagq.
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Summarized Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr
2014 2014 2014 2014

(in millions, except per share amounts)

Total revenues $ 898 $ 865 $ 818 $ 919
Transactiorbased expenses (369) (342 (321 (402
Revenues less transactibased expenses 529 523 497 517
Total operating expenses 345 332 290 344
Opeaating income 184 191 207 173
Net income attributable to Nasdaq $ 103 $ 101 $ 123 $ 87
Basic earnings per share $ 0.61 $ 0.60 $ 0.73 $ 0.52
Diluted earnings per share $ 059 $ 059 $ 071 $ 0.50
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.28 $ - % 0.15 $ 0.15
1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr
2013 2013 2013 2013
(in millions, except per share amounts)
Total revenues $ 744 $ 814 $ 805 $ 849
Transactiorbased expenses (326) (363) (299) (329
Revenues less transactibased expenses 418 451 506 520
Total operating expenses 328 292 304 282
Operating income 90 159 202 238
Net income attributable to Nasdaq $ 42 % 88 $ 113 $ 141
Basic earnings per share $ 0.26 $ 053 $ 0.68 $ 0.84
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.25 $ 052 $ 0.66 $ 0.81
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.13 $ 0.13 $ 0.13 $ 0.13

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

I nformation about quantitative and qualitative disclosur
Management 6andAnalgsis of BirranciallCondition and Results of OperafioRsantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Mar ket Risk. OO

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Nasdaqds consolidated financial statement3f201l4and2018,di ng C
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended Decdint#614, 2013 and 2012, Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Le)sfor the years ended DecemBéar 2014, 2013 and 2012, Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
for the years ended Deceml®r, 2014, 2013 and 2012, Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 3dcember
2014, 2013 and 2012 and notesour consolidated financial statements, together with a report thereon o&Efosng LLP, dated
Februaryl?7, 2015 are attached hereto as pagek throughF-53 and incorporated by reference herein.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountiégs on Accountingand Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

(a).Disclosure controls and proceduresla s daqb6s management, with the participa
and Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vieer e si dent , Corporate Strategy, has eval
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controls and procedures (as defined in Rule18@) and Rule 15d5(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered

by this report. Based upon thatewaltt i o n Nasdaqgbés Chief Executive Officer, an
President, Corporate Strategy have concluded that, aes of t
effective.

(b). Internal controls overfinancial reporting. There have been no changedlasdag s i nt er nal control s
reporting (as defined in Rule 1-3%&(f) and Rule 15d.5(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred dutirgquarter ended December
31, 2014that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially aNeslag s i nt er nal contr ol s
Management 86s Report on I nternal Control Over Financi al Rep

Management is responsible for the preparation and ingeafrthe consolidated financial statements appearing in the reports that
we file with the SEC. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with U.S. generally acceptetbaccounti
principles and incl ude atmaeasandpdgments.ed on management s es

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal conMesdadérs f i nanci al r
Although there are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control ovealffirgomriing, we maintain a
system of internal control that is designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the fair and reliable preparationadion pfese
the consolidated financial statements, as well as to safeguard assets from unauthoozdipesition that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of Béc@@Hebased on
criteria established in Internal Conidolntegrated=ramework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO(2013frameworR. This evaluation included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the design
effectiveness of controls, testing of the operaéffgctiveness of controls and a conclusion on this evaluation. Based on its
assessment, our management believes that, as of Decg&mi2&U, our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

Ernst& Young LLP, an independent registered public count i ng firm, has issued an att
control over financial reporting, which is included herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of The NASDAQ OMX Groo, |

We have audited The NASDAQ OMX Group, Il nc.6s internal C (
criteria established in Internal Contolntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commssion (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). The NASDAQ
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal contr@rmial fin
reportingf ncl uded i n the accompanying Management s Report on In
express an opinion on the companyds internal control over

We conducted our audit in accordanwith the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effectivetiokernal cc
over financial reporting was maintathé all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and optiretimess fité
internal control bsed on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumsta
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companyés internal control 0 wed rto pfovide aeasorialdel assuranpeoregarding dhe i
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance vatly gener
accepted accounting principl es. reporticganoiydesrthpse policies dan@ proveaures that (L} r
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions andsdafpibwst
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurandeatisztctions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the doanpgny are
made only in accordance with authorizations of aggament and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of wunaut holavezaed
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Als
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inedagsmfe
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of Decemb@d., 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
consolidated balance sheets of The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. as of December 31, 2014 andn20tt® related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the three yeardietidegerio
December 31, 2014 of The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. and our report dated February 17, 201$sex@e unqualified opinion
thereon.

/sl Emst& Young LLP

New York, New York
Februaryl7, 2015

64



Table Of Contents

Item 9B. Other Information.

Disclosure of Iranian Activities Under Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Section 219 of the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012, or the ITRSHRA, requires disclosure by public
companies of certain transactions involving the Government of Iran, as well as entities and individuals designated utider Exec
Order 13382 and Executive Order 13224. In some instances, ITRSHRA requires companies to disclose these types of transactions
even if they were permissible under U.S. law or were conducted by-d.Somffiliate in accordance with the local law under which
such entity operates.

As a leading provider of trading, clearing, exchange technology, regulatory, securities listing, information and pubfig compa
services across six continents, we own and operate stock exchanges and other businesses in mamysjtinisdighout the world.
To our knowledge, none of our activities during 2014 is required to be disclosed pursuant to ITRSHRA, with the follovtiley poss
exceptions. As set forth imur Quarterly Report on For)-Q for theperiod ended September ZM14, a noAU.S. subsidiary of
Nasdaq, NASDAQ OMX Armenia OJSC, operated the Armenian Stock Exchange and the Central Depository of Armenia, which ar
regulated by the Central Bank of Armenia under Armenian law. In accordance with the requirements of AaweMatlat Bank
SB CJSC, an Armenian entity that is designated under Executive Order 13382, is a market participant on the Armenian Stock
Exchange and, as a result, pays participation and transaction fees to the Armenian Stock Exchange. In 201disthé&tutke
Exchange received participation and transaction fees from Mellat Bank SB CJSC totaling 2,828,594 Armenian Dram (thé equivaler
of approximately $6,950), which represents only 1.1% of all participation and transaction fees collected by then/8toeki
Exchange during that period. We have voluntarily-d&dtlosed this matter to the U.S. government and have applied for authorization
from the U.S. government to contincertainactivitiespertaining to Mellat Bank SB CJSC in Armeiniaa limitedmanner.

Part Il

Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

I nformation about Nas da gd40lsof Regulator K, dsinsorporatesl byrrefecence fromthe by | t e
di scussion under the odaptiirerctmPrsdpd nalNals:d afléesc tpirmonxy st at en

Stockholders, or the Proxy. 1 nfor mat i on0OleoobRegulatiorNg, s themgpdiated e x e
by reference from the discussion underthecaptiocin Ex ecuti ve Of fi cers of Nasda §i6depdrta, t h
as required by Item05 of Regulation &K , is incorporated by reference from the ¢
Beneficial OwnershiptiRepBroxynwg ICofnmpild mathiced amout NAaO§dfaq d s
Regulation &K, is incorporated by reference from the discussion

I nformati on about Na ssdaadiédommitiee amd audittcommittee finarcial exparts, as required by Items
407(c)(3), 407(d)(4) and 407(d)(5) of Regulatiot)kS i s i ncor porated by reference from
Corporate Governanceo in the Proxy.

ltem 11.Executive Compensation.

I nformation about Nasdaqgqbds director and executive comper
Regulation &K, is incorporated by reference from t he dpemsatonssi on |
Di scussion and Analysis, 0 AManagement Compensation Commit:t
I nsider Participationo and fAExecutive Compensationo in the

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners atd Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Information about security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management, as requiredtbg lhéRegulation K,
is incorporated by reference fr om tifhoéCedainBenefisid Owmersanchder t he
Management o in the Proxy.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Nasdaqgqdéds Equity Plan provides for the issuance of our eq
consultants. In addition, most ptoyees of Nasdaq and its subsidiaries are eligible to participate in the Nasdaq Employee Stock Purcha
Plan, or ESPP, at 85.0% of the fair market value of our common stock on the price calculation date. The Equity PlaBRRd#we E
been approved prusly by our stockholders. The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding options and shares
reserved for future issuance under 34PR014.0f Nasdagbds compense
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Number of shares
remaining available

Number of shares for future issuance
to be issued upon Weighted-average under equity
exercise of exercise price of compensationplans
outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding shares
Plan Category warrants and rights(a)®® warrants and rights(b) reflectedin column(a)(c)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockhold 3,316,782 $ 27.56 10,322,509
Equity compensation plans not approved by
StOCKNOIAErS.....cvvveiiec e o $ 0
1] - | PSS 3,316,782 $ 27.56 10,322,509

@ The amounts in this column include only the number of shares to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants ar
rights. At DecembeB1, 2014, we also hag405,837shares to be issued upon vesting of outstanding restricted stock and
performane share units, dPSUs.

@ This amount includeg,516,850hares of common stock that may be awarded pursuant to the Equity PB3B8@BE53hares
of common stock that may be issued pursuant to the ESPP.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related fansactions, and Director Independence.

Information about certain relationships and related transactions, as required B94temRegulation &, is incorporated
herein by reference from the discussieodn Turnadnesra ctthieo ncsadp tiino nt |
about director independence, as required by #8i(a) of Regulation%, is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion
under the caption AProposal Il : Election of Directorso in t

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information about principal accountant fees and services, as required B(&paf Schedule 14A, is incorporated herein by
reference from the discussion under t hafIndepepderit RegisteficB Publio o s a |
Accounting Firmd in the Proxy.

Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a)(1) Financial Statements

See Al ndex to Consolidated Financi al Statements and Sche

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
See Al ndex to Consolidated Financi al Statements and Sche

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not requiresl under th
related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore havedreitied.
(2)(3) Exhibits

Exhibit Index

Exhibit
Number

21 Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2013, among The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc., BGC Partners, Inc.,
Holdings, L.P., BGC Partners, L.P., and, solely for purposesrtédin sections thereof, Cantor Fitzgerald, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Quarterly Report on Fe@QridtGhe quarter ended June 30
2013 filed on August 8, 2013).

2.2 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of May0¥3, among NASDAQ OMX Corporate Solutions, LLC, Thomsot
Reuters (Markets) LLC, Thomson Reuters Global Resources, and, solely for purposes of certain sections thet
NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. and Thomson Reuters Corporation (incorporated herein bgneddao Exhibit 2.2 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 1Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 filed on August 8, 2013).

3.1 Nasdagbébs Amended and Restated Certificate of 1l ncc
Current Reporbn Form 8K filed on January 28, 2014).
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Exhibit
Number

3.1.1

3.1.2

3.2

4.1

4.2

421

4.3

431

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

Certificate of Elimination of Nasdagds Series A (
Exhibit 3.1.1 to the Current Report on ForAK8iled on January 28, 2014).

Certificate of Amendment of Nasdagdéds Amended and
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on FoidfBed on November 19, 2014).

Na s d a gLaves (if8grporated herein by refereno Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report on Fori{ 8iled on
November 19, 2014).

Form of Common Stock certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statem«
Form 10 filed on April 30, 2001).

The NASDAQOMX Gr oup I nc.6s Stockholdersé Agreement,
OMX Group, Inc. and Borse Dubai Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Re
Form 8K filed on March 3, 2008).

FirstAmendment to The NASDAQ OMX Group Inc.ds Stockl
between The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. and Borse Dubai Limited (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4.10.1 to the Annual Report on FormHKdor the yearended December 31, 2008 filed on February 27, 20

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2008, among The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc., Bors:
Limited and Borse Dubai Nasdaq Share Trust (incorporated herein by referéndgttiv 10.3 to the Current Report
Form 8K filed on March 3, 2008).

First Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Feldi2a2909, among The NASDAQ OMX
Group, Inc., Borse Dubai Limited and Borse Dubai Nasdaq Share Trustp@nated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4.11.1 to the Annual Report on FormKGdor the year ended Decembit, 2008 filed on Februaii7, 2009).

Indenture, dated as of Janudsy, 2010, between Nasdaq and Wells Fargo Bank, National Assocadidn,stee
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Hériite@ on January9, 2010).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 15, 2010, among Nasdaq and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, a3 rustee (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on-RditacBon
January 19, 2010).

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 21, 2010, among Nasdaq and Wells Fargo Bank, Nai
Association, as Trustgencorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Hérfite® on
December 21, 2010).

NASDAQ Stockhol der sd Agr d& 20e0nketyween Ttheé MASDAR OMX Group, énc. ant
Investor AB (incorporated hereby reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the Annual Report on ForrK I6r the year ended
DecembeBl, 2010 filed on Februa4, 2011).

Indenture, dated as of June 7, 2013, between The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, Nationt
Association, aJrustee (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on-RditadBon
June 10, 2013).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 7, 2013, among The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc., Wells Fargo
National Association, abrustee, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, as paying agent, and Deutsche Bank
Luxembourg S.A., as registrar and transfer agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Curre
on Form 8K filed on June 10, 2013).

SecondSupplemental Indenture, dated as of May 29, 2014, among The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. and Wells
Bank, National Association, as Trustee (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report
8-K filed on May 30, 2014)
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Exhibit
Number

4.11

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.8.1

10.9

10.10

10.10.1

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

Regstration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2013, by and among The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc., B(
Partners, Inc., BGC Holdings, L.P. and BGC Partners, L.P. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 t
Current Report on FormR filed on Julyl, 2013).

Amended and Restated Board Compensation Policy, effective on October 17, 2013 (incorporated herein by re
Exhibit 10.1 to the Annual Report on Form-K(or the year ended Decemkigt, 2013 filed on Februai24, 2014).*

The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. 2010 Executive Corporate Incentive Plan, effective as of January 1, 2010
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Fepnfat@he quarter ended June 3!
2010 filed on August 4, 2010).*

Form of Nasdaq No®Qualified Stock Option Award Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Annual Report on Form-KCor the year ended Decembigt, 2010 filed on Februa4, 2011).*

Form of Nasdaq RestrictegtockUnit Award Certificate (employees).*

Form of Nasdaq Restricted Stock Unit Award Certificate (directors) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhik
the Quarterly Report on Form 4D for the quarter ended September 30, 2014 fileNavember 5, 2014).*

Form of Nasdaq On¥ear Performance Share Unit Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on FormQCor the quarter ended March 31, 2014 filed on May 9, 2014).*

Form of Nasdaq Thre¥ear Performance Share Unit Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on FormQCor the quarter ended March 31, 2014 filed on May 9, 2014).*

Amended and Restated Supplemental EtteeiRetirement Plan, dated as of Decenib&r2008 (incorporated hereit
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Annual Report on ForrK I0r the year ended December 31, 2008 filed on
February 27, 2009).*

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Rest&egplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective as of December
2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6.1 to the Annual Report on Férfiorlthe year ended
December 31, 2008 filed on February 27, 2009).*

The NASDAQ OMX GroupInc. Supplemental Employer Retirement Contribution Plan, dated as of December
2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Annual Report orlBdtrfor the year ended
December 31, 2008 filed on February 27, 2009).*

Employment Agreement between Nasdaq and Robert Greifeld, effective as of February 22, 2012 (incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Fo#fi&ed on February 28, 2012).*

Memorandum of Understanding betweéasdaqg and Robert Greifeld, dated as of December 11, 2012 (incorpor:
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10.1 to the Annual Report on Forkhft®the year ended December 31, 2012 fil
on February 21, 2013).*

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreemebetween Nasdaq and Robert Greifeld reflecting Dece®e2006 grant
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Annual Report onlPenfor the year ended December
2007 filed on February 25, 2008).*

Nonqualified StoclOption Agreement between Nasdaq and Robert Greifeld reflecting30u2809 grant
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Annual Report onlleeknfor the year ended December
2009 filed on February 18, 2010).*

Employment Agreement between Nasdaqg and Adena Friedman, made and entered into on May 9, 2014 and
of June 16, 2014 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report onfebfan fite quarte
ended June 30, 2014 filesh August 6, 2014).*

Employment Agreement between Nasdag and Hzlaslochumsen, made and entered into and effective on Augt
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Exhibit
Number

10.15

10.15.1

10.15.2

10.15.3

10.16

10.17

11

12.1
21.1
23.1
24.1

31.1

31.2

32.1
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB

101.PRE

2014 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on FQrodthe quarter ended
September 30, 2014 filed on November 5, 2014).*

Employment Agreement between Nasdaq and Edward Knight, effective as of December 29, 2000 (incorporatt
by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Annual Report on FbdK for the year ended December 31, 2002 filed on
March 31, 2003).*

First Amendment to Employment Agreement between Nasdag and Edward Knight, effective February 1, 200z
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14.1 to the Annual Report onlBd{rfor the year ended
December 31, 2002 filed on March 31, 2003).*

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement between Nasdaq and Edward Knight, effective as of Decemt
2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13.2 to the Annual Report on Fé&riforlihe year ended
December 31, 2008 filed on Felry 27, 2009).*

Third Amendment to Employment Agreement between Nasdaq and Edward Knight, effective as of February 2
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Heérfite8 on February 28, 2012).*

The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. Change in Control Severance Plan for Executive Vice Presidents and Senior
Presidents, effective November 26, 2013 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Rep
Form 8K filed on November 9, 2013).*

Credit Agreement, dated as of November 24, 2014, among The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc., Bank of America
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Swingline Lenders, the other Le
party thereto an8ank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank (incorporated herein by refe
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on ForAK8iled on December 1, 2014).

Statement regarding computation of per share earnings (incorpbextad by reference from Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements under Raltem 8 of this Forml0-K).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
List of all subsidiaries.

Consent of Ernst & YoungLP.

Powers of Attorney.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sartames ey Act of -200
Oxl eyo).

Certification of Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Corporate Stiategyant to Section 302 of
Sarbane©xley.

Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of-Saibgnes
XBRL Instance Document**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
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*

*%

(b)

(©)

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

The following materials from The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. Annual Report on For# 16r the year ended Decemhit,
2014, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Languagejo(isolida¢d Balance Sheets at DecemBgr 2014
and DecembeBl, 2013{ii) Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended Dec8int#414, 2013 and

2012; (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incfioss)for the years ended Decemi®dr, 20142013 and 2012;
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the years ended De8amd@t4, 2013 and 2012; (€@pnsolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Dece3tth2014, 2013 and 2012; and (ndtes to consolidated financial
statements.

Exhibits:
See Itenl5(a)(3) above.

Financial Statement Schedules:
See Iteml5(a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sectl@wor 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on Fehr2aiy.

THE NASDAQ OMX GRroup, INC.

By: /s/ ROBERT GREIFELD
Name: Robert Greifeld
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of Becurities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons

on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated as of Febi215.

Name

Title

/s/ ROBERT GREIFELD

Robert Greifeld
/s/ LEE SHAVEL

Lee Shavel

/s/ RONALD HASSEN

Ronald Hassen

*

Bdrje Ekholm

*

Charlene T. Begley

*

Steven D. Black

*

Glenn H. Hutchins

*

Essa Kazim

*

John D. Markese

*

Ellyn A. McColgan

*

Thomas F.

*

Michael R. Splinter

*

Lars Wedenborn

*

By:

Pursuant to Power of Attorney

/s/ EDWARD S. KNIGHT

Edward S. Knight

Attorney-in-Fact

Chief ExecutiveOfficer andDirector
(Principal Executive Officer)

ChiefFinancialOfficer and Executive Vice President, Corporate Strategy
(Principal Financial Officer)

Senior VicePresident and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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THE NASDAQ OMX GROUP, INC.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc.

We have auditetl he accompanying consolidated balance sheets of 7
DecembeBl, 204 and 203, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive {(fesshehanges in equity, and
cash flows for each of tharee years in the period ended Decen®igr204. Our audits also included the financial statement
schedule listed in the Indexunderiténb ( a) ( 2) . These financial statements and s
management. Our responsityilis to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United State
Those standards require that we pdad perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts andidititéosures
financial statements. An aiiélso includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by managemen
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonahbteibasis for
opinion.

In our ophion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. at Decemigdr, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows fo each of the three years in the period ended Decedih@014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the badistatamaats
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
NASDAQ OMX Gr oup ,conttohaver Bnancial repodimgras ¢f DecemBér 2014, based on criteria established in
Internal Controlintegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (20:
framework) and our report dated February 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ermst& Young LLP

New York, New York
Februaryl7, 2015
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The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in millions, except share and par value amounts)

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Financial investments, at fair value
Receivables, net
Deferred tax assets
Default funds and margin deposits
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Non-current deferred tax assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other norcurrent assets
Total assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Section 31 feepayable to SEC
Accrued personnel costs
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Default funds and margin deposits
Current portion of deltbligations
Total current liabilities
Debt obligations
Non-current deferred tax liabilities
Non-current deferred revenue
Other norcurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Equity

Nasdaq stockholders' equity:
Common stock$0.01par value300,000,00Ghares authorized, shares issuet),325,304t December 31, 2014 a@d4,419,15!
at December 31, 2013; shares outstandi6g; 795,26%t December 31, 2014 at69,357,084t December 31, 2013
Preferred stock30,000,00Ghares authorized, series A convertible preferred stock: shares issnedt December 31, 2014 ani
1,600,000at December 31, 2013; shamsgstandingnone at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013
Additional paidin capital
Common stock in treasury, at cost530,041shares at December 31, 2014 d6¢D62,07Ishares at December 31, 2013
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings

Total Nasdag stockholders' equity

Noncontrollinginterests

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(in millions, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Revenues:
Market Services $ 2,247 $ 2,092 $ 2,206
Listing Services 238 228 224
Information Services 473 436 400
Technology Solutions 542 455 290

Total revenues 3,500 3,211 3,120
Transaction-based expenses:
Transaction rebates (1,065 (1,002 (1,204
Brokerage, clearance and exchange fees (368 (314 (342
Revenues less transactichased expenses 2,067 1,895 1,674
Operating expenses:
Compensation and benefits 588 539 454
Marketing and advertising 32 30 26
Depreciation and amortization 137 122 104
Professional and contract services 157 151 107
Computer operations and data communications 92 82 60
Occupancy 110 98 93
Regulatory 27 30 34
Merger and strategic initiatives 81 22 4
General, administrative and other 89 80 58
Restructuring charges - 9 44
Voluntary accommodation program - 44 -

Total operating expenses 1,313 1,207 984
Operating income 754 688 690
Interest income 6 9 10
Interest expense (117, (111 (97)
Gain on sale of investment security - 30 -
Asset impairment charges (49) (14) (40)
Loss on divestiture of business - - (14
Net loss fromunconsolidated investees - (2) (1)
Income before income taxes 594 600 548
Income tax provision 181 216 199
Net income 413 384 349
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 1 1 3
Net income attributable to Nasdaq $ 414 $ 385 $ 352
Per share information:
Basic earnings per share $ 245 $ 230 $ 2.09
Diluted earnings per share $ 2.39 $ 225 $ 2.04
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.58 $ 052 $ 0.39

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensiiacome (Loss)
(in millions)

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net unrealized holding gains (losses) on availdbtesale investment securities:
Unrealized holding gains arising during period
Reclassification adjustment for (gaim@alized in net income on availakier-sale
investment security
Total
Foreign currency translation gains (losses):
Net foreign currency translation gains (losses)
Income tax benefit (expense)
Total
Employee benefit plans gains (losses):
Employee benefit plan adjustments gains (losses)
Income tax benefit (expense)
Total
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Nasdaq

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

$ 413% 384 $ 349

- 26 4
- (30) -

- (4) 4
(733 (17) 262
127 127 (95)
(606 110 167
(15) 21 (10)
6 ) 4
9) 12 (6)
(615 118 165
(202 502 514
1 1 3

$ (201)$ 503 $ 517

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(in millions, except share amounts)

Balance at December 31, 2011
Net income (loss)

Foreign currency translation, net of tax38b
Employee benefit plan adjustments, net of tagbf

Unrealized holding gain on availakfer-sale security
Cash dividends declared per common share
Share repurchase program

Amortization and vesting of restricted stock and P<
Stock options amortization and exercises, net
Other issuances of common stock, net

Sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest
other adjustments

Balance at December 31, 2012

Net income (loss)

Foreign currency translation, net of tax§if27
Employee benefit plan adjustments, net of tag®f

Unrealized holding gains on availabter-sale security
net of reclassification for gains realized in net incor

Cash dividends declared per common share
Share repurchase program

Amortization and vesting of restricted stock and P<
Stock options amortization and exercises, net
Other issuances of common stock, net

Purchase price related to issuance of Nasdaq com
stock- eSpeed acquisition

Balance at December 31, 2013

Number of Common Accumulated
Common Additional Stock In Other
Shares Paid-in Treasury at Comprehensive Retained Noncontrolling
Outstanding Capital Cost Loss Earnings Interests Total
173,552,93¢ $ $ 3,793 % (860) $ (350, $ 2,391 % 10 $ 4,986
- - - - 352 3) 349
- - - 167 - - 167
: : : 6) : : (6)
- - - 4 - - 4
- - - - (65) - (65)
(11,544,457 - (275) - - - (275)
1,997,516 (8) 44 - - ; 36
2,051,066 (22) 45 - - - 23
(451,226 8 (12) - - - (4)
- - - - - (6) (6)
165,605,83¢ $ $ 3771 % (1,058 (185 $ 2678 $ 1 $ 5,209
- - - - 385 (1) 384
- - - 110 - - 110
- - - 12 - - 12
- - - @) - - (@)
- - - - (87) - (87)
(321,000 - (10) - - - (10)
779,614 23 17 = = = 40
2,346,22C (20) 52 32
(45,835 20 (6) - - - 14
992,247 484 - - - - 484
169,357,08¢ $ $ 4278 % (2,005 $ (67) $ 2976 $ - $ 6,184
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Net income (loss)
Foreign currency translation, net of tax§if27

Employee benefit plan adjustments, net of tag®f
Cash dividends declared per common share

Share repurchase program

Amortization and vesting of restricted stock and P<
Stock options amortization and exercises, net
Other issuances of common stock, net

Retirement of common stock held in treasury

Sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interest
other adjustments

Purchase price related to issuance of Nasdaq com
stock- eSpeed acquisition

Balance at December 31, 2014

Number of Common Accumulated
Common Common Additional Stock in Other
Shares Stock at Paid-in Treasury at Comprehensive Retained Noncontrolling
Outstanding Par Value Capital Cost Loss Earnings Interests Total
- 8 - 8 - 8 - 8 - $ 414 (1) $ 413
. - - - (606 - - (606;
- - : : © - - 9
- - - - - (98) - (98)
(4,592,194 - - (178 - - - (178
1,972,573 - 57 - - - - 57
1,578,05C - 33 - - - - 33
(512,497 - 24 (28) - - - (4)
- - (1,170 1,170 - - - -
- - - - - - 2 2
992,247 - - - - - - -
168,795,26: $ 2 $ 3222 % (41) $ (6820 $ 3,292 1 $ 5,79

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in millions)
Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 413 $ 384 % 349
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 137 122 104

Sharebased compensation 62 47 4€

Excess tax benefits related to shhesed payments (15) (16) (@)

Gain on sale of investment security - (30) -

Deferred income taxes (6) 28 1€

Non-cash restructuring charges - 1 1€

Non-cash merger and strategic initiatives 20 - -

Loss on divestiture of business - - 14

Asset impairment charges 49 14 4C

Other reconciling items included in net income 28 11 1€
Net change in operating assets &allilities, net of effects of acquisitions and divestiture:

Receivables, net (16) (55) (30)

Other assets (55) 8 71

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (40) 51 1

Section 31 fees payable to SEC 42 (15) 9)

Accruedpersonnel costs 4) 3¢ 27)

Deferred revenue 64 (33) 5

Other liabilities 8 18 (17)
Net cash provided by operating activities 687 574 588
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of trading securities (283; (437, (301
Proceeds from sales and redemptions of trading securities 281 452 37z
Purchases of availabfer-sale investment securities (20) - -
Proceeds from sale of availalit-saleinvestment securities 17 48 -
Purchase of equity and cost method investments - (43) -
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired - (1,121 (112
Purchases of property and equipment (140; (115 (87)
Other investment activities (10 - -
Net cash used in investing activities (155, (1,216 (128
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments of debt obligations (970; (289 (245
Proceeds from debt obligations, net of debt issuance costs 73t 89t -
Cash paid for repurchase of common stock (178; (20) (275,
Cash dividends (98) (87) (65)
Proceeds receivddom employee stock activity 40 35 6
Payments related to employee shares withheld for taxes (31) (12) 3)
Excess tax benefits related to shbesed payments 15 1€ 7
Other financing activities 2 (1) (4)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (485; 547 479
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (18) (4) 1C
Net increae (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 29 (99) 9)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 39¢ 497 50¢€
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 427 $ 39¢ % 497
Supplemental Disclosure Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for:

Interest $ 114 $ 79 3 8C

Income taxes. net of refund $ 19C $ 157 $ 177
Non-cash investing activities:

Cost method investment $ 75 % - % -

Acquisition of eSpeed contingent future issuance of Nasdag common stock $ - $ 484 % -

Investment in LCH Clearnet Group. Limited $ - $ -3 37

See accompanying notesdonsolidated financial statements.
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The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Nature of Operations

We are a leading provider of trading, clearing, exchange technology, regulatory, securities listing, information and public
company services acros& continents. Our global offerings are diverse and include trading and clearing across multiple agset clas
access servicedata products, financial indexes, capital formation solutions, corporate solutions and market technology products an
services. Our technology powers markets across the globe, supgopibgderivatives trading, clearing and settient, cash equity
trading, fixed income trading and many other functions.

We manage, operate and provide our products and servifmes lousiness segments: Market Services, Listing Services,
Information Services and Technology Solutions.

Market Services

Our Market Services segment includes our equity derivative trading and clearing, cash equity trading, fixed income, currency
and commodities trading and clearing, and access and broker services businesses. We operate multiple exchanges and other
marketpla@e facilities across several asset classes, including derivatives, commodities, cash equity, debt, structured products and
ETFs. In addition, in some countries where we operate exchanges, we also provide broker services, clearing, settlemyht and ce
depository services. Our transactibased platforms provide market participants with the ability to access, process, display and
integrate orders and quotes. The platforms allow the routing and execution of buy and sell orders as well as the reporting of
transactions, providing fee based revenues.

In the U.S., we operatéreeoptions exchanges, as wellthseecash equity exchanges. The NASDAQ Stock Market, the
largest of our cash equities exchanges, is the largest single pool of liquidity for tradiigtddScash equities. We also operate a
leading electronic platform for trading of U.S. Treasuries.

In Europe, we operate exchanges in Stockholm (Sweden), Copenhagen (Denmark), Helsinki (Finland), and Iceland, as well a
the clearing operations of NASDAQMX Clearing AB, as Nasdaq Nordic. We also operate exchanges in Tallinn (Estonia), Riga
(Latvia) and Vilnius (Lithuania) as Nasdaq Baltic. Collectively, Nasdaq Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic offer trading in cast aupliiti
depository receipts, warrants, conges, rights, fund units and ETFs, as well as trading and clearing of derivatives and clearing of
resale and repurchase agreements. Through Nasdaq First North, our Nordic and Baltic operations also offer alternataeemarketp
for smaller companies. @also operate Nasdaq Armenia.

In addition, Nasdag Commaodities operates a power derivatives exchange regulated in Norway and a European carbon excha
In the U.K., we operate Nasdaqg NLX, a Londmsed multilateral trading venue that offers a rangetsf shortterm interest rate
and longterm interest rate ewand sterlingbased listed derivative products.

Listing Services

Our Listing Services segment includes our U.S. and European Listing Services businesses. We operate a variety of listing
platformsaround the world to provide multiple global capital raising solutions for private and public companies. Our main listing
markets are The NASDAQ Stock Market and the Nasdaq Nordic and Nasdaq Baltic exchanges. In March 2014, we launched NPM
marketplace foprivate growth companies.

As of December 31, 2014, The NASDAQ Stock Market was hor@der@Rlisted companies with a combined market
capitalization of approximatel§7.9trillion, and in Europe, the Nasdaqg Nordic and Nasdag Baltic exchanges, tog#iH¢asdaq
First North, were home t692listed companies with a combined market capitalization of approxintsteRyrillion.

Information Services
Our Information Services segment includes our Data Products and our Index Licensing and Servicesshusinesse

Our Data Products business sells and distributes historical artitmeajuote and trade information to market participants and
data distributorsOur data products enhance transparency of the market activity within the exchanges that we opexateland p
critical information to financial professional and individual investors globally.

Our Index Licensing and Services business develops and licenses Nasdaq branded indexes, associated derivatives, and fina
products and also provides custom caltioh services for thirgharty clientsWe currently calculate and distribute 038,000
indexesWe hadover $9%illion of assets under management in exchange traded products tracking Nasdaq indexes as of Decembe!
31, 2014.
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Technology Solutions

Our Technology Solutions segment includes our Corporate Solutions and Market Technology businesses.

Our Corporate Solutions business serves corporate clients, including companies listed on our exchanges. We help organizati
manage the twavay flow of infformation with their key constituents, including their board members and investors, and with clients
and the public through our suite of advanced technology, analytics, and consultative services. In 2013, we acquiredpbealdR Co
businesses which wenategrated into our Corporate Solutions business. Our Corporate Solutions business primarily offers products 1
serve the following key areas: investor relations, public relations, multimedia solutions, and governance. We currently have
approximatelyl0,0® Corporate Solutions clients.

Our Market Technology business is a leading global technology solutions provider and partner to exchanges, clearing
organizations, central securities depositories, regulators, banks, brokers and corporate businesses. Our Market Testhastoigy bu
the sles channel for our complete global offering to other marketplaces.

Market Technology provides technology solutions for trading, clearing, settlement, surveillance and information dissemination
to markets with wideanging requirements, from the leadimarkets in the U.S., Europe and Asia to emerging markets in the Middle
East, Latin America, and Africa. Our marketplace solutions can handle a wide array of assets including cash equities, equity
derivatives, currencies, various interbgairing securitiecommodities, energy products and derivatives, and are currently powering
more thari70 marketplaces 50 countries. Market Technology alpoovides market surveillance services to bretkealer firms
worldwide, as well as enterprise governance, risk igpament and compliance software solutions.

For further discussion of olnusiness s e el. Budiness

2. Summary of SignificantAccounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are pegban accordance with U.S. GAAP. The financial statements include the
accounts of Nasdags wholly-owned subsidiaries and other entities in which Nasdaq has a controlling financial interest. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions hase élaninated in consolidation. When we do not have a controlling interest
in an entity but exercise significant influence oteddaruntehe e
the equity method of accounting. We reciagrour share of earnings or losses of an equity method investee based on our ownership
percentage. As permitted under U.S. GAAP, for certain equity method investments for which financial information is ieottlguffic
timely for us to apply the equity riteod of accounting currently, we record our share of the earnings or losses of the investee from the
most recently available financial statements on a | ag. See
investments.

Certainprior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Subsequent Events

We have evaluated subsequent events through the issuance date of this Annual Report orKForm 10

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated finan@tatements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and the disclosure of contingent amounts in the consolidated finzaiglestete
accompanying notes. Actual results codiffer from those estimates.

Foreign Currency

Foreign denominated assets and liabilities are remeasured into the functional currency at exchange rates in effexric the bal
sheet date and recorded through the income statement. Gains or losseg fegmitforeign currency transactions are remeasured
using the rates on the dates on which those elements are recognized during the period, and are included in geneedlyadmchistr
other expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Transl ation gains or |l osses resulting from translrmytong ¢
the reporting currency, net of tax, are included in accumu
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Assets and liabilities are translated at the balance sheet date while revenues and teapslased are
at the date the transaction occurs or at an applicable average rate.
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Deferred taxes are not provided on cumulativediation adjustments where we expect earnings of a foreign subsidiary to be
indefinitely reinvested. The income tax effect of currency translation adjustments related to foreign subsidiariesothatrasielered
indefinitely reinvested is recorded asarponent of deferred taxes with an offset to accumulated other comprehiaosive (0s9
within stockholdersd equity in the Consolidated Balance Sh

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in banks and aléswitted hghly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less at the time of purchase. Such equivalent investments included in cash and cash equivalents in the Balaakidated
Sheetsvere$278million as of DecembeBl, 2014 an&152million as & Decembei31, 2013. Cash equivalents are carried at cost
plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value due to the short maturities of these investments.

Restricted Cash

Current restricted cash, which wd49million as of Decembel, 2014and$84 million as of DecembeBl, 2013, is not
available for general use by us due to regulatory and other requirements and is classified as restricted cash in thieCBasatide
Sheets. As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, currenta@sizish primarily includes cash held for regulatory purposes
for our trading and clearing businesses.

Financial Investments

Financial investments, at fair value are primarily comprised of trading securities, mainly Swedish government debt securities
Trading securities are bought principally to meet rag@ul ato
generally sold in the near term. Changes in fair value of trading secarii@scluded in dividend and investment income. Equity
securities that are classified agailablefor-sale investment securities are carried at fair value with unrealizedagairiesses, net of
tax, reported in accumulated other compreherisieeme (osgwi t hi n st ockhol dersé equity. Re a
securities are included in earnings upon disposition of the securities using the specific identificatioh Imeithdition, realized
losses are recognized when management determines that a decline in value is other than temporary, which requires judgment
regarding the amount and timing of recovery. For equity securities, we also consider the extent to wiideedstfair value, the

duration of that difference, managementds judgment oamentt t
and ability to hold the security until recovery of the unrealized losses. In addition, ftyr seguritieswe also consider the
performance of the investeebs stock price in relation to I

Fair value of both trading and availalite-sale investment securities is generally obtained frord tharty pricing sources.
When available, quoted market prices are used to determine fair value. If quoted market prices are not available,dedr values
estimated using pricing models with observable market inputs. The inputs to the valuation mgdayshvaiype of security being
priced but are typically benchmark yields, reported trades, badaer quotes, and prices of similar assets. Pricing models generally
do not entail material subjectivity because the methodologies employed use inpuiseloserf r om acti ve mar ket ¢
Value of Financi al I nstruments, 0 for further discussion of

Receivables, net

Our receivables are concentrated with our member firms, market data distributors, listed companies and teohrtaaogy
customers. Receivables are shown net of a reserve for uncollectible accounts. The reserve for bad debts is maintehtthat a le
management believes to be sufficient to absorb estimated losses in the accounts receivable portfoliovd Iseimeseased by the
provision for bad debts which is charged against operating results and decreased by the amountaifs;hegef recoveries. The
amount charged against operating results is based on several factors including, but not limmitedttouous assessment of the
collectability of each account, the length of time a receivable is past due and our historical experience with the esticukar In
circumstances where a specific cusisknown (i.é, dankrup@yfiings), weyrecordba me e
specific provision for bad debts against amounts due to reduce the receivable to the amount we reasonably believieegtiidhe col
Due to changing economic, business and market conditions, we reviexgéneer for bad debts monthly and make changes to the
reserve through the provision for bad debts as appropriate. If circumstances change (i.e., higher than expected defaults or a
unexpected material adver se c h anmegtieatds of reaovemabilitycould bewredticedhega 6 s a
material amount. The total reserve netted against receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sh&étwillias as of DecembeBl,

2014 andb9 million as of Decembe31, 2013.

Default Funds and Margin Deposits

Nasdaq Nordic Clearing membersd cash contributions are i
Balance Sheets as both a current asset and a current liability. These balances may fluctuate over time due to changastinfthe
deposits required and whether members choose to provide cashaashocontributions. Neaash contributions include highly rated
government debt securities that must meet specific criteria approved by Nasdag Nordic CleargasHN\mmtributins are pledged
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assets that are not recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as Nasdag Nordic Clearing does not take legal owesership of th
assets and the risks and rewards remain with the clearing members.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

Non-Designated Derivatives

We use derivatives as economic hedges that are not designed as accounting hedges or do not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment. For such derivative financial instrunsenhanges in fair value are reported in current period earnings.

We use foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign currency exposure of intercompany loans. These contracts ar
designated as hedges for financial reporting purposes. Theechafaiy value of these contracts is recogniregeneral,
administrative and other experieghe Consolidated Statements of Income and offsets the foreign currency impact recogntieed
intercompany loans.

As of DecembeB1, 2014 and 2013, the faialue amounts of our derivative instruments were immaterial.

Net Investment Hedges

Net assets of our foreign subsidiaries are exposed to volatility in foreign currency exchange rates. We may utilize net
investment hedges to offset the translation adjast arising from r@neasuring our investment in foreign subsidiaries.

Our 2021 Notes have been designated as a hedge of our net investment in certain foreign subsidiaries to mitigate the foreign
exchange risk associated with certain investments in thdsgdiaries. Any increase or decrease related teetheasuremerf the
2021 Notes into U.S. dollars is recorded within accumulated other comprehieesine (0s9 in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
See A3.875% Senior UnsétulObdi yateosnsg, of fNot eu®t hBbedi scuss

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortizati
Depreciation and amortization are recognized over the astruseful lives of the related assets. Estimated useful lives range from
10to 40years for buildings and improvemen2go 5 years for data processing equipment and softwar® amdO years for furniture
and equipment. Leasehold improvements are timeok over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the remaining term of the
related lease. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the dtraighte met hod . See Note 7, i P
for further discussion.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the value assigned to the net tangible and identifiable intésgible asse
a business acquired. Goodwill is allocated to our reporting units based on the assidrihgefgiovalues of each reporting unit of the
acquired company-or purposes of performing our goodwill impairment test, our six reporting units are the Market Services segment
the Listing Services segment, the two businesses comprising the Infori®atioces segment: Data Products and Index Licensing
and Services, and the two businesses comprising the Technology Solutions segment: Corporate Solutions and Market Technology
Goodwill impairmenttesting is performednnuallyin the fourth quarter of our fiscal year usicayrying amounts as of Octobkror
more frequently if conditions exist that indicate that the asset may be impiobdas changes in the business climate, poor
indicators of operating performance or gade or disposition of a significant portion of a reporting unit.

Goodwill impairment teshg is a twostep process performed at the reporting unit level. First, the fair value of each reporting
unit is compared to its corresponding carrying amount, imetudoodwill. The fair value of each reporting unit is estimated using a
combination of a discounted cash flow valuation, which incorporates assumptions regarding future growth rates, terrpjraaddralue
discount rates, as well as a guideline public cargpeaaluation, incorporating relevant trading multiples of comparable companies and
other factors. The estimates and assumptions used consider historical performance and are consistent with the assdimptions use
determining future profit plans for eaclpreting unit. If the first step results in the carrying amount exceeding the fair value of the
reporting unit, then a second step must be completed in order to determine the amount of goodwill impairment that should be
recorded, if any. Inthe secondstephe i mpl i ed fair value of the reporting uni:t
uni tés fair value to all of its assets and | i abi.Theimplieds ot h
fair value of thegoodwill that results from the application of this second step is then compared to the carrying amount of the goodwil
and an impairment charge is recorded for any difference.

We also evaluatndefinite-lived intangible assets fampairment annuallyn the fourth quarter of our fiscal year usicayrying
amounts as of Octobér or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of the asset me
be less than its carrying amou8tuch evaluation includes detemninig the fair value of the asset and comparing the fair value of the
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asset with its carryingmount The fair value of indefinitdived intangible assets is primarily determined on the basis of estimated
discounted value, using the relief from royalty aygmh and the excess earnings approach for trade names and the Greenfield
Approach for exchange and clearing registrations and licenses, both of which incorporate assumptions regarding future revenue
projections and discount ratéthe fair value of théndefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carryamgount an impairment

charge is recognized in an amount equal to the differé&heee Al nt angi bl e Asset | mpairment Ci
Purchased I ntangi blsionAssets, o for further discu

For goodwill and indefinitdived intangible assets impairment testing, we have the option to first perform a qualitative
assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than themauntinbhe
morelikely-thannot threshold is defined as having a likelihood of more than 50 percent. If, after assessing the totality of events or
circumstances, we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit enléssctirrying amount, then
the twastep quantitative test for goodwill impairment is performed for the appropriate reporting units. Otherwise, we conaiode that
impairment is indicated and the tvetep quantitative test for goodwill or indefinitged intangible assets impairment is not
performed.

There waso impairment of goodwill for the years ended Decen@ier2014, 2013 and 2012. However, events such as
economic weakness or unexpected significant declines in operating resulepofting unitmay result in goodwill impairment
charges in the future.

Valuation of Other Long-Lived Assets

We also assess potential impairments to our otherlisad assets, includinfinite-lived intangible assetequity method
investmentsproperty and equipméand other assetahen there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The carrying amount ofiaddragset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum
of the undiscountedash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is
measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of dil@tjasset exceeds its fair value and is recorded as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the related asset and a charge to operatingr8selts. il nt angi bl e Asset | mpair me
AfGoodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets, 0 and AEquity Me

Equity Method Investments

In general, the equity method of accounting is used when we0%to 50% of the outstanding voting stock of a company and
when we are able to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of a company.déftairave
investments in which we have determined that we have significant influence and as such account for the investmentsquiiyer the
method of accounting. We record our peta share of earnings or losses each period and record any dividenddastiam in the
investment balance. We evaluate our equity method investments foitlunéemporary declines in value by considering a variety of
factors such as the earnings capacity of the investment and the fair value of the investment compaardyiogtamount. In
addition, for investments where the market value is readily determinable, we consider the underlying stock pricembtbhd &sti
value of the investment is less than the carrying amount and management considers the datlim¢dite other than temporary,
the excess of the carrying amount over the estimated fair value is recognized in the financial statements as an impairment.

Cost Method Investments

In general, the cost method of accounting is used when we own le20ghari the outstanding voting stock of a company
which does not have a readily determinable fair value and when we are not able to exercise significant influence oradirtpe ope
and financial policies of a company. Under the cost method of accountiegtriments are carried at cost and are adjusted only for
otherthantemporary declines in fair value, certain distributions, and additional investments.

Revenue Recognition andransaction-Based Expenses
Market Services Revenues

MarketServices revenues inclueguity derivative trading and clearing revenues, cash equity trading revenues, fixed income,
currency and commodities trading and clearing revenues, and access and broker services revenues

Equity Derivative Trading and Clearirigevenues

In our equity derivative markets, we edrading and clearing revenuesich are variableln the U.S., trading revenues are
based on traded volumes, and recognized when executed. The principal gpeityaferivative contracts traded are égwptions,
ETF optionsjndex optionsand foreign currency optionk the U.S., we record execution revenues from transactions on a gross basis
as revenues and record related expenstam@sactiorbased expenses
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In Europe equityderivative trading ad clearing revenues are based on the volume and value of traded and cleared contracts,
and recognized when executed or when contracts are cleared. The principal gguasydkrivative contracts traded and cleared are
stock options and futuresdindex options and futures.

Equity Derivative Trading and ClearinfransactiorBased Expenses

For U.S.equityderivative trading, we credit a portion of the per share execution charge to the market participant that provides
the liquidity and record theansaction rebate agransactiorbased expensa the Consolidated Statements of Income. These
transaction rebates are paid on a monthly basis and the amounts due are included in accounts payable and accruethexpenses in
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In the U.S.we pay Sectio1 fees to the SEC for supervision and regulation of securities markets. We pass these costs along
our customers through oaguityderivative trading and clearing fees. We collect the fees as dhpaagh charge from orgazdtions
executing eligible trades on our options exchanges and we recognize these anemuitgdierivative trading and clearing
transactiorbased expenseghen incurred. SectioBl fees received are included in cash and cash equivalents in the Gatedolid
Balance Sheets at the time of receipt and, as required by law, the amount due to the SEC is remitted semiannuallychad recorde
Section31 fees payable to the SEC in the Consolidated Balance Sheets until paid. Since the amount recorded as egnathtes i
the amount recorded &mnsactiorbased expensgthere is no impact on our revenues less transabtisad expenseds we hold
the cash received until payment to the SEC, we earn interest income on the related cash balances.

Under our Limitaion of Liability Rule and procedures, weay, subject to certain caps, provide compensation for losses directly
resulting from the systemsd actual failure to corrdemt |y pr
record a lability for any potential claims that may be submitted under the Limitation of Liability Rule unless they meet the provisions
required in accordance with U.S. GAAP. As such, losses arising as a result of the rule are accrued and charged toyeXpghase onl
loss is probable and estimable.

The exchanges that comprisaddagNordic and NMisdadBaltic do not have any revenue sharing agreemeritamsaction
based expensgsuch as transaction rebates and brokerage, clearance and exchange fees.

Cash EquityTrading Revenues

U.S. cash equity trading revenues are variable, based on individual customer share volumes, and recognized as transactions
occur. We charge transaction fees for executing cash equity trades in NAB&dand other listed securities omr &J.S. cash
equity exchanges, as well as on orders that are routed to other market venues for execution. Simikequaydi&ivative trading
and clearing, we record cash equity trading revenues from transactions on a gross basis as revenuesratadeg@xpenses as
transactiorbased expenses as we have certain risk associ at BqlityBeritative t r ad e
Tradingand ClearinglransactiorBased Expensés a b o v e .

For NASDAQ and MsdadgPSX, we credit a portioof the per share execution charge to the market participant that provides the
liquidity and for NasdadB X, we credit a portion of the per share execution charge to the market participant that takes the liquidity.
We record these credits as transactiomtebthat are included fransactiorbased expensés the Consolidated Statements of
Income. These transaction rebates are paid on a monthly basis and the amounts due are included in accounts payaldle and accrue
expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheet

As discussedbove ini E q u kerivativeTrading andClearingTransactiorB a s e d E xwe also pay SectiBl fees to
the SEC for supervision and regulation of securities markets. We pass these costs along to our customers through ibyir cash equ
trading fees. We collect the fees as a fihssugh charge from organizations executing el@ibhdes on our cash equity platforms
and we recognize these amountgramsactiorbased expenseghen incurred.

As discussed above, in the U.S., under our Limitation of Liability Rule and proceduregy&ubject to certain caps, provide
compensatioh or | osses directly resulting from the systemsé actu
into our platform.

In our European marketsencharge transaction fees for executing trades on the exchanges that corgoiesg\irdic and
NasdadBaltic. These transaction fees are charged per executed order and as per value traded.

The exchanges that comprisasdagNordic and MisdacgBaltic do not have any revenue sharing agreemertamsaction
based expensgsuch as transactiaebates and brokerage, clearance and exchange fees.

Fixed Income Currency and Commoditidgadingand ClearindRevenues

Fixed income tradingevenuesre primarily earned from trading of U.S. Treasury securdigsother fixed income products.
Custoner contracts may be on a fixed or variable rate basis. Revenues from customers with a fixed rate basis are recognized ratab
over the contract period. Revenues from customers with a variable rate basis are based upon individual customer slzane amlume

F-14



Table Of Contents

recognized as revenuesths transaction occur€urrency and commodities trading and clearing revenues are primarily earned from
trading anctlearing of energy, carbon and other commaodity productslifig and clearing revenues are based on the vanche

value of traded and cleared contracts, and recognized when executed or when contracts arne eléditeash, Nasdaq Commodities
members are billed an annual fee which is recognized ratably over the followmgritB period.

We also generate cleag revenues for OTC traded derivatives for the freight market and seafood derivatives market, interest
rate swaps, and resale and repurchase agreements. These clearing revenues are based on the value and length ofdreeontract a
recognized when clead.In connection with our collateral management process in our Nasdaqg Nordic Clearing operations, we
recognize interest income on cash contributions that we manage when earned.

Access and Broker Services Revenues

Access Services

We generate revenues providing market participants with several alternatives for accessing our markets for a fee. The type of
connectivity is determined by the level of functionality a customer needs. As a result, Access Services revenues vagy aependi
type of connectin provided to customers. We providelooation services to market participgntdereby firms may leasmbinet
spaceand power to house their ovaguipment witin our data center These participants are charged monthly fees for cabinet space,
connectivty and support. We also earn revenues from annual and monthly exchange membership and registration fees. Revenues
providing access to our markets;logation services and revenues for monthly exchange membership and registration fees are
recognized n a monthly basis as the service is provided. Revenues from annual fees for exchange membership and registration fee
are recognized ratably over the following-d®nth period.

Broker Services

Our Broker Services operations offer technology and custahsizeurities administration solutions to financial participants in
the Nordic markets. The primary services offered are flexible-béde systems which allow customers to entirely or partly
out sour ce t h e-office functions.caReverues frdbmlerkservices are based on a fixed basic fee for administration or
licensing, maintenance and operations, and a variable portion that depends on the number of transactions completewid&oker Se
revenues are recognized on a continuous basis asesearie rendered.

Listing Services Revenues
Listing Services revenugsimarily include annual fees, initial listing fees and listing of additional shares fees.

Annual Fees

In the U.S., anual feesare charged based on the number of outstanding shares ofJiStecbompanies at the end of the prior
year and are recognized ratably over the followingrighth period. European annual fees, which are received from companies listed
on our Nordic and Badlt exchanges andd$dadrirst North, are directly related to the listed campi es ®& mar ket capit
trailing 12month basis. These revenues are recognized ratably over the followmgrit& period.

Initial Listing Fees

Initial listing fees pedin to our U.S. marketndare generally based on the number of shidrasa company initially lists and
are recognized on a straigite basis over estimated service periods of six yémased on our historical listing experience and
projected futureisting duration.

Listing of Additional Shares Fees

Listing of additional shares fees pertain to our U.S. makétare paid by listed companies in connection with corporate
actions involving the issuance of new slsai@be listed, such as stock spéitel sales of additional securities. These fees are
recognized on a straiglihe basis over estimated service periods of four years, based on our historical listing experience and project
future listing duration.

Information Services Revenues
InformationServices revenues inclufataProducts revenues anddexLicensing andervices revenues.

Data Products Revenues

Data Products revenues are earned from U.S. and European proprietary data products and index data products. In the U.S.,
also earn revaues from U.S. tape plans.

We collect and process informatinom our exchangeand earn revenues as a distributor of our own data and selegpantyd
content. We provide varying levels of quote and trade information to market participants anddistdatdors, who in turn sell
subscriptions for this information to the public. We earn revenues primarily based on the number of data subscribeiisuhois dist
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of our data. Dat&roductgevenues arsubscriptioAbased and am@cognized on a monthlyasis net of amounts due under revenue
sharing arrangements with market participants.

We alsogenerateevenuedrom our Nasdagndexeshat consisbf Global Index Data Services, which deliver réaie index
values throughout the trading day, and Gldhdkex Watch, which delivers weightings and components data, corporate actions and a
breadth of additional data. We earn revenues primarily based on the number of data subscribers and distributors dhese data.
revenues, which are subscription based,recognized on a monthly basis.

Revenues from U.S. tape plans include eligible UTP Plan revenues that are shared among UTP Plan participants and are
presented on a net basis. Under the revenue sharing provision of the UTP Plan, we are pedadted tosts associated with acting
as tle administratoiof the UTP Plarfrom the total amount of tape revenues collected. After these costs are deducted from the tape
revenues, we distribute to the respective UTP Plan participants, including The NASD&QVEtrket, MsdagBX and NasdadgPSX,
their share of tape revenues based on a formula, required by Regulation NMS, that takes into account both trading and quoting
activity. In addition, all quotes and trades in NY-3Bd NYSE MKTlisted securities are reped and disseminated in retime, and
as such, we share in the tape revenues for information on NMBENYSE MKT-listed securities. Revenues from net U.S. tape plans
are recognized on a mthly basis.

Data Products Revenue Sharing

The most signifiant component of Data Products revengesrdedon a net basis is the UTP Plan revenue sharing in the U.S.
All indicators of gross vs. net reporting under U.S. GAAP have been considered in analyzing the appropriate present&iBtanf U
revenue sharingHowever, the following are the primary indicators of net reporting:

A Primary Obligor: We are thedministratoffor the UTP Plan, in addition to being a participant in the UTP Plan. In our
unique role aadministrator we facilitate the collection andssemination of revenues on behalf of the UTP Plan
participants. As a participant, we share in the net distribution of revenues according to the plan on the same terms as al
other plan participants.

A Risk of Loss/Credit Risk: Risk of loss on the reveisghared equally among plan participants according to the UTP
Plan.

A Price Latitude: The operating committee of the UTP Plan, which is comprised of representatives from each of the
participants, including us solely in our capacity as a UTP Plan participant, is responsible for setting the level béfees to
paid by distribtors and subscribers and taking action in accordance with the provisions of the UTP Plan, subject to SEC
approval.

The exchanges that comprisaddagNordic and NisdacBaltic do not have any dafaoductsrevenue sharing agreements.

Index Licensing and $¢ices Revenues

We develop and licenseaddadoranded indexes, associated derivatives and financial products as part of our Global Index
Family. Revenues primarily include license fees from these branded indexes, associated derivatives and finantsahghedlu.S.
and abroad. We primarily have two types of license agreements: trandzasienh licenses and asbessed licensed.ransaction
based licenses are generally renewable-teng agreement€ustomers are charged based on transaction volumenmimum
contract amount, or botlf.a customer is charged based on transaction volume, we recognize revenue when the transactiin occurs.
a customer is charged based on a minimum contract amount, we recognize revenueratadpgis over the Bnsing termAsset
based licenses are also generally lamgn agreement€ustomers are charged based on a percentage of assets under management fc
licensed products, per the agreement, on a monthly or quarterlyfasée revenues are recorded on atimy or quarterly basis
over the term of the license agreement.

Technology Solutions Revenues
TechnologySolutionsrevenues includ€orporate Solutionsevenues anWarket Technologyevenues.

Corporate Solutions Revenues

Corporate Solutions revenupsmarily include subscription and transactibased income from our Investor RelatipRsblic
Relations Multimedia SolutionandGovernaceproducts Subscriptiorbased revenues earned are recognized ratably over the
contract period, generally one todwears in length. As part of the subscription agreements, customers can also be charged usage fe
based upon actual usage of the services provided. Revenues from usage fees and other services are recognized whemeeasned. Re
from transactiorbased sevices, such as webcasting and wire distribution, are recorded as the services are provided and delivered.
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Market Technology Revenues

Market Technology provides technology solutions for trading, clearing, settlesnevitillance and information dissemiiaa,
as well aenterprisegovernance, risknanagemenrdand compliancsoftwaresolutions. Revenues primarily consist of software, license
and support revenues, change request and advisory revenues, and software as a service revenues.

For most solutionsye enter into multipleelement sales arrangementsl&veloptechnology solutiondicense the right to use
software,andprovide posicontract support and othservices to our customers. In order to recognize revenues associated with each
individual elenent of a multipleelement sales arrangement separately, we are required to establish the existence affai8OE
value for each element. When VSOE for individual elements of an arrangement cannot be established, revenue is genedally defer
and recognied over either the final element of the arrangement or the entire term of the arrangement for which the services will be
delivered.

We enter intaagreements to modifthe system solutions sold byaBdacpfter delivery has occurre@iheserevenues are
recaynized when earned.

In addition, we enter inteevolving subscription agreements which allow customers to connect to our servers to access certain
services. These revenues are recognized ratably over the subscription term.

Earnings Per Share

We presenboth basic and diluteglarnings per shar8asicearnings per shais computed by dividing net income attributable
to Nasdaq by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the perioce@ilirigd per shaie computed by
dividing netincome attributable to Nasdaq by the weight®@@rage number of common shares and common share equivalents
outstanding during the period and reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities, which primarily consisyeé estaak
options, rewicted stock and PSUs. Common share equivalents are excluded from the computation in periods for which they have al
anti-dilutive effect Stock options for which the exercise price exceeds the average market price over the pericdiarévaraind,
accordingly, are excluded from the calculation See Note 14, fiEarnings Per Share, o fol

Treasury Stock

We account for the purchase of treasury stock under the cost method with the shares of stock repurchased reflected as a
reduction to Nasdaq stockholdersé equity and incl udeWwhen n ¢
treasury shares are reissued, they are recorded at the average cost of the treasury shares acquired.

Pension and PosRetirement Benefits

Pension and other pesttirement benefit plan information for financial reporting purposes is developed using actuarial
valuations. We assess our pension and othefrptistment benefit plan assumptions on a regular basis. In evaluating these
assumptions, we consider many factors, including evaluation of the discount rate, expected rate of return on plsortadisetate,
healthcare cost trend rate, retirement age assumption, our historical assumptions compared with actual results afid@mahtsis o
mar ket conditions and asset allocations. See Note 11, AEmMmMp

Discount rates used for pension and other-patstement benefit plan calculations are evaluated annually and modified to
reflect the prevailing market rates at the measurement date of-gumdjty fixedincome debt instrument portfolio that would prdei
the future cash flows needed to pay the benefits included in the benefit obligations as they come due. Actuarial assarbpteds
upon management 6s best estimates and judgment.

The expected rate of return on plan assets for our U.S. pensionmgpaesents our lonterm assessment of return expectations
which may change based on significant shifts in economic and financial market conditions. Feerforage of return on plan assets
is derived from return assumptions based on targeted allosatidhor v ari ous asset c¢classes. Whil
performance and other economic growth and inflation factors, which are supported-bgriartgstorical data, the return
expectations for the targeted asset categories representi@io prospective return.

Share-Based Compensation

Accounting for shardased compensation requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expesbarer all
based awards made to employees based on estimated fair valued&Skaasvardsor equity awards, includemployee stock
options, restricted stock amBUs. Restrictedtock awards generally refer to restricted stock ues.recognize compensation
expense for equity awards on a strailifet basis over the requisite service perddhe award.

We estimate the fair value of PSUs granted under our total shareholder 0efl8R program usinghe Monte Carlo
simulation model, as these awards contain a market condition. Assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation modat include t
weighted average riskee rate and the expected volatility. The +igte interest rate for periods within the expected life of the award
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is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. We use historic volatility for PStssuadiunder the TSR
program, as implied volatility data could not be obtained for all the companies in the peer groups used for relativagerforma
measurement within the TSR program.

See Not e -BlaZs,e dii SChoampee nsati on, 6 for further discussion.

Software Costs

Significant purchased application software and operational software that are an integral part of computer hardware are
capitalized and amortized on a straijhe basis over their estimated useful lives, genefadyyears. All other purcleed software is
charged to expense as incurred. We develop systems solutions for both internal and external use.

Certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal use software are capitalized. Unamortizeddcapitali
software deviepment costs are included in data processing equipment and software, within property and equipment, net in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amortization of costs capitalized is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the
Consolidated Statemenof Income.

Certain costs of computer software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed as a separate product or as part of a product or
process are capitalized after the product has reached technological feasibility. Technological feasibilitisiedst@on completion
of a detailed program design or, in its absence, completion. Thereafter, all software production costs are capitaliaedaPhiog
technological feasibility, all costs are charged to expense. Capitalized costs are amowdiztchighiline basis over the remaining
estimated economic life of the product and are included in depreciation and amortization expense in the Consolidatead Statemen
Income.

Leases

We expense rent from narancellable operating leases, net of sabk income, on a straight line basis, based on future
minimum lease payments. The net costs are included in occupancy expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income, See Note
ALeases, o0 for further discussion.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and lilily method to determine income taxes on all transactions recorded in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial statememiocents/ing
and the tax basis of exilsg assets and liabilities (i.e., temporary differences) and are measured at the enacted rates that will be in
effect when these differences are realized. If necessary, a valuation allowance is established to reduce deferreid the assets
amount thats more likely than not to be realized.

In order to recognize and measure our unrecognized tax benefits, management determines whether a tax position is more lik
than not to be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related apfiggégion processes, based on the technical
merits of the position. Once it is determined that a position meets the recognition thresholds, the position is meatenmadctte
amount of benefit to be recognized in the consolidated financial stater@arest and/or penalties related to income tax matters are
recognized in income tax expense.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

For the year ended December 31, 2014, we have not adopted any new accounting pronouncements that hadrgpacatenial i
our consolidated financial statements.

RecentlylssuedAccounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update, or ASU;2@14 A Revenue from Contr a
(Topic 606), 0 which supersedes the revenue recognitiom gui
standard setofth a fivestep revenue recognition model to determine when and how revenue is recognized. The core principle of the
guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to custometsmirtteat a
reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. The standard also requirdednore detai
disclosures. The standard provides alternative methods of initial adoptionedfetitve for us on January 1, 2017. Earlpption is
not permitted. We are currently assessing the impact that this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 20148 AReporting Discontinued Operations
Component®# f an Entity, o0 which raises the threshold for a dispc
disclosures of both discontinued operations and certain other disposals that do not meet the definition of a discorditiored ope
Underthenew gui dance, only disposals representing a strategic

operations and financial results should be presented as discontinued operations. This guidance ifoeffsctimelanuary 1,
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2015 Early adoption is permitted provided that the disposal was not previously disclosed. We will prospectively apply this new
standard to applicable transactions.

3. Restructuring Charges

During the first quarter of 2012, we performed a comprehemsixiew of our processes, organizations and systems in a
companywide effort to improve performance, cut costs, and reduce spending. This restructuring program was completed in the first
quarter of 2013.

The following table presents a summary of restriictucharges in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Severance $ 6 $ 23
Facilitiesrelated 1 10
Asset impairments 1 9
Other 1 2
Total restructuring charges $ 9 % 44

During 2013, we recognized restructuring charges tot&iéhgillion, including severance costs $ million related to
workforce reductions d31 positions across our organizatié#i, million for facilities-related chargeelated to lease rent accruals for
facilities we no longer occupy due to facilities consolidati®imillion for asset impairments, primarily consisting of fixed assets and
capitalized software that have been retjrand$1 million of other chargeDuring 2012, we recognized restructuring charges totaling
$44million, including severance costs $23million related to workforce reductions 826 positions across our organizatiéi,0
million of facilities-relatedcharges$9 million of asset impairments, primarily consisting of fixed assets and capitalized software that
have been retired, ai®2 million of other charges.

Restructuring Reserve
Severance

The accrued severance balance tot&&nhillion at December 31, 2013 and is included in current liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet3.he accrued severance balance as of December 31, 2013 was paid during the first quarter of 2014.
Facilities-related

Facilitiesrelated reserves aralculated using a present value of future minimum lease payments, offset by an estimate for
future sublease incom&he facilitiesrelated reserve balaneeas$1 million at December 31, 2013 he majority of the facilities
related reserve balance asscember 31, 2013 was utilized during 2014.

4. Acquisitions and Divestiture

We completed the following acquisitions and strategic initiatives i4,28013 and 202. Financial results of each transaction
are included in our Consolidated Statements ofimedrom the date of each acquisition or strategic initiative.

2014 Acquisition
On March 31, 2014, we completed the acquisition of the rema28fgownership interest in BWise. BWise is part of our
Market Technology business within our Technology Solgions e g ment . See fAAcquisition of BW
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2013 Acquisitions
Purchase Total Net Assets Purchased Intangible
Consideration (Liabilities) Acquired Assets Goodwill
(in millions)
eSpeed $ 1,239 $ 5 % 715 $ 519
TR Corporate businesses 366 (37) 91 312

The amounts in the table above represent the preliminary allocation of the purchase prieecantlject to revision during the
measurenent period, a period not to exceed 12 months from the acquisitionNatinalized the allocation of the purchase price for
the above acquisitions in 201Phere were no adjustments to the provisional vatlugmg the 12 month measurement period ler t
above acquisitions

Acquisition of eSpeed for Trading of U.S. Treasuries

On June 28, 2013, we acquired eSpeed from BG&Xdthillion. We acquired net assets, at fair value, totafifgnillion and
purchased intangible assets3afLl5million which consisted 0$578million for the eSpeed trade nang,21million in customer
relationships an@16 million in technology. The eSpeed businesses are part of our Market Services and Information Services
segments.

The purchase price consistefi$755million in cash and contingent future annual issuanc@92f247shares of ldsdaq
common stockwhichapproximagd certain tax benefits associated with the transactié#8fmillion. Such contingent future
issuances of Bsdagcommon stock wilbe paid ratablyhrough 2027f Na s d dotplogsoss revenues equal or excg&28million in
each such yealhe contingent future issuances asdaqcommon stock are subject to adiiution protections and acceleration
upon certain events.

Nasdaqused he majority of the net proceeds from the issuance of the 2021 Notes to fund the cash consideration paid for the
acquisition of eSpeed. S@e3 . 8 75 % Seni or U\osteec udr,e dfi DNeobtte sQbol iogfat i ons, 0 for

Intangible Assets

The following table presents the details of the purchased intangible assets acquired in the acquisition of eSpeed. All purchase
intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the strhighh e met hod. See Note 5, AGoodwi
Assetsp for further discussion.

Estimated
Average Remaining
Value Useful Life
Intangible assets: (in millions) (in years)
Trade name:
Market Services $ 528 Indefinite
Information Services 50 Indefinite
Total trade name 578
Customer relationships:
Market Services 105 13years
Information Services 16 13years
Total customer relationships 121
Technology:
Market Services 14 5years
Information Services 2 5years
Total technology 16
Total intangible assets $ 715
Bel ow is a discussion of the methods used to det eroftiene t

estimated average remaining useful life of each intangible 8¢setarrying amounts of all other assets and liabilities were deemed
to approximate their estimated fair values.
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Trade Name

Nasdadhas incorporated eSpeed iitteo reporting segmendis Market Services and Information Services. The eSpeed trade
name was vakd as used in each of these reporting segments. The trade name is recognized in the industry and carries a reputatiol
guality. As such, eSpeed and related brands6é reput atdtbon an
Naglag The trade name was considered the primary asset acquired in this transaction. In valuing the acquired trade nanie we use
income approach, specifically the excess earnings method. The excess earnings method examines the economic retuthbycontribut:
the identified tangible and intangible assets of a company, and then isolates the excess return that is attributataadibhasset
being valued.

A discount rate 010%was utilized, which reflects the amount of risk associated with the hypothetical cash flows generated by
the eSpeed trade name in the future. In developing a discount rate for the trade name, we estimated a weighted afesgmtakost o
for the overalbusiness and we employed this rate when discounting the cash flows. The resulting discounted cash flows were then
tax-effected at a rate @0.0% and a discounted tax amortization benefit was added to the fair value of the asset under the assumptic
thatthe trade name would be amortized for tax purposes over a petiddeérs for both Market Services and Information Services.

We estimated the useful life of the trade name to be indefinite. The useful life was based on several factors includibgrthe n
of years the name has been in service, its popularity within the industry, and our intention to continue its use.

Customer Relationships

Customer relationships represent the-nontractual and contractual relationships that eSpeed has with tsneust The
eSpeed customer relationships were valued using the income approach, specifically-#metwithout method. The wittand
without method is commonly used when the cash flows of a business can be estimated with and without the assehé place. T
premise associated with this valuation technique is that the value of an asset is represented by the differencescirtthe sulbje i n e ¢
cash flows under scenarios where (a) the asset is present and is used in operations (with); and (b) theexrstsatdsradt used in
operations (without). Cash flow differentials are then discounted to present value to arrive at an estimate of fairtivalasstet:

We estimated that without current customer relationships, it would take approxisatgdars br the customer base to grow
from 10%of current revenues tt00%of revenues. We also made estimates related to compensation levels and other expenses suct
as sales and marketing that would be incurred as the business was ramped up through yeas3he/Miearithe customer base
would be expected to reach the level that currently exists.

A discount rate 010% which reflects the estimated weighted average cost of capital for the overall business, was utilized whe
discounting the cash flows. The réwg discounted cash flows were then-&ffected at a rate @0.0% and a discounted tax
amortization benefit was added to the fair value of the asset under the assumption that the customer relationshipsnediddde a
for tax purposes over a periofi15years.

Based on the historical behavior of the customers and a parallel analysis of the customers using the excess earnings method
estimated the remaining useful life to bgyears for the acquired customer relationships.

In the fourth quarteof 2014, we recordednon-cash inangible asset impairment chargealing$38 million related tathe
customer relationships intangible asset. The impairment resulted primarilglimyes in the forecasted revenues associated with the
acquired customdist.t See Al ntangi ble Asset | mpairment Charges, 0 of Not
consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Technology

The fair value of the eSpeed acquired developed technology was valugdhgsincome approach, specifically the relief from
royalty method, or RFRM. The RFRM is used to estimate the cost savings that accrue to the owner of an intangible asddt who wo
otherwise have to pay royalties or license fees on revenues earned thughk of the asset. The royalty rate is applied to the
projected revenue over the expected remaining life of the intangible asset to estimate royalty savings. Thtarebgftky savings
are calculated for each year in the remaining economicflifleecintangible asset and discounted to present value.

To determine the royalty rate we searched for and identified market transactions and royalty rates for comparable technology
Due to the limited data, we relied on our estimates and benchmarkeslithated excess earnings of eSpeed to determine a range of
royalty rates that would be reasonable for the use of its intangible assets based on a profit split methodology. tPegditysglisttes
that a reasonable market participant would be willingatrld to make revenue based royalty paymen2sad 33 percent of their
operating profit to receive the rights to certain licensable intellectual property necessary for conducting businesslyCtrevers
owner of such intellectual property would sakattamount or be relieved from making those royalty payments. By analyzing these
profit splits at 250 33 percent, we estimated supportable royalty rates for the technology and selectek aqyaty rate 05%.
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A discount rate 010%was utilized, vhich reflects the estimated weighted average cost of capital for the overall business and
we employed this rate when discounting the cash flows. The resulting discounted cash flows werectifectedxat a rate @0.0%
and a discounted tax amortizatibenefit was added to the fair value of the asset under the assumption that the technology would be
amortized for tax purposes over a period Bears for both Market Services and Information Services.

We have estimated the remaining useful life t&lyears for the acquired developed technology.

Acquisition of the Investor Relations, Public Relations and Multimedia Solutions Businesses of Thomson Reuters

On May 31, 2013, we acquired the TR Corporate business&836million ($366million cash paid fus $24million in
working capital adjustments). We acquired net liabilities, at fair value, toBrAgillion andpurchased intangible assetsfl
million, which consisted d$89million in customer relationships a million in technology. The TR orporatebusinesses are part
of our Corporate Solutions business within our Technology Solutions segment.

Nasdag used cash on hand and borro$&@million under a former credit facility to fund this acquisition.

In the first quarter of 2014, we performed a review of ¢
leverage our scale and expertise as well as improve the efficiencies that we deliver to our customers and reducetosiredosis. T
resulted in the consolidation and retirement of several technology platforms, resulting in a cBd&mitfon in the first quarter of
2014. In addition, other merger cosfs$33million relating to our acquisition of the TR Corporate businessge vecorded in 2014.

These charges are included in merger and strategic initiatives expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Intangible Assets
The following table presents the details of the purchased intangible assets acquired in the aagfulsi#idR Corporate

businessedAll purchased intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straigite met hod. See Not e
Purchased I ntangible Assets, o6 for further discussion.
Estimated
Average Remaining
Value Useful Life
Intangible assets: (in millions) (in years)
Customer relationships $ 89 9-14 years
Technology 2 2-5years
Total intangible assets $ 91

Below is a discussion of the methods used to determine the fair valuepoirtiesed intangible asseisquired in the
acquisition of the TR Corporate businesses, as well as a discussion of the estimated average remaining useful litarajibbch in
asset. The carrying amounts of all other assets and liabilities were deeapgddeimate their estimated fair values.

Customer Relationships

Customer relationships represent the-gontractual and contractual relationships that each of the TR Corporate businesses has
with its customers and represented a key intangible asses itmansaction. Customer relationships were identified and valued
individually for each of the TR Corporate businesses using the income approach, specifically an excess earnings method. This
valuation method relied on assumptions regarding projecteduesegattrition rates, and operating cash flows for each of the TR
Corporate businesses.

We assumed annual revenue attritiol @f0%for the customers for each of the TRrporatebusinesses, as well as charges for
contributory assets. Operating expenses associated with maintaining the assets were applied to the attrition adjusteebrebenue
five years following 2016, operating margins were adjusted in order to reach ainedglerating margin level that included an
estimate for the fixed costs for the businesses. From 2021 onward, the operating margin was held constant at a noemalieed lev
tax-effected cash flows were discounted at a ratEl&bto 11.5%based on thesk associated with the hypothetical cash flows
generated by the customer base for each specific business line.

The cash flows were then taffected at a rate @0.0% and a discounted tax amortization benefit was added to the fair value
of the assetander the assumption that the customer relationships would be amortized for tax purposes over aljerésdof

The estimated remaining useful life captuB€d0%o0f the present value of the cash flows generated by each customer
relationship.
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Technolgy

The fair values of the acquired developed technologies were valued using the income approach, specifically the RFRM, as
discussed abovia i €chnology relating to eSpeed.

To determine the royalty rate we searched for and identified market transactibrsyalty rates for comparable technology
and relied on our estimates and expectations surrounding the relative importance of the acquired developed technoletiyigs, comp
technologies, foreseeable shifts in the market, and expected royalty paymeotsfarable technologies. We also performed a profit
split analysis, as described above in technology relating to eSpeed, for each separate acquired technology in orderato estima
acceptable royalty rate. Based on the information obtained and tlitespiibfanalysis, we selected a gex royalty rate ofl.5%for
the webhosting technology afdb%for the public relations and multimedia solutions technologies.

A discount rate ol 1%was utilized based on the risk associated with the hypothetidafloas generated by the developed
technologies and we employed this rate when discounting the cash flows. The resulting discounted cash flows weeéf¢lotadtax
at a rate 0f10.0% and a discounted tax amortization benefit was added to the fairofahg asset under the assumption that the
developed technology would be amortized for tax purposes over a pefisgexirs.

We have estimated the remaining useful life t@tieyears for the acquired developed technology.

Formation of NPM Joint Venture

In March 2013, we formed a joint venture with SharesPost creating NPM, a marketplace for private growth companies. We ov
a majority interest in NPM, combiningadda@ s r esour ces, mar ket and o p éasadipiatforgn. e x p e
NPM launctedin March2014andis part of our Listing Services segment.

We finalized the allocation of the purchase price for NPM in the first quarter of 2014. There were no adjustments to the
provisional valuesluring the 12 month measurement pefimdthisjoint venture.

EMCF and EuroCCP Merger

In December 201EFMCF merged withEuropean Central Counterparty Itd. , EuroCCR creating EuroCCP N.V., a new
combined clearinghousBlasdaq purchased an additional ownership interest in EuroCCP N.V. for an imheteruntNasdaq
previously had 22%equity interest in EMCF and, upon completion of the merger, currently 28%aquity interest in EuroCCP
N.V. EuroCCP N.V. combined the risk management and customer service organization of EuroCCP with the yeahdiolog
operations infrastructure of EMCWe account for our investment in EuroCCP N.V. under the equity method of accoarmdirigis
investment is part of our Market ServieegmentSe e A Equi ty Met hod | nv e st fordunthersliscoassianf N
of our equity method investments.

Acquisition of Dutch Cash Equities and Equity Derivatives Trading Venue

In April 2013, we acquired 25%equity interest irrhe Order Machine, ofFOM, a Dutch cash equities and equity derivatives
trading venuefor an immaterial amount. The terms of the transaction also provide us an option to acquire an azilitivsttthe
remaining shares at a future date. This transaction expanded our derivatives presence in Ethigpewstments part of our
Market Services segment. We account for our investment in TOM under the equity method of accBuateng. A Equi t y Me't
I nvest ments, 0 of foNfarther disgyssiofn of ouv exeity methadtingestments.

2012 Acquisitions

Purchase Total Net Assets Purchased Intangible
Consideration (Liabilities) Acquired Assets Goodwill
(in millions)
NOS Clearin§ $ 40 $ 43 $ 13 =
BWise 77 (11) 35 53
@ In the third quarter of 2012, we recognized a gaifidahillion on our acquisition of NOS Clearing, which is included in merger

and strategi initiatives expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Acquisition of NOS Clearing

In July 2012, we acquired NOS Clearing for approximasdiymillion (233 million Norwegian Krone) in cash. We acquired
net assets dd43 million, primarily resticted cash related to regulatory capital. The purchased intangible assets &itatitigpn
consisted of customer relationships. NOS Clearing is part céquityderivative trading and clearing business within our Market
Services segment.
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Acquisition of BWise

In May 2012, we acquired @2% ownership interest in BWise for approximat&7 million (47 million Euros) in castand
agreed to purchase themaining28% ownership interest in BWider $20 million, resulting in100%ownership by the first half of
2015 for a total purchase price of approximagly million (62 million Euros). We acquired net liabilities 2 million and recorded
a current deferred tax liability &1 million and a norcurrent deferred tax liabilitpf $8 million related to purchased intangible assets,
resulting in total net liabilities acquired $11million. The total deferred tax liabilities & million represent the tax effect of the
difference between the estimated assigned fair value ottherad intangible asset$35million) and the tax basi$0) of such
assets multiplied by 25BWhesperéhaseddantangidle assetsef $35antlionrcansistdd3mnillion in
customer relationship$7 million in technology an&5 million for the BWise trade name. BWise is part of our Market Technology
business within our Technology Solutions segment.

Due to changes in the anticipated performance of BWise, the estimated amount of future expected contingent purchase price
obligationswasreduced fron$20million to $12million at December 31, 2013s a result, a$8 million reduction was recorded to
merger and strategic initiatives expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income fam REk8h 2014, we completed the
acquisition of the remainin@8% ownership interest in BWise and agreed to pay the contingent purchase price in two installments.
The first installment was paid in 2014 and the final installment will be paid in 2015.

Acquisition of the Index Business of Mergent, Indncluding Indxis

In December 2012, we acquired the index business of Mergent, Inc., including Ind$i&5 foillion in cash. Thes5 million in
intangible asset§9 million in goodwill and$1 million in net assets resulting from this acquisitioniatuded in our Index Licensing
and Services business within our Information Services segment.

We finalized the allocation of the purchase price for BWise in the second quarter of 2013, NOS Clearing in the thiaf quarter
2013 and the index business ofigent, Inc., including Indxis, in the fourth quarter of 2013. There were no adjustments to the
provisional values for the above acquisitions during 2013.

Pro Forma Results and Acquisitionrelated Costs

The consolidated financial statements for the yeaded Decembedl, 204, 2013 and 202 include the financial results of the
above 204, 2013 and 202 acquisitions from the date of each acquisition. Pro forma financial results for the acquisitions completed i
2014, 2013 and 202 have not been presentsitice these acquisitions both individually and in the aggregate were not material to our
financial results.

Acquisitionrelated costs for the transactions described above were expensed as incurred and are included in merger and
strategic initiatives expese in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

2012 Divestiture

In August 2012, we sold our majoribwned subsidiary IDCG to LCH Clearnet Group, Limited, or LCH. Under the terms of the
transactionNasdageceived ordinary shares of LCH valued.@tEuros per share, resultingiasdacdhaving a3.7%pro forma
ownershipinterestin LCH at that time. We recordedbd4 million loss, which is included in loss on divestiture of business in the
Consolidated Statements of Incofoe the year ended Decemlt, 2012IDCG was part of our Market Services segment.

5. Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets
Goodwill
The following table presents the changes in goodwill by business segment during the year ended Béc@0er

Market Services Listing Services Information Services Technology Solutions Total
(in millions)
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 3433 $ 136 $ 2,019 $ 598 $ 6,186
Foreign currency translation adjustment (352 (22) (225; (49) (648
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 3,081 $ 114 $ 1,794 $ 549 $ 5,538

As of December 31, 2@ the amount of goodwill that is expected to be deductible for tax purposes indetioés ist870
million, of which$527million is related to our acquisition of eSpeed &2d8million is related to our acquisition of the TR
Corporate businesses.
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Purchased Intangible Assets

The following table presents details of our total purchased intangible assets, botlafiditedefinitelived:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Weighted- Weighted-
Accumulated Average Usefu Accumulated Average Usefu
Gross Amount ~ Amortization Net Amount  Life (in Years) Gross Amount Amortization Net Amount  Life (in Years)

(in millions) (in millions)

Finite-Lived Intangible Assets
Technology $ 35 % (16) $ 19 5% 39 % 12) $ 27 5
Customer relationships 1,009 (329 680 20 1,075 (292) 783 19
Other 5 3) 2 9 5 3) 2 8
Foreign currency translation
adjustment (94) 26 (68) 3 - 3

Total finite-lived intangible

assets $ 955 $ (322) 633 $ 1,122 % (307) $ 815
Indefinite-Lived Intangible
Assets
Exchange and clearing
registrations $ 790 $ - $ 790 $ 790 $ -9 790
Trade names 756 - 756 756 - 756
Licenses 51 - 51 51 - 51
Foreign currency translation
adjustment (153 - (153 (26) - (26)

Total indefinitelived

intangible assets $ 1,444 % -$ 1,444 $ 1571 % -$ 1571
Total intangible assets $ 2,399 % (32208 2,077 $ 2693% (307)$ 2,386

Amortization expense for purchased firliteed intangible assets w&69 million for the year ended December 31, 20863
million for the year ended Decemkt, 208 and$52 million for the year ended Decemb&t, 202. The increase in amortization
expense iboth 2014 compared to 2013 a2@il3 compared to 2012 was primarily due to amortization expense on identifialgle finit
lived intangible assets purchased in connection with the acquisitions of eSpeed and the TR Guginessesffset by lower
amortization expense on certain intangible assets that were impaired in the first quarter of 2013 as discussed below.

The esimated future amortization expense (excluding the impact of foreign currency translation adjusfrfié8tsillion as
of DecembeB1, 204) of purchased finitdived intangible assets as of DecemBgr 204 is as follows:

(in millions)
2015 $ 65
2016 63
2017 61
2018 58
2019 44
2020 and thereafter 410
Total $ 701

Intangible Asset Impairment Charges

In 2014, we recorded nonrcash intangible asset impairment charge toteé#is@million related toan acquired intangiblasset
associated witleustomer relationship3 he impairment resulted primarily froohanges in the forecasted revenues associated with the
acquired customer list @fur eSpeed businesghe fair value of customer relationshipls$71 million was determing using the
income approach, specificaflije withrandwithout methodThis chargeis recorded in asset impairment charges in the Consetidat
Statements of Income for 2014. The customer relationships impairment cblatgeprimarily to our Market Sergdes segment.

However, for segment reporting purposkss charge waallocated to corporate itenbased on the decision that this chasfyeuld
not be used to evaluate the segmentds operating performanc

In 2013, we recorded negash intangible asset impment charges totalirifl4 million related to certain acquired intangible
assets associated with customer relationshipsnilion) and a certain trade name7(fillion). The customer relationships
impairment resulted primarily from changes in the fasted revenues associated with the acquired customerH$EN, Inc.The
fair value of customer relationship§$4 million was determined using the income approach, specifically the-pasldd excess
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earnings methadlhe trade name impairmentresdite f r om management 6s deci sion to no | o
which was written down to zero valuiEhese charges are recorded in asset impairment charges in the Consolidated Statements of
Income for 2013. These impairment charges relataxit Market Services segment. However, for segment reporting purposes, these
charges were allocated to corporate items based on the decision that these charges should not be used to evaluai& the segment
operating performance.

In 2012, we recorded neresh intangible asset impairment charges toteidgmillion related to certain acquired finiteved
intangible assets associated with technolod (#illion), customer relationships §$nillion), and certain trade names3(illion).
These impairments selted primarily from the replacement of certain acquired technology, as well as changes in the forecasted
revenues associated with the acquired customer list of certain busiffdwsésr value of technologef $2 million andtrade names
of $6 millionwas determined using the income approach, specifically the RFRM. The fair value of customer relatid$dl2ips
million was determined using the income approach, specifically the-paulod excess earnings method. These charges were
recorded in asset imjrment charges in the Consolidated Statements of Income for 2012. Of the total impairment charge recorded
during 2012, $7 million related to our Market Services segment & million related to our Technology Solutions segment.
However, for segment repting purposes, these charges were allocated to corporate items based on the decision that these charges
should not be used to evaluate the segndepisrating performance.

Significant judgments and unobservable inputs categorized as Level Il in thaltarhierarchy are inherent in impairment
tests performed and include assumptions about the amount and timing of expected future cash flows, growth rates and the
determination of appropriate discount rates. We believe that the assumptions used irawaranigests are reasonable, but
variations in any of the assumptions may result in different calculations of fair value.

6. Investments
Trading Securities

Trading securities, which are included in financial investments, at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sh&dg1were
million at December 31, 2@and$189million as of DecembeBl, 20B. These securities are primarily comprised of Swedish
governmat debt securities, of whichl59million as of December 31, 285nd$167million as of DecembeBl, 208 are assets
utilized to meet regulatory capital requirements primarily for our clearing operatiblasdagNordic Clearing.

Available-for-Sale Investment Security
Investment in DFM

In the fourth quarter of 2013, we sold our availafolesale investment security in DFM foA&million and recorded a gain on
the sale o630 million, which is net of costs directly related to the sale, primarily bréédes. The gain is included in gain on sale of
investment security in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Equity Method Investments

The carrying amounts of our equity method investments to#lBdillion as of December 31, 2C1and$30million as of
December 31, 2@land are included in other namirrent assets in the Consolidated Balance Shietst December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, our equity method investments consisted primarily of our equitytsriteEagoCCP N.V. and TOM. See
AEMCF and Eur oCfERc Meir gier i, @an amfd Dutch Cash EquitiNo®e4and Equ
AAcquisitions and Divestiture, o0 for further discussion.

In 2012, we recorded a nanash, othethantempoary impairment charge on our equity investment in EMC&1&million to
write-down this investment to its faralue of$10million. Thewrite-down wasdue to a decline in operations at EMCF during the
three months ended Mar@4, 2012. This loss imcluded in asset impairment charges in the Consolidated Statements of Income for
the year ended December 31, 2012.

The netloss recognized from our equity method investments is included in net loss from unconsolidated investees in the
Consolidated Statemés of Incomeand wasmmaterial for the years ended December 31, 22043,and2012.

Cost Method Investmens

The carrying amount of our cost method investratataled$138million as of December 31, 285nd$65 million as of
December 31, 2@land isincluded in other nowurrent assets in the Consolidated Balance Shegtst December 31, 2014, our cost
method investments represent 8&t ownership interest in Borsa Istanbul and 5% ownership interest in LCH. As of December
31, 2013, ar cost methd investment represatour 5% ownership interest in LCH. We account foeseinvestmens as cost
method investmenfas we do not control and do not exercise significant influenceBvsia Istanbul ok CH and there is no readily
determinable fair vakiof theseshares since they are not publicly traded.
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The Borsa Istanbul shares, which were issued to us in the first quarter of 2014, are part of the consideration to hmdeceived

a market technology agreement. This investment has a cost b&gsmillion which is guaranteed to us via a put option negotiated
as part of the market technology agreement.

7. Property and Equipment, net
The following table presents our major categories of property and equipment, net:

Year Ended Decembei31,

2014 2013

(in millions)
Data processing equipment and software $ 533 $ 511
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements 227 216
Total property and equipment 760 727
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (468 (459
Total property and equipment, net $ 292 $ 268

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipmeid68asillion for the year ended December 31, 20459
million for the year ended Decemtt, 208 and$52 million for the year ended Decembi&t, 202. The increase in depreciation
and amortization expense in 2Ddompared to 2@ and D13 compared to 2012 wasimarily due to an increase in assets placed in
service related to software. These amounts are included in depreciation and amortization expense in the ConsolidatisdoBtatemen
Income.

As of DecembeB1, 204 and 2038, we dd not own any real estate properties.

8. Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue representmsideratiomeceived thais yet to be recognized as revenue. At DecerBlie20H4, we estimate
that our deferred revenue, which is primarily Listing Services andribbafly Solutions revenues, will be recognized in the following
years:

Listing of Additional Annual Renewal and Technology Solutions
Initial Listing Revenues Shares Revenues Other Revenues Revenue§) Total
(in millions)

Fiscal year ended:
2015 $ 15 $ 33 % 12 % 117 $ 177
2016 13 25 1 23 62
2017 10 15 - 28 53
2018 8 5 - 21 34
2019 6 - - 19 25
2020 and thereafter 2 - - 39 41

$ 54 $ 78 $ 13 $ 247 $ 392

@ The timing of recognition of our deferred Technology Solutions revenyssmnarily dependent upon the completion of
customization and any significant modifications made pursuant to existing Market Technology contracts and the timing of
Corporate Solution subscriptiorbased contracts. As such, as it relates to Market Technology revenues, the timing represents
our best estimate.
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The changes in our deferred revenue during the years ended De&Amb@# and 203B are reflected in the following table.

Listing of Additional Annual Renewal and Technology Solutions
Initial Listing Revenues Shares Revenues Other Revenues Revenuef Total
(in millions)
Balance at January 1, 2014  $ 41 $ 75 $ 20 $ 158 $ 294
Additiong® 27 42 226 536 831
Amortizatior? (14) (39) (230) (419 (702)
Translation adjustment - - 3) (28) (31)
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 54 $ 78 $ 13 $ 247 $ 392
Balance at January 1, 2013  $ 36 $ 78 $ 27 $ 154 $ 295
Additiong® 17 38 188 304 547
Amortizatioriv (12) (41) (190; (311 (554,
Translation adjustment - - (5) 11 6
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 41 $ 75 $ 20 $ 158 $ 294

@ The additions and amortization for initial listing revenues, listing of additional shares revenues and annual reneveal and oth
revenuegprimarily reflect revenues from our U.S. listing services busirfdss.additions to Technology Solutions revenues in
2014 include$75mi | 1 i on rel ated to the Borsa |stanbul A.S. marke:
Note 6, Al nvest ments, 6 for further discussion.

@ Technology Solutions deferred revenues primarily include revenues from our Madtetology delivered client contracts in
the support phase charged during the period and our Corporate Solutions subscription based wbithaats primarily billed
quarterly in advanceé-or our Market Technology contracts, where customization gmifisant modifications to the software
are made to meet the needs of our customers, total revenues, as well as costs incurred, are deferred until significant
modifications are completed and delivered. Once delivered, deferred revenue and the relasstabshsrare recognized over
the post contract support period. For these Market Technology contracts, we have included the deferral of costs ierdther curr
assets and other na@urrent assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amortization afldggl8olutions deferred
revenue primarily includes revenues earned from Market Technology client contracts and Corporate Solutions subscription
based contracts recognized during the period.

9. Debt Obligations
The following table presents the changethancarrying amount of our debt obligations during the year ended Decgi)2éxy.

Payments,
Conversions,
December 31, Accretion and December 31,
2013 Additions Other 2014
(in millions)
4.00%senior unsecured notes repaithe 18, 2014 $ 400 $ - $ (400 $ =
5.55%senior unsecured notes dienuary 15, 202(het of discount) 598 - 1 599
5.25%senior unsecured notes dienuary 16, 201ghet of discount 368 - - 368
3.875%senior unsecured notes diine 7, 202{net of discount) 824 - (99) 725
4.25%senior unsecured notes diimne 1, 2024net of discount) - 498 - 498

$750million revolving credit commitment dudovember 25, 201¢average
interest rate o1.41%for the period November 24, 2014 through Decemb
31, 2014y - 123 - 123

$1.2billion senior unsecured fivgear credit facility:
$450million senior unsecured term loan facility credit agreement rej
November 24, 2018average interest rate f53%for the period Janua
1, 2014 through November 24, 2014) 349 - (349 -
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$750million revolving credit commitment repaldovember 24, 2014
(average interest rate Hf33%for the period January 1, 2014 through

November 24, 2014) 95 118 (213 -
Total debt obligations 2,634 739 (1,060 2,313
Less current portion (45) - 45 -
Total longterm debt obligations $ 2,589 $ 739 $ (1,015 $ 2,313
@ See fAiSenior Unsecured Noteso below for further discussic
@ See 2014 Credit Facilityodo below for further discussion.
@ See A0t Facilityo below for further discussion.

Senior Unsecured Notes
4.00% and 5.55% Senior Unsecured Notes

In January 2010, &kdagssued$l billion of senior unsecured notes, or the Notes. The Notes were issued at a discount in two
separate series consistingd#f00million aggregate principal amount 4f00%senior notes due 2015 af00million aggregate
principal amount 06.55%senior ndes due 2020, or the 2020 Notes. As a result of the discount, the proceeds received from the
issuance were less than the aggregate principal amdatsepaid the outstanding balance on the 2015 Notes in June 2014. See
AEarly Extingui slbeloweforfurtherfdiscdsidn5 Not es 0

Early Extinguishment of 2015 Notes

In May 2014, Nasdaq issued the 2024 Notes. In June 2014, we used the majority of the net proceeds from the 2024 Notes, al
with cash on hand, to repay in full and terminate our 2015 Notésepay a portion of the term loan under our senior credit facility.
See A4.25% Senior Unsecured Noteso and fA2011 Credit Facili:i
extinguishment of the 2015 Notes, we recorded ggrehargeof $9 million which is included in general, administrative and other
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income for 2014.

2020 Notes

As of December 31, 2014, the balanc&889million for the 2020 Notes reflects the aggregate principal amount, less the
unamortized debt discount. The unamortized debt discount will be accreted through interest expense over the life ddkes2020

The 2020 Notes pay interest semiannually @te of 5.55%per annum until Januadb, 2020. Th&020Notes are general
unsecured obligations of ours and rank equally with all of our existing and future unsubordinated obligatid620Nuwtes are not
guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries. The Bletere issued under indentures that, among other things, limit our ability to
consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets, create liens, and enter into sale and leasebagistransactio

Debt Issuance Costs

We incurred debt issuancadhother costs db5 million in connection with the issuance of th@20Notes. These costs, which
are capitalized and includéd other norcurrent assets in tif@éonsolidated Balance Sheets, are being amortized over the life of the
debt obligations. Amoization expense, which is recorded as additional interest expense for these castsnataesalfor each of the
three years ended Decemi3dr, 204, 2013 and 202.

5.25% Senior Unsecured Notes

In December 2010, &sdagssued$370million of 5.25%senia unsecured notes ddanuaryl6, 2018 or the 2018 Notes. The
2018 Notes were issued at a discount. As a result of the discount, the proceeds received from the issuance were by dumatethe
principal amount. As of Decembal, 204, the balance d8368million reflects the aggregate principal amount, less the unamortized
debt discount. The unamortized debt discount will be accreted through interest expense over the life of the 2018 Notes.

The 2018 Notes pay interest semiannually at a rate of 5g&%nnum until Januafd6, 2018 and such rate may vary with
Nasda@ s debt rating uPp25% dhe 2018 Notesare general unsecueed abl@atidns of ours and rank equally with
all of our existing and future unsubordinated obligatioreyrare not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries. The 2018 Notes were
issued under indentures that among other things, limit our ability to consolidate, merge or sell all or substantiaily afisefs,
create liens, and enter into sale and leasetvankactions. In addition, upon a change of control triggering event (as defined in the
indenture), the terms require us to r eploiWofithe aggregaté principal par t
amount purchased plus accrued anplaih interest, if any.
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Debt Issuance Costs

We incurred debt issuance costs8fmillion in connection with the issuance of the 2018 Notes. These costs, which are
capitalized andnhcluded in other nowurrent assets in the Consolidaialance Sheets, @being amortized over the life of the debt
obligation. Amortization expense, which is recorded as additional interest expense for these costs, was immateridi fioe daete o
years ended Decembgt, 204, 2013 and 202.

3.875% Senior Unsecured Notes

In June 2013, Bisdagssued the 2021 Notewhich are Euro denominateal, a discountAs a result of the discount, the
proceeds received from the issuance were less than the aggregate principal amount. As of Decemiéett&lb&@hce db725
million reflects the aggregate principal amotranslated into U.S. dollartess the unamortized debt discount. The unamortized debt
discount will be accreted through interest expense over the life of the 2021 Notes.

The 2021 Nots pay interest annually at a rate30875%per annum untilune7, 2021and such rate may vary withaNda@ s
debt rating up to a rate not to exc&e875% The 2021 Notes are general unsecured obligations of ours and rank equally with all of
our existingand future unsubordinated obligations. They are not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries. The 2021 Notes were issue
under indentures that among other things, limit our ability to consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all et®wraase
liens, and enter into sale and leaseback transactions. In addition, upon a change of control triggering event (ashgefined in t
indenture), the terms require us to r epl0iofithe aggregaté pringd r par t
amount purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.

The 2021 Notes have been designated as a hedge of our net investment in certain foreign subsidiaries to mitigate the foreign
exchange risk associated with certain investments in these subsididedecreasean the carrying amourdgf $99million noted in
the APayments, Conversions, Accretion and Othero co3$umn in
dollars and is recorded in accumulated other comprehensiénltse Consolidated Balance Sheets for the year ended December 31,
2014.

We used the majority of the net proceeds from the offering of the 2021 Notes to fund the cash consideration payable by us fo
the acquisition of eSpeed and related expenses. Weheseeimaining proceeds for general corporate purpose$i 8eequi si t i o
eSpeed for Tradi ndNodfe W. S.A Atrqaud ssu rtii eosn,s0 amfd Di vestiture, o f

Debt Issuance Costs

We incurred debt issuance and other cos&/ahillion in connection with the issuance of the 2021 Notes. These costs, which
are capitalized and included ather noncurrent assetis the Consolidate®alance Sheets, are being amortized over the lifeeof
debt obligations. Amortization expense, which is recorded as additional interest expense for these &istsilloasfor both 2014
and2013.

4.25% Senior Unsecured Notes

As di scussed above in fiEarly Extinguishment of 2015 Not e
were issued at a discount. As a result of the discount, the proceeds received from the issuance were less than tipeirggetgate
amaunt. As of December 31, 2014, the balanc&4898million reflects the aggregate principal amount, less the unamortized debt
discount. The unamortized debt discount will be accreted through interest expense over the life of the 2024 Notes.

The 2024 Notepay interest semiannually at a rateddt5%per annum untilunel, 2024and such rate may vary with
Nasdagds debt rat i n@25uphe 2024 Notes aee tganeral insecuted obleatione & durs and rank equally with
all of our existingand future unsubordinated obligations. They are not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries. The 2024 Notes were
issued under indentures that among other things, limit our ability to consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially afisefts,
createilens, and enter into sale and leaseback transactions. In addition, upon a change of control triggering event (ashéefined in t
indenture), the terms require us to r epl0iWofithe aggregatépringdr par t
amount purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.

We used the majority of the net proceeds from the offering of the 2024 Notes, along with cash on hand, to repay in full and
terminate our 2015 Notes and repay a portion of the termloananader 2011 credit facility. See
Noteso above and A2011 Credit Facilityd below for further

Debt Issuance Costs

We incurred debt issuance and other cos@&iahillion in connection with the issuance of the 2024 Nold®se costs, which
are capitalized and included in other ranrent assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, are being amortized over the life of this
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debt obligation. Amortization expense, which is recorded as additional interest expense fordiseseasaimmaterial for the year
ended December 31, 2014.

Credit Facilities
2014 Credit Facility

In November2014, Nasdagefinanced its existing credit agreement antkred into the 2@tCredit Facility. The 204 Credit
Facility consiss of a$750million revolving credicommitment(with sublimits for nordollar borrowings, swingline borrowings and
letters of credit)ln November 2014, we borrowé&123million under the revolving credit commitment of the 2014 Credit Fadity
repay in full the remaining principal amount outstanding o216 TermLoanSee A2011 Credit Facility
discussion.

The loans under the 2014 Credit Facility have a variable interest rate based on either the London Interbaia@ffered
LIBOR, or the Base Rate (or other applicable rate with respect tdaitar borrowings), plus an applicable margin that varies with
Nasdaqds debt rating. The Credit Agr eement availablehggrdgatsamaumt o pt
by up to$500million, subject to the consent of the lenders funding the increase and certain other conditions.

The 2014 Credit Facility contains financial and operating covenants. Financial covenants include an interest expense coverac
rati o and a maxi mum | everage ratio. Operating covenassts i nc
grant liens on assets, enter into affiliate transactions and pay dividends. Our 2014 Credit Facitysaltopay cash digiends on
our common stock. The 2014 Credit Facility also contains customary affirmative covenants, including access to finaneiatisstate
notice of defaults and certain other material events, maintenance of business and insurance, and eventsnuf uldifagittross
defaults to our material indebtedness.

Nasdaq is permitted to repay borrowings under the 2014 Credit Facility at any time in whole or in part, without penadty. We a
also required to repay loans outstanding under the 2014 Credit Faddifitpjet cash proceeds from sales of property and assets of
Nasdaq and its subsidiaries (excluding inventory sales and other sales in the ordinary course of business) and casualty and
condemnation proceeds, in each case subject to specified exceptidhseahdlds.

Debt Issuance Costs

We incurred debt issuance and other cos&3 million in connection with the entry into the 20Credit Facility. These costs,
which are capitalized and includédother norcurrent assets in th@onsolidated Balance 8éts, are being amortized over the life of
the 204 Credit Facility. Amortization expense, which is recorded as additional interest expense for these costs, was immaterial for
2014.

2011 Credit Facility

In September 2011, &¢dacentered into &1.2billion senior unsecured fivgear credit facilityor the 2011 Credit Facility. The
2011 Credit Facility consistiof the 2016 Term Loan &450million and a$750million revolving credit commitment (including a
swingline facility and letter of credit facility.he loans under the 2011 Credit Facility had a variable interest rate based on either
LIBOR or the Federal Funds Rate, plus an applicable margin thativariei t h Nasdaqgqbés debt rating.

Nasdacppplied theb450million in proceeds from the 2016 Term Loan to repay in full the remaining $450 million principal
amount outstanding on a former credit facility.

Under our 2011 Credit Facility, we were required to gagrterly principal payments equal2d0%of the original aggregate
principal amount borrowed under the 2016 Term Loan. In 2014, we made paym®2@6ofillion consisting of a required quarterly
principal payment o$22million and an optional prepaymeof $204million on our 2016 Term Loan. We utilized cash on hand and
borrowings from our 2024 Notes to pay the required payment
for further discussion. In November 2014, we borrowed $1#®munderthe revolving credit commitment of the 2014 Credit
Facility to repay the remainin§123million principal amount outstanding on our 2016 Term Loan.

During 2014 we borrowedb118million under the revolving credit commitment and utilized the proceeds for general corporate
purposes and we subsequently repaid the total amount drawn on the revolving credit commB2Esindfion. As a resulof the
repayment of all amounts outetiing under our 2011 Credit Facilitasdaq terminated the associated credit agreement.

Debt Issuance Costs

We incurred debt issuance and other cos&bahillion in connection with the entry into the 2011 Credit Facility. These costs,
which were capidlized and included in other n@urrent assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, were being amortized over the
life of the 2011 Credit Facility. In November 201ie to the termination of the associated credit agreemventecorded a prax
charge of$2 million, which primarily included the writeff of the remaining unamortized balance of debt issuance costs. This charge
is included in general, administrative and other expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ende@December
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2014. Amortization expense, whigtasrecorded as additional interest expense for these costanwederial for 20142013 and

2012.

Other Credit Facilities

In addition to the revolving credit commitment under our£Gtedit Facility discussed above, we have credit facilities related
to our clearinghouses in order to meet liquidity and regulatory requirements. At De&ImBe, these credit facilities, which are
available in multiple currencies, primarily SwedistoKa, totaledb236million ($197million in available liquidity ands39million
for default protectiop of which$7 million was utilized. At BecembeB1, 203, these facilities totalefi312million ($219million in
available liquidity ands93 million for default protectiop of which$11 million was utilized.

Debt Covenants

At Decembe31, 204, we were in compliance with the covenants of all of our debt obligations.

10. Income Taxes
The income tax provision consists of the following amounts:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in millions)
Current income taxes:
Federal $ 123 $ 134 $ 130
State 36 21 37
Foreign 28 33 16
Total current income taxes 187 188 183
Deferred income taxes:
Federal (13) 13 (10)
State (2) 11 6
Foreign 9 4 20
Total deferred income taxes (6) 28 16
Total income tax provision $ 181 $ 216 % 199

U.S. federal taxes have not been provided on undistributed earnings of certilrSnsnbsidiaries to the extent such earnings
will be reinvested abroad for an indefinite period of time. At Decel@beP0H4, the cumulative amourtf undistributed earnings in
these subsidiaries is approximat&yL8million. We have the intent and ability to indefinitely reinvest the undistributed earnings of
thesenonU.S. subsidiaries.

A reconciliation of the income tax provision, based on ti®. federal statutory rate, to our actual income tax provision for the
years ended Decemb@t, 204, 2013 and 202 is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Federal income tax provision at the statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income tax provision, net of federal effect 3.4% 2.9% 4.2%
Non-U.S. subsidiary earnings (7.0% (4.4)% (6.3)%
Change in deferred taxes due to change imatex - % 0.6% 2.3%
Change in unrecognized tax benefits (3.0% 4.8% 2.6 %
Other, net 21% (2.9% (1.5)%
Actual income tax provisidh 30.5% 36.0% 36.3%

@ The lower effective tax rate in 2014 when compared to 2)pBmarily due to a decrease in unrecognized tax benefits in 2014.
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The temporary differences, which give riseoto deferred tax assets and (liabilities), consisted of the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
(in millions)
Deferred tax assets:
Deferred revenues $ 36 $ 36
U.S. federal net operating loss 2 1
Foreign net operating loss 99 105
State net operating loss 1 1
Compensation and benefits 96 84
Foreign currency translation 358 231
Lease reserves 15 11
Tax credits 9 10
Other 26 17
Gross deferred tax assets 642 496
Deferred tax liabilities:
Amortization of software development costs and depreciation (207, (91)
Amortization of acquired intangible assets (536) (631)
Compensation and benefits (6) (12)
Other (14) 12)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (663) (746,
Net deferred tax liabilities before valuation allowance (22) (250,
Less: valuation allowance (90) (80)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (111) % (330

A valuation allowance has been established with regards to the tax benefits primarily associated with certain net operating
losses, as it is more likely than not that these benefits will not be realizedfametbeeabldéuture.

As of December 312014, our U.S. federal net operating loss$@million will expire in 2030. Our foreign net operating loss of
$99 million, as of Decembe31, 204, includes$60million that will expire in years 2@through 202 and$39million that has no
expiration date. Also, our state net operating losklafillion, as of Decembe31, 204, will expire in years 208 through 2@3. Our
tax credits off9 million include $7 million related to U.S. research and development creditsifiagxpire in years 2018 through
2027, andb2 million related to noflJ.S. tax credits that will expire in years Zxhrough 2017.

The following represents the domestic and foreign components of income before income tax provision:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in millions)
Domestic $ 349 % 362 % 355
Foreign 245 238 193
Income before income tax provision $ 504  $ 600 $ 548

We recorded income tax benefs$9 million in 2014 $16million in 2013and$7 million in 2012 primarily related to share
based compensation. These amounts were recorded as additioriatqegital in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We are subject to examination by federal, state and local, and foreign tax authetiegyularly assess thikelihood of
additional assessments by each jurisdiction and have established tax reserves that we believe are adequate in relatidomiad the
for additional assessmenW/e believe that the resolution of tax matters will not have a material effemir financial condition but
may be material to our operating results for a particular period and the effective tax rate for that period.

As of DecembeBl1, 204 and 203, there are&35million and$52million of unrecognized tax benefits that if rectggd would
affect our effective tax rate.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
(in millions)
Beginning balance $ 58 % 32
Additions (reductions) as a result of tax positions taken in prior periods (21) 17
Additions as a result of tax positions taken in the current period 5 11
Reductions related to settlements with taxing authorities (1) (1)
Reductions as a result of laps#ghe applicable statute of limitations - Q)
Ending balance $ 41 $ 58

Our policy is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. As of Blscember
2014, we had accrue#lé million for interest and penalties, net of tax effeks.of DecembeBl, 20B, we had accruefi8 million for
interest and penalties, net of tax effect.

Nasdacand its eligible subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return and apptiatgbéand local income tax
returns and not.S. income tax returngederal income tax returns for the ye2®dd 1land2012are currently under audit by the Internal
Revenue Servicand we are subject to examination for years 2008 through 2010 andr2@B4, we concluded the audit for the year
2007. The conclusion of this audit gave rise to a reduction of our unrecognized tax benefits, resulting in a decreapenead$21
million. This amountvas partially offset by an increase to operating erpes o$19million associated with the reversal of a
receivable under a tax sharing agreement with an unrelated party. We also recorded a decrease to tax&8dfiea absociated
with the reversal of the $19 million receivable. This amount wetajig offset by an increase to operating expense&ianillion
associated with the reversal of a receivable under a tax sharing agreement with an unrela@elpeatgtateax returns are currently
under examination by the respective tax authaerfte the years 2005 through 20dnd we are subject to examination for 20480+
U.S. tax returns are subject to examination by the respective tax authorities for the y@#roR0b 20B. We anticipate that the
amount of unrecognized tax benefits @&cBmbeB1, 204 will significantly decrease in the next twelve months as we expect to settle
certain tax audits. The final outcome of such audits cannot yet be determined. We anticipate that such adjustmerdasendlmatdrial
impact on our consolated financial position or results of operations.

In the fourth quarter of 2010, we received an appeal from the Finnish Tax Authority challenging certain interest expense
deductions claimed by Nasdagq in Finland for the year 2008. The appeal also déretaia penalties be paid with regard to the

companybés tax return filing position. I n October 20ng2, the
position for years 2009 through 2011, even though the tax return position sp#tteo this deduction was previously reviewed and
approved by the Finnish Tax Authority. I n June 2014 ,etumhe F

filing position. We have appealed this ruling to the Finnish Supreme misiinzitive Courtand expect to receive a favorable decision.
Through Decembe31, 2014, we have recorded tax benefit$28 million associated with this filing position. We have p#its
amountto the Finnish tax authorities. We have also pditiigillion in interest and penalties. We expect the FinBigbreme
Administrative Court to agree with our position, which would result in Nasdaq receiving a refé®droiilion. If the Finnish
Supreme Administrative Court disagrees with our positi@would record tax expense of $34 million$@.20per diluted share.

From 2009 through 2012, we recorded tax benefits associated with certain interest expense incurred in Sweden. Our position
supported by a 2011 ruling we received from the Swedish Supreme Administrative Court. However, under new legislatien effectiv
Jaruary 1, 2013, limitations are imposed on certain forms of interest ex&inse.the nevegislation is unclear with regards to our
ability to continue to claim such interest deductions, Nasdagq filed an application for an advance tax ruling with gteTawedi
Council for Advance Tax Rulings. In June 2014, we received an unfavorable ruling from the Swedish Tax Council for Advance Tax
Rulings. We have appealed this ruling to the Swedish Supreme Administrative Court and expect to receive a favorabl8ideeisio
Januaryl, 2013, we have recorded tax benefit$82 million, or $0.19per diluted share, related to this mati&fe expect to record
recurring quarterly tax benefits $# million to $5 million with respect to this issue for the foreseeableréutu

Other Tax Matters

In December 2012, the Swedish Tax Agency approved our 2010 ameddedidded tax, OfAT, tax return and we received
a cash refund for the amount claimed. In 2013, we filed VAT tax returns for 2011 and 2012 and utilized theoszank ajhich was
approved for the 2010 filing. However, even though the VAT return position was previously reviewed and approved by the Swedis
Tax Agency, we were informed by the Swedish Tax Agency that our VAT refund claims for 2011 and 2012 ard.néowalver,
they will not seek reimbursement of the 2010 refufve. will appeal the finding by the Swedish Tax Ageritgrough December 31,
2014, we have recorded benefits$E6 million associated with this position.
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11. Employee Benefits

U.S. DefinedBenefit Pension and Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans

We maintain norcontributory, defineebenefit pension plarendnon-qualified supplemental executive retirement plans, or
SERPs, for certain senior executives and-petitement benefit plans faligible employees in the U.S., collectively referred to as the
NasdadBenefit Plans.

Our pension plans and SERPs are frozen. Future service and salary for all participants do not count toward an acditgal of ben
under the pension plans and SERPs.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

The following table sets forth the components of net periodic pension, SERP ametipestent benefits costerfthe Nasdaq
Benefit Plans recognized in compensation and benefits expense in the ConsolidatechGtateimeome:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

(in millions)
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Interest cost $ 6 $ 5 % 6
Expected return on plan assets (5) (5) (5)
Recognized nedctuarial loss - 4 3
Curtailment loss 2 -
Net periodic benefit cost $ 1 $ 6 $ 4

Benefit Obligations and Funded Status

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation, the plan assets and the funoietthstatus
NasdadBenefit Plans:

2014

2013

Post

Post

Pension SERP retirement Total Pension SERP retirement Total
Change in benefit obligation (in millions)
Benefit obligation abeginning of year $ 91 % 30 $ 3% 124 104 % 33 % 4 $ 141
Interest cost 4 2 - 6 4 1 - 5
Actuarial gains - - (1) Q) - - Q) (1)
Benefits paid 3) (2) - 5) 2) 2) - 4)
Settlements - - - - (5) - - (5)
(Gains) losses due to change in disca
rate 11 2 - 13 (15) 3) - (18)
Loss due to change in mortality rate 1 1 - 2 5 1 - 6
Benefit obligation at end of year 104 33 2 139 91 30 3 124
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning
year 75 - - 75 75 - - 75
Actual return on plan assets 4 - - 4 6 - - 6
Company contributions - 2 - 2 1 2 - 3
Benefits paid 3) 2) - 5) (2 (2 - (4)
Settlements - - - - (5) - - (5)
Fair value of plan assets at end of ye: 76 - - 76 75 - - 75
Underfunded status of the plans (28) (33) (2) (63) (16) (30) 3) (49)
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 104 $ 33 $ 2 $ 139 $ 91 $ 30 $ 3 $ 124
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The total underfunded status of thaddacBenefit Plans o$63million at DecembeB1, 204 and$49million at DecembeB1,

2013 is included in other noourrent liabilities and accrued personnel costs in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. No plan assets are
expected to be returned to us duringybar ending Decemb@&il, 205.

Actuarial Assumptions
The following tables provide the weighteterage actuarial assumptions for trestagBenefit Plans.

Weightedaverage assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at the end of the fiscal year:

2014 2013
Discount rate:
Pension 4.20% 4.90%
SERP 4.20% 4.90%
Postretirement 4.20% 4.90%

Weightedaverage assumptions used to determine net benefit cost for the fiscal year:

2014 2013 2012

Discount rate:

Pension 4.90% 4.00% 5.00%

SERP 4.90% 4.00% 5.00%

Postretirement 4.90% 4.00% 5.00%
Expected return on plan assets:

Pension 7.30% 7.75% 7.75%

SERP N/A N/A N/A

Postretirement N/A N/A N/A

N/Ad Not applicable

The assumptions above are used to develop the benefit obligations at fiseldead to develop the net periodic benefit cost
for the subsequent fiscal year. Therefore, the assumptions used to determine benefit obligations were established-ahdach yea
while the assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for each year are established at the end of eadaprevious y

The net periodic benefit obligations and the net periodic benefit cost are based on actuarial assumptions that areremiewed o
annual basis. We revise these assumptions based on an annual evaluatioteofridrends, as well as market conditions,clibinay
have an impact on the cost of providing retirement benefits.

Plan Assets of the MsdagBenefit Plans

Nasdad s Pension and 401(k) Commi tt easdaghasloversight responsibitityrfor thé dae d ¢
assets of the &dadgBenefit Plans. The investment policy and strategy of the plan assets, which was adopeddty 5l Pens i on
401(k) Committee, is to provide for preservation of principal, both in nominal and real terms, in order to meettéreicpgnding
needs oftie NasdagBenefit Plans. We invest in securities per the target allocations stated below. Target allocations may change ba:s
on certain funded levels. Approximated allocations for plan assets as of De@mbe# were as follows:

Target Allocation

Equity securities 47%
Fixed income securities 35%
Other investment strategies and cash 18%

Total allocation 100%

Asset allocations are reviewed quarterly and adjusted, as appropriate, to remain within target allocations. The ipgksgment
is reviewed on an annual basis, with the advice of an investment consultant, to determine if the policy or asset alige@tisimould
be changed.
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